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accurately forecast revenue or to anticipate and accurately forecast a deching in revenue from
any of our praducts or services; vur ability 10 idensify hire. tram, monyate, retam, and incent
highly qualified management/other key personnel lincluding sales personnel] and oor ability to
manage changes and transions in managementfother key personnel: Huctuations in our
quarterly and annvad opeeating results currency flucruations: our abiliry to develop, inrroduce
and implement new produces as well as enhancemenes o improvements for existing producrs
that respend, m a timely fashion, to customer/product reguirements and rapid technolog,
change; eisks associated with our internatomal operations, such as the impact of the Laws,
repulanons, reles and  pronouncements of Jurisdictions outside of

nterpretation by courts, reibunats, regulatory and similar bodies af such jurisd

ability o wentify, pursue. and complere acquisttions with desired business resuless the elfect of
New  accounting pronouncements oe guidance. inchiding the impact of FAS 123(R
unauthorized use or misappropriazion of our inrellecteal propertyy the effect of pozenzia
liability claims o our peaducts or services fail to periorm as intended: fhicmations i our tax
exposures s well as the ash factors discussed previously .md n n[er pu'md ¢ reports filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the S rators, Readers
should not place undue reliance onany such forward-looking statements. which speak only as
of the date they are made. \'\o disclai tion to publicly update or revise an such
statement o rcI|LLl any Lh.mgu inour L\pu.:.l:mns or in events, conditions, o arcumstances
om which apy such statements may be based, or that may affect the likelihoed thar actal resules
will differ from those comtained in the foeward-tooking statements.
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|_etter to Shareowners

Fellow shareowners:

Cognos delivered a very strong year in fiscal 2007, realizing
the returns on important investments we ilave made in our
business and in our team. Highlights from the year included
double digit license growth, a breakthrough performance
for Cognos 8 Business Intelligence in its first full year of
availability, and substantially strengthened operating

margin and cash performances.

During the year, we fulfilled a number of strategic priorities

for our shareowners:

1. Delivered the most innovative enterprise Performance
Management solution in our industry, built on the

foundation of Cognos 8;

2. Sharpened our focus on the success of our enterprise

customers;

3. Enhanced our partner ecosystem for enterprise

leadership;

4. Established the framewor.< for continued improving

margin performance; and

5. Strengthened our managerient team with experienced

enterprise software leaders.

Our successful execution of these priorities laid the
foundation of a strong financia: performance in fiscal year
2007, and positions us well as we move into fiscal year

2008.

Financial Performance

Total revenue for fiscal year 2007 was $979.3 million, an
increase of 12 percent from $877.5 million in fiscal vear
2006. License revenue was $376.2 million, compared with
$343.2 million for the prior fiscal year, an increase of 10

percent.

Net income on a U.S. GAAP basis for fiscal year 2007 was
$115.7 million, compared with the prior year’s net income
of $108.6 million, an increase of 7 percent. Net income on
a non-GAAP basis (excluding amortization of acquisition-
related intangible assets, stock-based compensation expense
and restructuring charges) for fiscal year 2007 was $159.9
million, compared with net income of $129.6 million a year
ago, an increase of 23 percent. Earnings per diluted share
(EPS) on a U.S. GAAP ])Z;SiS for fiscal year 2007 was $1.28,
compared with $1.17 last fiscal year. EPS on a non-GAAP
basis {excluding amortization of acquisition-related
intangible assets, stock-based compensation expense and
restructuring charges) for fiscal year 2007 was $1.77,

compared with $1.40 last fiscal year.

Our U.S. GAAP operating margin for the year was 12.1
percent, compared with 13.5 percent last year. Non-GAAP
operating margin was 18.0 percent, compared with 16.5

percent a year ago.

Our balance sheet remains strong, We ended the fiscal year
with $691.9 million in cash, cash equivalents, and short-

term investments.

Cognos 2007 Annual Report 1
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Driving Growth
The achievement of our five strategic priorities established
the foundation for our growth in fiscal year 2007, and set

the direction for a confident, successful future for Cognos.

Solution Leadership

In its first full year of availability, Cognos 8 established itself
as the leading platform for enterprise Business Intelligence
{BI), and the foundation for the industry’s most complete,

independent solution for Performance Management.

Our core BI license revenue growth was 12 percent for the
fiscal year, on the strength of $238 million in license revenue
from Cognos 8. The vast majority of our 59 contracts
greater than $1 million in the year included Cognos 8,
reflecting the unique strength and design of this solution for

the enterprise.

We also achieved solid results from our Performance
Management applications. Cognos 8 Planning continues to be
a strategic offering within our portfolio, typically driving at
least one dollar of Bl revenue for every dollar of Planning
revenue. Cognos 8 Controller demonstrated its promise as a
differentiating solution in the Office of Finance, with notable
growth in North America this year. And Cognos 8 Workforce
Performance, our new analytic application for human capital
management {“HCM?”), has now been selected by four of the
leading global business process outsourcing companies for

integration into their HCM solutions,

Qur acquisition of Celequest, a provider of real-time
operational dashboards, combined with the innovation of
our new Cognos 8 Go! Mobile, Microsoft Office
Connection and Search capabilities position us strongly for

even greater solution success in fiscal year 2008.
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Enterprise Customer Success
The strength of our innovation in fiscal year 2007 was
complemented by investments across our business in the

service and success of our enterprise customers.

We expanded our sales force headcount to 374, an increase
of 23 over last fiscal year, and we plan to grow our sales
force further in fiscal 2008, targeting to reach over 400 sales
personnel. We saw outstanding performance from our new
Global Major Accounts sales team, which focuses on our
largest 120 accounts. We are further expanding this team as
well for fiscal 2008. We strengthened our customer support
and services capabilities, driving a combined 13 percent
revenue growth for the year. And we continued to expand
our unique Performance Blueprint series, with 12 new best-
practices Blueprints designed to help customers realize faster

and greater returns from their Cognos deployments.

In fiscal year 2008, we will continue to invest in providing
our customers a complete Performance Management
partnership experience, with stronger professional services,
support and best-practices capabilities, together with further

expansion of our channel capacity.

Enbanced Partner Ecosystem

Building a strong and broad network of partners is
fundamental to our ongoing success in the enterprise
software market. Virtually all of our largest and most
strategic enterprise relationships include significant partner

engagement.

In fiscal year 2007, we continued to advance industry-
leading partnerships with top system integrators, including
Accenture, BearingPoint and Deloitte. We also announced

new technology partnerships with companies such as
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Google and Research In Motion to drive value-add, and
further differentiate our sclutions for the enterprise

opportunity.

We remain very optimistic about the future opportunity

provided by all of our strategic partner relationships.

Strong Operating Margin Perfarmance
We entered fiscal year 2007 with a focus on achieving
double-digit revenue growth for the year, while at the same

time driving a strong operating margin performance.

In September, we took measures to accelerate operating
margin expansion and improve operating efficiency, while at
the same time continuing :o invest in our growth
opportunity. These measures included a workforce
reduction of 204 personnel, primarily in management and
non-revenue generating positions, combined with continued
investment in our sales and services capacity. On the
strength of this action, we ended the fiscal year with a
significantly improved operating margin performance and

12 percent revenue growth.

We remain committed to achieving these revenue and

margin targets as we move into fiscal year 2008.

Proven Leadership Team
Finally, and perhaps most importantly, we continue to add

to the strength and experience of leadership team.

In May 2006, we announced the appointment of Les
Rechan as our Chief Operating Officer. Les, a veteran of
enterprise software leaders including IBM, Siebel and
Oracle, brings experience, energy, focus and discipline to
our customer-facing operations. More recently, we
announced the appointment of Mel Zeledon, formerly of
Hyperion, Siebel, and Oracle to lead our global partnering
efforts, and Philippe Duranton, formerly of Gemplus,
Vivendi Universal and Thales, as our new Senior Vice

President of Human Resources.

We truly believe that we have one of the strongest and most
cohesive management teams in the software industry, and we

will continue to build on this strength in fiscal year 2008.

A Strong Foundation for a Bold Future

As we begin fiscal year 2008, our commitment to growth,
customer success and shareholder value remains steadfast.
Our results in fiscal year 2007 reflect our successful efforts
to advance our solutions, sharpen our customer focus,
expand our partnerships, improve our execution and
strengthen our ream. I am confident that we will continue to

build upon these successes in fiscal year 2008 and beyond.
Thank you for your continuing support of Cognos
Sincerely,

L AL

Rob Ashe
President and CEO

Cognos 2007 Annual Report 3




Committed to GROWTH

Cognos Incorporated

Unaudited Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Adjustments
(US$000s except share amounts, U.S. GAAP)

The following tables reflect selected Cognos’ non-GAAP results reconciled to GAAP results:

Operating Margin Percentage

GAAP Operating Margin Percentage

Plus:
Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets
Stock-based compensation expense
Restructuring charge

Non-GAAP Operating Margin Percentage

Net Income

GAAP Net Income

Plus:
Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets
Stock-based compensation expense
Restructuring charge

Less:
Income tax effect of amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets
Income tax effect of stock-based compensation expense
Income tax effect of restructuring charge

Non-GAAP Net Income

Net Income per diluted share

GAAP Net Income per diluted share

Plus:
Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets
Stock-based compensation expense
Restructuring charge

Less:
Income tax effect of amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets
Income tax effect of stock-based compensation expense
Income tax effect of restructuring charge

Non-GAAP Net Income per diluted share
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Years ended
February 28,

2007 2006

12.1% 13.5%

0.7 0.8
2.3 2.2
2.7 -

18.0% 16.5%

$115,697 $108,576

6,861 6,655
24,594 19,500
26,713 -

(2,562) {2,512)
(5,099) {2,595)
(6,313) -

$159,891 $129,624

$1.28 $1.17
0.08 0.07
0.27 0.21
0.29 -

(0.03) (0.02)
(0.05) {0.03)
(0.07) -

$1.77 $1.40
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

Cognos Incorporated (“Cognos” or the “Corporation”), a Canadian corporation founded in 1969, is a
global leader in busiress intelligence (“BI”) and performance management (“PM") software solutions.
Our solutions help organizations plan, understand, and manage financial and operational performance.
Our solutions achiev: this by supporting effective decision-making at all levels of the orgamization
through the consistent reporting and analysis of data derived from various sources, and enabling our
customers to understaind and monitor current performance while planning future business strategies.
Management believes that, using our software, our customers can plan and manage the performance of all
aspects of their business and gain valuable insights that can be used to improve operational effectiveness,
enhance customer satisfaction, and accelerate corporate response times to changes in business conditions,
all with a view to incrzasing revenues and profits. Our integrated solutions consist of our BI components,
PM solutions, and analytical applications.

In fiscal 2007, we continued to invest in our Bl solutions which are the foundation of our performance
management solution strategy. We released Cognos 8 Business intelligence (“Cognos 8 BI”), version
8.2, the latest update of the Cognos 8 BI product, with improvements in performance and quality as well
as new capabilities designed to increase our reach to more users in the enterprise. Cognos 8 BI provides
coverage for production and business reporting, dashboarding, query, analysis, metrics manageinent and
interactive scorecardir g, event management and data management on a modern, enterprise-class services-
oriented architecture (“SOA”). With Cognos 8 BI, we believe our product portfolio is the most
comprehensive and technologically advanced in the Bl market. Since its initial release in fiscal 2006, our
existing customers h:ve embraced Cognos 8 Bl for new applications and many new and existing
customers are using Cognos 8 Bl as their business intelligence standard.

We also continued to invest in our performance management applications. In January 2007, we acquired
Celequest Corporation (““Celequest”), a provider of operational business intelligence solutions based in
Redwood City, California to extend the reach of the Cognos® solution to include self service dashboard
creation and real-time nformation monitoring,

In April 2006, we announced Cognos 8 Workforce Performance, a next-generation analytic application
geared to helping orgénizations better manage and optimize their human resources. This application is
the first of a suite of next-generation analytical applications that are based on an adaptive application
framework that dramatically increases business agility while also reducing costs and the need for scarce
IT resources.

Our customers can stre tegically apply our software solutions across their extended enterprise to address
their need for performznce management. By allowing timely analysis of data from disparate systems, PM
enables organizations 10 measure execution against business strategy to determine whether the two are
aligned at all levels. Our solution allows users to effectively direct the full management cycle with
planning, budgeting, ccnsolidation, reporting, analysis, and scorecarding capabilities.

Our integrated solutions provide a scalable and secure web-based environment that is easy to use and
deploy across the extended enterprise, which includes the organization, its customers, suppliers, and
partners. The component-based nature of our software allows customers to purchase functionality that
fits their particular needs and allows them to easily expand their capabilities as required.




We focus on developing direct relationships with Global 3500 companies and large public sector
organizations. Our direct sales force generated approximately 71% of our software license revenue for
our fiscal year ended February 28, 2007. At year end, we had 58 sales offices in 26 countries. In addition,
we offer our customers a broad range of support and consulting services aimed at providing the highest
level of customer satisfaction. We also have an extensive partner network to complement this activity.

We have an extensive and expanding global customer base with over 23,000 customers located in more
than 135 countries. In fiscal 2007, we had total revenue of $979.3 million, of which approximately 58%
was derived in the Americas, 34% in our Europe Region, and 8% in our Asia/Pacific Region. For
financial information about geographic areas, see the Revenue section of Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in Item 7 and Note 13 Segmented Information
in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Item 8, Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data of this Form 10-K.

PRODUCTS

Our integrated solutions consist of our Bl capabilities, performance management solutions, and analytical
applications. These components are supported by software services for administration, deployment,
integration, and extraction, transformation, and loading (“ETL").

BI Capabilities

The majority of our BI capabilities, including reporting, analysis, managed dashboarding, and
scorecarding, are delivered as part of Cognos 8 BI. First introduced in September 2005, Cognos 8 Bl has
become the fastest growing product in Cognos’ history, with many customers now choosing to
standardize on a single platform for their business intelligence needs. The latest release, version 8.2,
became generally available in February 2007. It offers improvements in performance and quality as well
as new capabilities which are designed to increase our reach to more users in the enterprise.

Cognos 8 BI is built on the web Services-oriented Architecture “SOA™ first released with Cognos
ReportNet®. A modem platform, SOA is designed to provide high scalability and openness, integrating
with and leveraging customers’ existing infrastructure. It is based on industry standards, such as
extensible markup language (“XML”), simple object access protocol (“SOAP”), and web services
description language (“WSDL"), and is the foundation for Cognos’ Bl and performance management
solutions.

This flexible, open platform enables Cognos and its partners to quickly develop value-added solutions.
For example, in fiscal 2007, Cognos introduced Cognos 8 Go! Mobile, Search, and Office — innovative
ways to access Cognos BI content on mobile devices, through enterprise search and within Microsoft
Office™ applications. These new access options better leverage the Cognos 8 platform and extend its
value by enabling broader user adoption throughout the enterprise.

The acquisition of Celequest in January 2007 enhanced Cognos’ Bl portfolio through the addition of real-
time operational dashboards. With a similar web-based SOA to Cognos 8, the Celequest™ dashboards
are immediately interoperable with Cognos 8 BL

Our BI capabilities are delivered through zero-footprint, web-based interfaces, easing deployment and
use, and offer the following functionality:

Reporting and Query.  As part of the full range of BI capabilities available in Cognos 8 BI, Cognos 8
reporting, formally named Cognos ReportNet, is our next-generation web-based query and reporting
solution that has been developed to specifically satisfy enterprise reporting requirements. It delivers
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production reports such as invoices and statements as well as ad hoc query, managed reports, a broad
range of business reports, and dashboards from relational and on-line analytical process (“OLAP”) data
sources.

Our pre-existing reporting and query components are Impromptu® Web Reports and Cognos Query
respectively, which are part of Cognos Bl Series 7 capabilities. Customers can continue to purchase these
products as we contin e to update themn to meet customer needs and extend their investments.

Analysis.  Qur analvsis capability, Cognos 8 analysis, enables business users to perform their own ad
hoc analysis against OLAP and dimensionally modeled relational data by investigating, in any
combination and at any level, the critical success factors that drive their business. In a single view, users
can perform side-by-side comparisons at different levels of detail. Since analysis leverages the Cognos 8
platform, organizations can deploy and manage OLAP from a central point of control. Users can
manipulate information by “drilling down” through layers of summary information in successively
greater levels of detail and can present the information in multiple graphical displays.

Our pre-existing solution for analysis is Cognos PowerPlay®. We continue to update the Series 7 version
of Cognos PowerPlay to reflect the changing requirements of our large customer base. and customers can
continue to purchase it. The continued support of this product allows us to provide a common
architecture for our customers using Cognos PowerPlay 7.3 along with Impromptu Web Reports 7.3, As
well, Cognos PowerPlay is interoperable with Cognos 8 Bl enabling customers to deploy both products
concurrently.

Dashboarding and Scorecarding. For customers needing to see a snapshot of their business and measure
their performance agiinst key metrics that drive it, Cognos offers a full spectrum of dashboarding
capabilities as well as full-featured metrics management and scorecarding capabilitics.

To monitor performance, Cognos now offers managed dashboards delivered through Cognos 8 BI, as
well as the real-time, self-service operational dashboards delivered through the newly acquired Celequest
technology. Dashboards generated in Cognos 8 BI take advantage of a single authoring environment and
the robust scheduling as well as the capability to distribute reports to multiple users, all associated with
professional authoring. The real-time operational dashboards provide users with the ability to easily
create and edit their o'vn dashboards, and to continuously monitor information that affects their specific
area of the business. Delivered as a network appliance or through a Software-as-a-Service (“Saa$”")
model, operational dashboards are fast and low-cost to set up, and enable customers to satisfy the needs
of operational managers in their organizations.

To measure performance against key metrics, Cognos 8 Bl also includes scorecarding. Formally offered
through a standalone >ffering named Cognos Metrics Manager, Cognos 8 scorecarding includes new
funcuionality for interactivity and collaboration. With Cognos scorecarding, users can view and interact
with scorecards that contain key performance metrics and can analyze each metric individually in order
to understand the drivers of performance. By linking the company’s strategy and goals to execution
through metrics, users can get a clear picture of the performance of the whole business. [n addition,
metrics are linked to thz Cognos 8 BI layer for further reporting and analysis.

Mobile, Search, and Ojfice Consumer Options. To enable customers to deploy Bl more broadly across
the organization, Cognos offers flexible access options that leverage the centralized Bl content, security
and report authoring of Cognos 8§ BI.

First introduced in fiscal 2007, Cognos 8 Go! Mobile enables executives, managers and mobile workers
to access BI content anytime, anywhere. With a rich client interface that optimizes viewing and




interactivity, Cognos 8 Go! Mobile enables BlackBerry® users to work with the same reports that are
delivered on the Web through Cognos 8 BI.

Also announced in fiscal 2007, Cognos 8 Go! Search enables Cognos 8 BI users to find content more
easily, and enables any user in the organization to take advantage of Cognos 8 BI content throngh
integration with enterprise search. Cognos' 8 Go! Search integrates with leading enterprise search
solutions such as FAST®, Autonomy®, IBM Omnifind™, and Google™ OneBox.

For users wanting to work with BI content within the Microsoft Office environment, Cognos 8 Go!
Office enables users to insert centrally-controlled, refreshable Cognos BI content within Microsoft
Excel®, PowerPoint®, or Word. Formally delivered as Office Connection in 2005, Cognos 8 Go! Office
has been updated in fiscal 2007 with expanded functionality and compatibility with the Cognos 8
platform.

Event Management.  As part of the full range of BI capabilities available in Cognos 8, Cognos 8 event
management helps to bring focus to critical and timely B content. By monitoring changes in compound
data conditions, event management can alert and notify users, via email or the web, of changes in
performance. Along with the notification based on the state of the event, users receive Bl content that
gives context to decision-making. Cognos 8 event management includes many enhancements and
leverages the modern architecture of the Cognos 8 platform.

Performance Management Solutions

In our solution for PM, we offer products that address the need for organizations to link reporting and
analysis to organizational goals and strategies. These solutions span company functions and processes
and define the parameters for performance in scorecards, plans, and budgets. They also help structure,
automate, and control processes that relate to governance and compliance such as consolidation and
corporate reporting.

Planning, Budgeting, and Forecasting. Cognos Planning delivers budgeting, planning, forecasting, and
the related financial reporting in one solution to help customers drive, monitor, and report on financial
performance. Cognos Planning includes:

e flexible modeling for a variety of financial and non-financial planning based on business
measures, ratios, and sophisticated calculations under the control of financial planners;

* collaboration with workflow to extend the planning process across the organization, with
business managers controlling their own business plans in the context of an overall corporate
plan; and

¢ high participation and ease of use so that users can enter, analyze, and adjust plan data and model
parameters in any way, including top-down analysis or using break-back calculations, which fill
in values to arrive at a set total.

The solution enables business and financial managers to collaborate to define the scope of their plan,
including restructuring and re-organizing, using zero-based budgeting or providing a starting point based
on the previous year’s trends, as well as providing up-to-date forecasts. Managers can collaborate and
delegate planning details to lower-level managers to receive a complete and detailed operational and
financial view, making the process of gathering information and distributing it to relevant stakeholders
easy to administer. In addition, the solution integrates up-to-date data when available from other systems
with user-supplied forecasts and the overall enterprise plan.
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Financial Consolidation. Cognos Controller helps customers structure, automate, and control the
statutory, financial, and management reporting process. The consolidation environment handles muitiple
reporting and consolidation standards such as U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(“GAAP™), International Accounting Standards, and International Financial Reporting Standards;
intercompany elimina:ion and.reconciliation; multicurrency translation; complex ownership calculations;
and financial consolidation .rules. In addition, Cognos Controller offers packaged application
functionality that drarnatically reduces customer-specific customization, calcuiation scripting, and report
creation. In December 2005, we released Cognos Controller Version 8.1 which included full integration
with Cognos 8§ BI, dirzct two-way integration with Microsoft Excel, full web enablement, and additional
support for compliancs requirements.

Our pre-existing consolidation component, Cognos Finance, presents users with an all-in-one solution.
Cognos Finance supports most mid-size and some larger enterprises by providing a unified view of
performance, in multiple currencies, and performs the necessary roll-up, eliminations, allocations, and
adjustments required as a part of the budgeting, consolidation, and financial reporting process.
Customers can continize to purchase Cognos Finance. We continue to update Cognos Finance to reflect
the changing requirements of our customer base.

With the acquisition of Frango AB in September 2004, we also acquired Frango® Consolidator which we
continue to support. This consolidation and financial reporting solution helps organizations structure,
automate, and contro’ this important financial process. Customers can continue to purchase Cognos
Consolidator.

Scorecarding. Deliveed as part of Cognos 8 Bl, scorecarding is an important offering as part of our PM
solution for the office of finance.

Analytical- Applications. A trend in the market for BI is the demand for pre-packaged solutions that
shorten time-to-benefil. We have developed our analytical applications as integrated solutions to make it
easy for customers to combine appropriate capabilities and to deploy them quickly. Our analytical
applications are flexible and extensible because they are built upon the foundation of our BI components
and each application includes a pre-built data warehouse and comprehensive packaged content.
Customers are able t¢ change models, create new reports, and perform new analyses by using our BI
components in conjunction with our analytical applications. These applications can reduce the time,
effort, and cost requited for an organization to gain a competitive advantage from Bl and can help it
realize returns on investment more quickly from operational applications such as enterprise resource
planning (“ERP”) implementations. Our solution is designed to extend the value of a customer’s ERP
system, transforming operational data into consistent, reliable information optimized for reporting and
analysis. : :

o  Worforce Ana'ytics. During fiscal 2007, we launched Cognos 8 Workforce Performance. This
product takes advantage of a next generation adaptive application framework using Cognos 8
BI's open, molern services-oriented architecture. Cognos 8 Workforce Performance focuses on
delivering insight through packaged analytics in the areas of headcount and turnover,
compensation and employee performance. This analytic content is configurable to reflect a
company’s HK. best practices, and can be easily modified or extended as business needs evolve.

® Financial Anadytics. With Cognos Performance Applications, users gain access to their
organization’s key information in seven areas of the business: accounts receivable, accounts
payable, general ledger, inventory, procurement, production, and sales. These coordinated,
departmental-specific analytical applications allow users to build an enterprise-wide view of their
organization incrementally and strategically.
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Management and Integration Software Services

Across our BI components, performance management applications, and analytic applications, we provide
software services for administration, deployment, integration, and ETL to deliver highly integrated and
expandable solutions. Customers who purchase one of our solution components are also offered the
software services for administering and deploying them as integrated parts of the solution. With these
software services, our customers can more quickly and easily deploy the server-based capabilities to
users. In addition, this approach facilitates a customer’s ability to add new capabilities because additional
components can be easily plugged into the existing software services. This flexibility is critical as
customers’ requirements change and as we introduce new capabilities to our solutions.

Our software services operate in a single, integrated environment. The scalability of the architecture
allows organizations to deliver Bl applications to a large and broad user community across the extended
enterprise. Our software services consist of the following:

Administration Services. Our software administration services allow IT managers to manage and
maintain installation and configuration of our servers. In addition, we provide data modeling that drives
consistency and adaptability of our solution. Our modeling is designed to present information stored in
corporate databases in a consistent format so that managers have a common foundation for evaluating
business performance and making key business decisions. Each manager can be provided with a
personalized view of information, as well as a common view of business performance that permits the
rapid coordination of management decisions and actions. In addition, common business rules,
calculations, and goals, such as the definitions of profitability, cash flow, and return on investment, are
visible and shared by all users, which provides managers with a consistent view of the business.

Deployment Services.  Our software deployment services provide security and content delivery and
management for users across the extended enterprise. With our security, IT managers can address both
authentication, which confirms the user’s identity, and authorization, which determines what information
users have the right to view. With open security standards, Cognos security can be easily integrated with
other enterprise security systems. Our own portal services for content delivery and management can be
customized to fit seamlessly in an existing cornpany portal or intranet/extranet environment and is
designed so that users view only the content they have authority to access. It can be customized to present
application content in a format that is familiar and appropriate to each user and also allows for sharing of
information and collaboration among many users.

Integration Services. Our software integration services provide the ability to integrate with and
leverage customers’ existing applications and infrastructure. These capabilities are based on web-
services and feverage industry standards including XML, SOAP, and WSDL, and provide an open
environment for external enterprise application integration, customization, and automation of many
aspects of our solution. Standards-driven, fully-documented application program interfaces allow
customers to customize their applications to best serve their users’ needs.

ETL Services. Our software ETL service, Cognos 8 data management, which shipped as part of Cognos
8. is the renamed next version and natural upgrade for supported customers with Cognos
DecisionStream™. Our ETL service is optimized for modeling, transforming, and creating high-speed,
scalable analytical data warehouses that have embedded knowledge of the BI applications they will serve,
thereby enabling faster deployment and user acceptance of these applications. Our ETL services and BI
components work together so that many of the calculations and analytic operations can be performed at
the database level, which can dramatically improve response time and network traffic loads.
Organizations can build analytical data warehouses that span the extended enterprise, ensuring
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consistency and rapid adoption of changes. This service forms the basis for our analytic applications and
is the critical compon:nt for information consistency for PM.

Application Development Tools

We have a legacy line of products based on application development products marketed under the
PowerHouse®, PowerHouse® Web, and Axiant® names. PowerHouse is an application development
environment that enables customers to quickly develop complex business applications. We believe there
has been a fundam:ntal shift over the past several years away from application development
environments towards packaged solutions. The large majority of organizations now choose to buy their
next generation of business systems, rather than attempt to build these corporate applications internally.
Our strategy for this nature part of our business is focused on maintaining the product and supporting
our existing customers. Product support is the largest source of revenue from these customers, and as a
result, we expect to continue to update our application development products to reflect the changing
requirements of our customers. We expect our revenue from application development tools to continue to
decline as customers focus on the next generation of our PM solution.

GLOBAL CUSTOMER SUPPORT AND SERVICES

Support, consulting, :nd training services are a critical part of our Bl, performance management, and
analytic applications solutions. We offer a wide variety of packaged and on-demand services to assist our
customers with the instaliation, deployment, and effective use of our solutions. As customers increase the
deployment of our products throughout the extended enterprise and as the value and complexity of
implementations increase, we believe that our customers will increasingly demand additional services.
Growth in our service:: revenue is highly correlated with increases in our license revenue, and our ability
to deliver services in a timely and effective manner is a large and expanding part of our complete
solution.

We offer our customers a broad range of support, consulting, and training services aimed at providing the
highest level of customer satisfaction. These services include:

Support Services

Support services consist primarily of product continuation (downloads of releases and advisories), online
support {case logging and management, documentation, Knowledge Base, proven practices, etc.} and
assisted support (telephone support for product problem resolution.) Telephone support and web-based
customer self-service support are key to customer satisfaction and are available worldwide. Our web-
based support service drovides our customers with continuous online answers to their product questions.
Support customers are also entitled to receive product and documentation enhancements on a when and if
available basis. : :

Consulting Services

We offer a variety of consulting services to assist our customers with project management and planning,
architecture design, training needs assessment, and successful deployment. These service offerings are
billed on a daily basis it competitive rates or are provided as packaged services for a particular project or
task over a specific time frame. The flexible framework of these services is designed to be used alongside
partner and customer project teams. Qur consulting services are aimed at guiding our customers from
early stages of a Cognos project through the solution implementation process. In addition, we have
specific consulting services offerings for our largest enterprise customers with customized senior
engagement managems:nt. These consultants work onsite with large customers in an effort to optimize
application and deployment strategies so that customers can make maximum use of our existing and



emerging products and services, with the aim of delivering the highest degree of success and return on
mvestment.

Training Services

Customers typically require specialized training when they purchase our solution. In addition, we believe
that customer training helps maximize the potential productivity gains from our products. We provide
instructor led classroom training at Cognos training centers, on-site at customer locations and at
authorized partner training centers. We also offer multiple seif-paced training courses (computer based
training courses and recordings). We offer courses on individual product components as well as courses
on a solution approach. All of our training offerings can be customized to incorporate a customer’s
corporate data to enhance and accelerate the learning experience. Cognos training offerings are scalable
to a customer’s needs and can be purchased as single or enterprise licenses.

CUSTOMERS

Over 23,000 customers located in more than 135 countries have deployed our BI, performance
management, and analytic application solutions. Our primary target market is Global 3500 companies
and large public sector organizations. We also license our products to a broad base of small and medium-
size enterprises.

Although our software solution is a complete solution for the extended enterprise, our customers
typically purchase in stages. The first stage usually involves the purchase of a component of our solution
10 address a particular departmental requirement. The second stage usually involves purchases by other
departments within that organization, often for applications that are closely related to the initial purchase,
or purchases of additional components by the same department, or the addition of more users of the
initial implementation. In many cases, there are a number of purchases in severai departments of an
organization before a customer makes the decision to standardize and deploy our solution on an
enterprise-wide basis. Organizations are realizing a reduced total cost of ownership opportunity by
standardizing on a single vendor.

We view our large customer base as a significant asset. Because our services make it easy for customers
to add new capabilities to the established infrastructure, our current customer base represents a
significant market for additional BI, performance management, and analytical application sales.

Our solutions can be deployed across all industries. Data-intensive businesses, such as financial services,
insurance, healthcare, and government, as well as industries that are under competitive pressure to
continually improve their business processes, such as retail, pharmaceuticals, automotive, consumer
packaged goods, and other manufacturing companies, have been the leaders in adopting enterprise-wide
solutions. We have a broad customer base with no single customer accounting for 10% or more of our
total revenue in any of the last three fiscal years.

SALES AND MARKETING

We use an international, multi-tiered channel distribution system to reach customers on a cost-effective
basis. We support these channels with an extensive organization of pre-sales and post-sales technical
specialists. Our worldwide sales and marketing organizations are led from our Burlington, Massachusetts
location.

Sales Channels
The principal elements of our distribution system are as follows:
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Direct Sales. We use a direct sales force in all major markets as the primary channel for distribution.
Our direct sales force generated approximately 71% of our software license revenue for fiscal 2007. We
believe our quota-carrying direct sales force increases our visibility and market penetration, ensures long-
term customer contaci, and facilitates sales of additional products. As the demand for enterprise-wide Bl
solutions grows, we mtend to strengthen our relationships with senior executives of organizations as
purchasing decisions for our products are often made at the senior level. As of February 28, 2007, we
employed approximat:ly 374 sales representatives in 58 sales offices located in 26 countries.

Third Parties.  In order to extend our coverage, we market and sell our products through third party
channels, which inclule resellers, OEMs, and distributors. Examples inctude:

s OFEMs such a: Symantec, Avaya, Infor, Fujitsu, Manugistics, and Onyx.

* Resellers such as CBH, Genware, Inca, ISA, Niteo, Simpson Associates, Sky Solutions, and
Teradata.

Telesales. ~ We use telesales representatives in certain areas to sell products, suppert, and services,
primarily to our instal ed customer base.

We support our sales channels with lead generation and marketing programs, including direct mail,
public relations, advertising, telemarketing, web-based programs, promotional seminars, and
participation in trade shows and user group meetings.

Marketing and Tech:ology Relationsﬁips

Cooperative marketing arrangements with hardware and software vendors and professional services
organizations provide us with additional visibility in the marketplace. These relationships permit our
sales force to work :losely with the sales representatives of these vendors and enable prospective
customers to evaluate software applications, services and, in certain instances, hardware together as a
complete solution. Ou- marketing relationships can be classified into two broad categories:

Technology Partners Our technology partners consist of industry-leading database, server,
middleware, enterprise application, OLAP server, internet, and connectivity technology companies,
including HP, IBM, Microsoft, Salesforce, Oracle, SAP, Sun, and Teradata. We partner with these
companies to ensure that our solution is compatible with their products.

Consulting Partners. Our consulting partners consist of accounting firms, large consulting firms,
system integrators, information technology consulting organizations, and certified resellers, including:
[BM Global Services, Accenture, Deloitte, Capgemini, EDS, Tata Consultancy Services, and
BearingPoint. These companies implement BI, data warchousing, enterprise planning, and performance
management solutions.

These marketing and technology relationships also provide us with the opportunity to market our
products together with other packaged solutions. We believe that solution-selling can shorten sales cycles
and increase our sales opportunities.

We also participate in cooperative marketing and technology programs with hardware, software, and
database vendors, including the following program roles: HP Developer and Solution Partner Program,
Microsoft Data Warehousing Alliance Partner, Microsoft Certified Partner, Salesforce AppExchange,
Oracle Partner Network Certified Level Partner, SAP Technology and Content Partner Program, SAP
Software Partner Program with Certified Integration, Teradata Software Partner Program, Blackberry®
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ISV Partner, Macromedia ISV/Alliance Partner, BEA Star Partner Program, Sun Developer Connection
Partner Program, SunTone Certified, Sun iForce™ Partner Program, and Sybase Open Solutions™

CODE Partner.

In addition, in fiscal 2006 we entered into a global strategic alliance with IBM. This strategic alliance
represents a significant commitment by both companies to provide clients with open standards-based
business solutions that will allow them to leverage their existing IT assets, lower costs, and provide
flexibility regarding their choice of operating environments, including Linux®. Building on our existing
relationship, this strategic alliance tightened the integration between Cognos and IBM across all areas of
the organizations including software, hardware, services, marketing, and joint product development.

Marketing

We recogmize the importance of a complete and focused marketing effort. We divide our marketing
organization between corporate marketing and field marketing. These two groups are coordinated to
provide a consistent market message and presence, and effective market coverage for Cognos, which
includes targeted marketing and programs to industry verticals and functional departments such as IT and
Finance. Our corporate marketing focuses on increasing “Cognos’ brand awareness and visibility through
advertising, public and analyst relations, events, sponsorship, direct marketing programs, our corporate
website, and sales collateral. This team also has responsibility for sales effectiveness programs including
sales training, competitive analysis, and our strategic account programs. These corporate functions are
led from our Burlington, Massachusetts office, with the majority of staff in Ottawa, Ontario, Canada. We
have deploved our field marketing organization throughout the world. This group is responsible for sales
lead generation and local marketing programs, such as trade shows, seminars, direct mail programs, and
user group meetings and conferences, to help create local visibility and healthy sales pipelines.

Cognos Innovation Center for Performance Management

In fiscal 2007, Cognos expanded the mandate of the Cognos Innovation Center for Performance
Management™ to help our customers drive the strategic deployment of BI and Performance Management
applications on an enterprise scale. The Cognos Innovation Center now helps promote the best practice
use of our solutions so that customers can successfully deliver performance management improvement
and business intelligence competency enterprise-wide. The Cognos Innovation Center brings together
leading customers, practitioners, and Cognos experts in a forum of information gathering and exchange.
This information is then distributed to other customers through pre-built models and business content
called “Performance Blueprints” focused on specific planning, consolidation, and reporting processes,
best practice methods and materials, and face-to-face meetings.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

We believe that our talented and experienced research and development staff is one of our core strengths.
Our research and development efforts are aimed at enhancing and extending our existing BI solution, our
performance management solution, our analytic applications, and creating new products. As of February
28, 2007, our research and development staff consisted of approximately 889 employees. Research and
development is undertaken primarily at our corporate headquarters in Ottawa, Ontario, Canada, and also
at our facilitics in Minneapolis, Minnesota; Princeton, New Jersey; Stockholm, Sweden; and Staines and
York in the United Kingdom. We incurred research and development costs of $135.7 million, $118.8
million, and $109.4 million in fiscal 2007, 2006, and 2003, respectively.

During fiscal 2008, we are investing in the research and development of performance management
solutions, particularly those solutions that support our strategy of meeting the needs of the extended
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enterprise. These investments will include our next-generation application architecture, the development
of new BI, performance management applications, and analytical applications.

Our software solutions are developed primarily through internal resources. However, during the later part-
of fiscal 2006, we cutsourced the development and quality control of some of our pre-existing BI
products to an organization in India. Additionally, in support of the development of our products, we
have acquired or licensed specialized products and technologies from other software firms, and we have
undertaken further development to integrate those third party products into our offerings. Most of the
third party licenses are non-exclusive and do not preclude third parties from entering into similar
agreements with our competitors.

In January 2007, we acquired Celequest, a provider of dashboarding solutions based in Redwood City,
California to extend the reach of the Cognos solution to include operational and real-time applications.
The acquisition of Celequest has provided Cognos with complementary technology that enables Cognos
to deliver a more complete spectrum of dashboards to customers. Also based on a similar web-based
SOA, the Celequest technology is immediately interoperable with Cognos 8 BI, and eases further
integration efforts.

In September 2005, vie acquired Databeacon Inc., a privately-held analytics software company based in
Ottawa, Ontario, Carada, to obtain highly skilled resources to complement our existing research and
development team to further the execution of our PM strategy. As part of this transaction, we acquired
the Databeacon® prcduct set, which we continue to support. Also in September 2005, we acquired
Digital Aspects Holdings Limited primarily to incorporate its software, which addresses the need for real
time access to corpor:.te data, into our product suite.

COMPETITION

The PM market is a highly competitive composite market composed of two distinct and tracked markets:
Bi, PM (Planning, Budgeting, Scorecarding, Consolidation and Analytical Applications). Our
competitors include other BI vendors, vendors of performance management solutions, and vendors of
enterprise application systems. Because the PM market is composed of many market segments, we
compete with large diversified vendors who offer products in numerous market segments and other
companies that may in the future announce offerings of PM products. Factors that affect our competitive
position include the method of distribution, functionality, support and service, ease of use, price, training,
vendor stability, and experience. Due to the breadth of our Bl and PM solutions, we encounter many
competitors who focus on one or more areas within our overall offering. Our products compete directly
and indirectly against various products, depending on user needs and computing environmerns.

There are several brozd categories of competitors:

Vendors of Enterprise Bl Suites. These vendors develop and sell a set of BI products covering reporting,
query, multidimensional analysis, scorecarding, dashboarding, and alerts/event notification and include
Business Objects, MizroStrategy, and Hyperion Solutions, which has recently been acquired by Oracle
Corporation.

Vendors of Producticn Reporting Environments.  These vendors develop and sell products that are
designed to execute and distribute large numbers of complex reports to many users. Competitors in this
area include Actuate, Microsoft, and Information Builders.

Database Management Vendors.  Some database vendors have tools that are included with their
database environment that can be used for query and reporting, as well as some OLAP functionality.
These vendors include: Oracle and Microsoft.
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Vendors of Performance Management Solutions.  These vendors develop and sell tools that enable
organizations to manage business performance through dashboard and scorecarding applications, and
include Business Objects and Hyperion Solutions.

Vendors of Financial Planning, Consolidation, and Budgeting Software. These vendors develop and sell
products that automate the planning and budgeting process and include Oracle, Extensity (formerly
GEACQ), Cartesis, Longview, Business Objects, and OutlookSoft.

Vendors of Enterprise Application Systems.  As the Enterprise Application software market’s growth
slows, Enterprise Application vendors are looking for other areas to extend the value of their customers’
investments. Some Enterprise Application vendors are introducing product lines as extensions of their
ERP and customer relationship management (“CRM”) systems in the areas of analytics and performance
management. These vendors include SAP and Oracle.

Our products are complementary with the products of many of the above-named competitors, and as a
result, we have cooperative marketing relationships with some of these vendors, including Oracle, SAP,
and Microsoft.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Consistent with industry practice, we rely upon a combination of contract provisions and patent,
copyright, trademark, and trade secret laws to protect our proprietary rights in our products. We license
the use of our products to our customers rather than transferring title to them. These licenses contain
terms and conditions prohibiting the unauthorized use, reproduction, disclosure, or transfer of our
products. In addition, we attempt to protect our trade secrets and other proprietary information through
agreements with customers, suppliers, employees, and consultants. Although we intend to protect our
rights vigorously, there can be no assurance that these measures will be successful.

The source code versions of our products are protected as trade secrets and, in all major markets, as
unpublished copyright works. However, effective copyright protection may not be available in some
countries in which we license or market our products. We recognize that patent law may offer effective
protection for our current and future products, and we have established a program to identify and seek
patent protection for appropriate elements of our products. There can be no assurance that any patentable
elements will be identified or, if identified, that patent protection will be obtained. We have also obtained
or applied for trademark registration of our core brands, including the name “Cognos®”, in all of our
major markets. While the duration of trademark and copyright protections varies from country to country,
we believe that the duration of this protection will be adequate to protect our products during the periods
of their economic value.

However, we believe that, due to the rapid pace of innovation within our industry, technological and

creative skills of our personnel are even more important to establishing and maintaining a technology and
product leadership position within the industry than are the various legal protections of our technology.
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EMPLOYEES

As of February 28, 2007, we had 3,507 full-time permanent employees. We believe that our future
success will depend, in part, on our ability to continue to identify, hire, engage, and retain skilled and
experienced personnel. In the software industry, there is a high demand for such employees. Historically,
we have been successtul in recruiting and retaining sufficient numbers of qualified personnel.

We have formalized e Jucation programs for sales, technical, and research and development personnel so
that new staff are productive as soon as possible. In addition, there are formalized skills renewal
programs for staff to ensure that they are employing state-of-the-art techniques for software development,
customer support, sales, marketing, administration, and management.

We are also committed to developing strong management and leadership skills in our personnel and have
established managem:nt and leadership development programs that promote effective management
techniques and leader<hip.

None of our employee ; are represented by a labor union.

Executive Officers of the Corporation

The following table sets out the name; age; position with the Corporation; and the principal occupation,
business or employment during at least the last five years of each executive officer of the Corporation.

NAME AGE POSITION(S)
Robert G. Ashe 47 President and Chief Executive Officer and Director
Les Rechan 45 Chief Operating Officer
Tom Manley 48 Senior Vice President, Finance & Administration and
Chief Financial Officer
Peter Griffiths 43 Senior Vice President, Products
John Jussup 54 Senior Vice President, Chief Legal Officer & Secretary
David Laverty 51 Senior Vice President, Global Marketing
Philippe Duranten 46 Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Mr. Ashe was appointzd President and Chief Executive Officer of Cognos and elected to the Board of
Directors on June 23, 2004. Mr. Ashe previously served as President and Chief Operating Officer of
Cognos from April 2002 to June 2004. Mr. Ashe also served as Senior Vice President, Chief Corporate
Officer of Cognos frorn May 2001 until April 2002 and as Senior Vice President, Worldwide Customer
Services from July 1999 to May 2001. Mr. Ashe joined Cognos in September 1984.

Mr. Rechan was appointed Chief Operating Officer on May 15, 2006. Prior to joining Cognos, Mr.
Rechan served as Senior Vice President and Global General Manager, CRM Strategy, at Oracle
Corporation from Mar:h 2006 to May 2006 when Oracle Corporation acquired Siebel Systems Inc. Mr.
Rechan held two senior roles at Siebel Systems Inc., as Senior Vice President and General Manager,
responsible for the company’s Americas business unit, and Senior Vice President and General Manager,
responsible for the ccmpany’s Global Manufacturing and Distribution Industries business unit from
August 2004 to February 2006. Mr. Rechan served as Senior Vice President and General Manager, North
America, with Cadenc: Design Systems from April 2003 to July 2004 and as Chief Operating Officer
with Onyx Software from February 2001 to October 2002.




Mr. Manley was appointed Senior Vice President, Finance & Administration and Chief Financial Officer
in August 2001. Prior to joining Cognos, Mr. Manley was with Nortel Networks Corporation and served
as Chief Financial Officer, High Performance Optical Component Solutions from April 2001 to August
2001 and Senior Vice President, Finance and Vice President, Finance, Carrier Packet Solutions from
1998 to April 2001.

Mr. Griffiths was appointed Senior Vice President, Products in April 2002. Mr. Griffiths served as Senior
Vice President, Research and Development from February 2002 to Apnil 2002, as Vice President,
Research and Development from January 2001 to February 2002, and as Vice President, Decision
Platform from June 2000 to January 2001. Mr. Griffiths joined Cognos in 1998.

Mr. Jussup was appointed Senior Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Secretary in September 20035.
Mr. Jussup previously served as Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Secretary from July 2003 to
September 2005 and Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary from October 1996 to July 2003.
Mr. Jussup joined Cognos in October 1993 as General Counsel and Secretary.

Mr. Laverty was appointed Senior Vice President, Global Marketing in February 2002. Prior to joining
Cognos, Mr. Laverty was with Surebridge Inc. as Vice President, Marketing from May 2000 until
February 2002. He was with Lotus Development Corporation (a subsidiary of IBM) from 1990 until 2000
in a number of senior marketing roles, most recently as Vice President, Marketing — North America from
1997 to 2000.

Mr. Duranton was appointed Senior Vice President, Human Resources on April 16, 2007. Prior to joining
Cognos, Mr. Duranton served as Senior Executive Vice President, Human Resources, at Gemplus. a
leading company in digital security, from 2003 to 2006. Earlier, Mr. Duranton served as Senior Executive
Vice President, General Affairs, at Vivendi Universal TV and Film Group from 1998 to 2002.

The executive officers of the Corporation are appointed annually by, and serve at the discretion of, the
Board of Directors.

WEB SITE POSTINGS

We make our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports or Form 8-K,
and any amendments to these reports, available, free of charge, through our website, www.cognos.com.
We make these reports available on our websile as soon as reasonably practicable after we have
electronically filed such material with, or furnished it to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC™), and we have received confirmation that it has been made public by the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK. FACTORS

Certain Factors That May Affect Future Results

This report contains forward-looking statements, including statements regarding the future success of our
business and technology strategies, our research and development, our future market opportunities, our
revenues, and our inte lectual property. These statements are neither promises nor guarantees, but involve
known and unknown risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results, levels of activity,
performance, or achicvements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity,
performance, or achievements expressed in or implied by these forward-tooking statements. These risks
include risks related to our revenue growth, operating results, industry, products including the integration
and customer acceptance of Cognos 8, and litigation, as well as the other factors discussed below and
elsewhere in this report. Readers should not place undue reliance on any such forward-looking
statements, which spe:ak only as of the date they were made. Except to the extent required by applicable
law, we disclaim any obligation to publicly update or revise any such statements to reflect any change in
our expectations or in events, conditions, or circumstances on which any such statements may be based,
or that may affect the .ikelihood that actual results will differ from those set forth in the forward-looking
statements.

Our reliance on laiger transactions is increasing and larger transactions are complex and
unpredictable.

Our business, and our operational performance, increasingly relies on larger transactions at the enterprise
level. In any particular fiscal period, the presence or absence of one or more of these large transactions
may have a material positive or negative effect on our anticipated revenue in that period. These large
transactions represent significant business and financial decisions for our customers and involve the
expenditure of considerable time and effort by us and our customers in the sales process. As well, these
large transactions require additional levels of management approval when compared to smaller
transactions. These fictors tend to increase the risk that the customer’s purchasing decision may be
postponed or delayed from one peried to another subsequent or later period or that the customer will alter
his purchasing requirements. The sales effort and service delivery scope for larger transactions also
require additional resources to execute the transaction. These factors, along with any other foreseen or
unforeseen-event, could result in lower than anticipated revenue for a particular period or in the reduction
of estimated revenue in future periods. '

As we continue to face intense competition, and the nature of our competition is changing, we may not
compete successfully.

We face substantial and increased competition throughout the world. We expect our existing and new
competitors to conttnu: to improve the performance of their current products and to introduce new
products (or integratec products) or new technologies. The software market and the nature of our
competition may continue to consolidate and transform by merger or acquisition. Larger software
vendors, including ERP software vendors, may continue to expand their product offering into our
markets. For example, ERP vendor, Oracle Corporation announced in April 2007 that it had acquired
Hyperion Solutions. It .acquired Siebel Systems, Inc. in January 2006 and PeopleSoft, Inc. in 2005. In
addition, Microsoft has increased its presence in our markets and. has announced that it will continue
expansion into business intelligence using its Windows platform. As our competitors continue to merge
or partner with other of our competitors or ERP vendors or if we were to become the subject of an
unsolicited acquisition itiative by another enterprise, such changes in the competitive landscape may
pose new competitive challenges that could adversely affect our ability to compete either because of an
improvement in one of our competitor’s competitive position or due to distraction caused by an
unsolicited acquisition. Entry or expansion of other large software vendors, including ERP vendors, into
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this market may establish competitors that have larger customer bases and substantially greater financial
and other resources with which to pursue research and development, manufacturing, marketing, and
distribution of their products. Their current customer base and relationships may also provide them with
a competitive advantage. New product announcements or introductions by our competitors, including the
continuing emergence of open source software offerings, could cause a decline in sales, a reduction in the
sales price, or a loss of market acceptance of our existing products. If we are unable to effectively
compete against our current and future competitors, our ability to sell products could be harmed. Any
erosion of our competitive position could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, and financial condition.

Our products are increasingly used in complex business envirenments so their installation and
operation in those environments is complex and requires planning and cooperation between us and
Our customers.

Qur current products are increasingly being adopted in complex business environments. These
environments pose constderable challenges to a software vendor and the successful implementation of
our products in these environments requires project management expertise and cooperation between us
and our customers. If we cannot enable our customers to successfully implement our products in these
challenging and complex environments, we could suffer a decline in follow-on business from that
customer, a decline in successful reference customers and a decline in our reputation in the market — all
of which could have a material impact on our financial condition.

Qur sales forecasts may not match actual revenues in a particular period.

The basis of our business budgeting and planning process is the estimation of revenues that we expect to
achieve in a particular quarter and is based on a common industry practice known as the “pipeline”
system. Under this system, information relating to sales prospects. the anticipated date when a sale will
be completed and the potential dollar amount of the sale are tracked and analyzed to provide a “pipeline”
of future business. These pipeline estimates are not necessarily reliable predictors of revenues in a
particular quarter because of, among other things, the events identified in these risk factors, as well as the
subjective nature of the estimates themselves. In particular, a slowdown in technology spending or a
deterioration in economic conditions is likely to result in the delay or cancellation of prospective orders
in our pipeline. Also, an increase in the complexity and importance of large transactions and the
resulting increase in time to complete these large transactions makes forecasting more difficult. A
variation from our historical or expected conversion rate of the pipeline could adversely affect our budget
or planning and could consequently matenally affect our operating results and our stock price could
suffer.

We may not be able to hire, integrate, retain, or compensate key personnel essential to our business or
we may not be able to manage changes and transitions in our key personnel,

We believe that our success depends on our ability to hire, retain, and incent senior management and
other key employees to develop, market, and support our products and manage our business. The loss of
any one of their services could have a material adverse effect on our business. Our success is also highly
dependent on our continuing ability to hire, integrate, and retain other highly qualified personnel as well
as our ability to train and develop our existing personnel. The failure to attract and retain or to train and
develop key personnel could' adversely affect our future growth and profitability. Changes in senior
management or other key personnel can also cause temporary disruption in our operations during
transition periods. Also, a decline in our stock price may have a negative impact on the retention value of
any stock-based awards to key employees and couid negatively affect our ability to retain and attract key
employees. :




Our total revenue and operating results may fluctuate, which could result in fluctuations in the price .
of our common stock.

We cannot provide assurance that revenue from our products will continue to grow, or grow at previous
rates or rates projected by management. For example, while our rate of revenue growth between 2007
and 2006 was greater than the rate of growth between fiscal years. 2006 and 2005, our rate of revenue
growth between fiscal years 2006 and 2005 was lower than the rate of growth between fiscal years 2005
and 2004. Anticipated revenue may be reduced by any one, or a combination of, unforeseen market,
econormnic, or competilive factors some of which are discussed in this section. We have experienced, and
in the future may experience, a shortfall in revenue or earnings or otherwise faif to meet public market
expectations, which could materially and adversely affect our business and result in fluctuations in the
market price of our common stock.

'

Our quarterly and annual operating results may vary between periods.

Historically, our quarierly operating results have varied from quarter to quarter, and we anticipate this
pattern will continue. We typically realize a larger percentage of our annual revenue and earnings in the
fourth quarter of each fiscal year, and lower revenue and eamings in the first quarter of the following
fiscal year. As well, in each quarter we typically close a larger percentage of sales transactions near the
end of that quarter. As a result, it is difficult to anticipate the revenue and earnings that we will realize in
any particular quarter until near the end of the quarter. Some of the causes of this difficulty are explained
in other risk factors — in particular those entitled ‘Our sales forecasts may not match actual revenues in a
particular period’, ‘Our dependence on larger transactions is increasing and the length of time required
to complete a sales cvcle has become lengthy, complex and unpredictable’ and ‘Our expenses may not
match anticipated revenues’.

Our expenses may not match anticipated revenues.

We plan our operatiag expenses on anticipated revenue trends. Since a high percentage of these
expenses are relatively fixed in the short term, a delay in completing license transactions could cause
significant variations in Operating results from quarter to quarter and could result in operating losses. If
these expenses precede, or are not subsequently followed by, increased revenues, our business, financial
condition, or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. For example, in fiscal year
2007, we incurred unplanned restructuring charges resulting from our margin improvement plan which
was implemented beciuse our revenues were in line with projections, but our expenses were projected to
be greater than expecied. In addition, because many of our costs are fixed in the immediate term, it can
be difficult to adjust our cost structure for shortfalls in projected revenues. This can result in our
financial results in a f scal period being below our expectations and guidance.

Currency fluctuation: may adversely affect us.

A substantial portion of both our revenues and expenditures are generated in currencies other than the
U.S. dollar, such as tke Canadian dollar and the euro. Fluctuations inthe exchange rate between the U.S,
dollar and other currencies, particularly the euro and the Canadian dollar, may have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results as we report in U.S. dollars. For
example, while foreizn exchange fluctuations had a favorable impact on results in fiscal 2007, the
Canadian dollar strer gthened during fiscal 2006 resulting in greater than anticipated expenses when
reported in U.S. dollars. Please see further discussion on foreign currency risk inctuded in the
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure on Market Risk in the Market Risk section of ltem 7,

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financia! Condition and Results of Operations in this Form
10-K.
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Economic conditions could adversely affect our revenue growth and ability to forecast revenue.

The revenue growth and profitability of our business depends on the overall demand for BI and PM
products and services. Because our sales are primarily to major corporate customers in the high
technology, telecommunications, financial services (including insurance), pharmaceutical, utilities, and
consumer packaged goods industries, our business depends on the overall economic conditions and the
economic and business conditions within these industries. A weakening of one or more of the global
economy, the information technology industry, or the business conditions within the industries listed
above may cause a decrease in our software license revenues. A decrease in demand for computer
software caused, in part, by a continued weakening of the economy, domestically or internationally, may
result in a decrease in revenues and growth rates.

If we do not respond effectively to rapid technological change, our products may become obsolete.

The markets for our products are characterized by: rapid and significant technological change; frequent
new product introductions and enhancements; changing customer demands; and evolving industry
standards. We cannot provide assurance that our products and services will remain competitive in light
of future technological change or that we will be able to respond to market demands and developments or
new industry standards. If we are unable to identify a shift in market demand or industry standards
quickly enough, we may not be able to develop products to meet those new demands or standards, or to
bring them to market in a timely manner. In addition, failure to respond successfully to technological
change may render our products and services obsolete and thus harm our ability to attract and retain
customers. Even if we do respond to technological changes, our solutions may be less appealing to
customers than those of our competitors, or our customers may not accept our new products and services.

We operate internationally and face risks attendant to those operations.

We earn a significant portion of our total revenues from international sales generated through our foreign
direct and indirect operations. These sales operations face risks arising from local political, legal and
economic factors such as the general economic conditions in each country or region, varying regulatory
requirements, compliance with international and local trade, labor and other laws, and reduced
intellectual property protections in certain jurisdictions. We may also face difficulties in managing our
international operations, collecting receivables in a timely fashion, and repatriating eamings. Any of
these factors, either individually, or in combination could materially impact our international operations
and adversely affect our business as a whole.

Making and integrating acquisitions and our strategic decisions could impair our operating results.

We have acquired and, if appropriate, will continue to seek to acquire additional products or businesses
that we believe complement or augment our products. Acquisitions involve a number of risks, including:
diversion of management’s attention; disruption of our ongoing business; difficulties in integrating and
retaining all or part of the acquired business and its personnel; assumption of disclosed and undisclosed
liabilities; dealing with unfamiliar laws, customns and practices in foreign jurisdictions; and the
effectiveness of the acquired company’s internal controls and procedures. The individual or combined
effect of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business. As well, in paying for an
acquisition, we may deplete our cash resources, dilute our shareholder base by issuing additional shares,
or incur debt. Furthermore, there is the risk that our valuation assumptions and our models for an
acquired product or business may be erroneous or inappropriate due to foreseen or unforeseen
circumstances and thereby cause us to overvalue an acquisition target. There is also the risk that the
contemplated benefits of an acquisition may not materialize as planned or may not materialize within the
time period or to the extent anticipated. Likewise, we make strategic decisions relating to all aspects of
our operations including with respect to the direction of product development, acquisitions and other
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strategic investments, transactions and initiatives. These decisions often involve the review and
consideration of compsting alternatives and advice from various advisors, culminating in the exercise of
judgment. There is the risk that our decision to proceed, or not to proceed, in a particular direction or
with a particular strategic investment, transaction or initiative may not ultimately be the optimal decision
for the company. Such’decisions may hamper our competitiveness in the marketplace and have an
adverse impact on our operational and financial performance.

New accounting pronouncements or guidance may require us to change the way in which we account
Jfor our operational or business activities.

The Financial Accouning Standards Board (“FASB”), the SEC, and other bodies that have jurisdiction
over the form and ccntent of our accounts are constantly discussing and interpreting proposals and
existing pronouncements designed to ensure that companies best display relevant and transparent
information relating to their respective businesses. The pronouncements and interpretations of
pronouncements by FASB, the SEC, and other bodies may have the effect of requiring us to account for
revenues and/or expenses in a different manner. For example, beginning with the first quarter of fiscal
2007, we began expensing the fair value of stock options. As a result, we now report increased expenses
in our income statement and a reduction of our net income and earnings per share. The impact on
Cognos’ current financial statements of applying a fair value method of accounting for stock options is
disclosed in Note | of “he Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Form
10-K and in our Form 8-K filed on March 29, 2007. ‘
Our intellectual property may be misappropriated or we may have to defend ourselves against other
parties’ claims.

We rely on various intellectual property protections, including contractual provisions, patents, copyright,
trademark, and trade secret laws, to preserve our intellectual property rights. Despite our precautions, our
intellectual property may be misappropriated, causing us to lose potential revenue and competitive
advantage. As well, we may ourselves from time to time become subject to claims by third parties that
our technology infringes their intellectual property rights. In either case, we may incur expenditures to
police. protect, and defend our interests and may become involved in litigation that could divert the
attention of our management from developing our business. Responding to such claims could result in
substantial expense axd result in damages, royalties, or injunctive relief, satisfy indemnification
obligations to our custamers, or require us to enter into licensing agreements on unfavorable terms, or
redesign or stop selling affected products which could materially disrupt the conduct of our business.
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We may face liability claims if our software products or services fail to perform as intended.

The sale, servicing, and support of our products entails the risk of product liability, performance or
warranty claims, which may be substantial in light of the use of our products in business-critical
applications. A successful product liability claim could seriously disrupt our business and adversely
affect our financial results. Software products are complex and may contain errors or defects,
particularly when first introduced, or when new versions or enhancements are released, or when
configured to individual customer requirements. Although we currently have in place procedures and
staff 10 exercise quality control over our products and respond to defects and errors found in current
versions, new versions, or enhancements of our products, defects and errors may still occur. New
products and new product versions or enhancements may also contain defects or errors which may not be
known to us at the time of introduction. If these defects or errors are discovered after delivery to our
customers, customers may delay or reduce purchases, our reputation may be damaged, and we may incur
additional costs associated with product claims, remedial work, and the addition or diversion of resources
to address the defects or errors. This may result in decreased sales, increased costs and a Joss of market
share, all of which could have a negative impact on our financial results and performance. Specifically, if
there are defects and errors found in Cognos 8, it could disrupt our business, impact our sales and
adversely affect our financial results. We attempt to contractually limit our liability in accordance with
industry practices. However, defects and errors in our products, including Cognos 8, could inhibit or
prevent customer deployment and cause us to lose customers or require us to pay penalties or damages.

We may have exposure to greater or lower than anticipated tax liabilities.

We are subject to income taxes and non-income taxes in a variety of jurisdictions and our tax structure is
subject to review by both domestic and foreign taxation authorities. The determination of our worldwide
provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities requires significant judgment. Although we believe
our estimates are reasonable, the ultimate tax outcome may differ from the amounts recorded in our
financial statements and may materially affect our financial results, positively or negatively, in the fiscal
year for which such determination is made.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Cognos owns its corporate headquarters located at 3755 Riverside Drive, Ottawa, Canada. The 269,000
square foot facility is located on approximately six acres of land which also includes a 220,000 square
foot parking garage.

Cognos also conducts its operations from leased facilities totaling approximately 128,000 square feet in

Canada, 283,000 square feet in the United States and Latin America, 294,000 square feet in Europe, and
57,000 square feet in Asia/Pacific.
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PART I1

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

COMMON SHARE INFORMATION
PRINCIPAL MARKETS

The Toronto Stock Exchange and The Nasdaq Global Select Market are the principal markets on which
our shares are traded.

Our common shares were first listed on The Toronto Stock Exchange on August 21, 1986, on The
Nasdaq Global Select Market on July 1, 1987, and on Nasdaq’s National Market on September 15, 1987.
The stock symbol of our common shares on The Toronto Stock Exchange is CSN and on Nasdaq is
COGN.

The following table sets forth the high and low sale prices, as well as the trading volume, for the common
shares for the fiscal periods shown below:
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Nasdaq Global Select Market

The Toronto Stock Exchange

High Low Volume High Low Volume
(US$) (US$) (000s) (Cdn$) (Cdn$) (000s)
Fiscal 2006
First Quarter 47.40 35.38 73,740 58.69 4425 12,394
Second Quarter 40.38 31336 115,807 49.50 41.00 17,278
Third Quarter 42.00 32.96 90 824 49 47 38.73 13,820
Fourth Quarter 39.15 31.56 83,150 45.25 36.54 13,495
Fiscal 2007
First Quarter 40.00 29.29 73,389 46.42 3252 11,978
Second Quarter 32.60 25.10 87.781 36.00 28.44 16,658
Third Quarter 43.55 31.78 122,247 4933 3542 25,590
Fourth Quarter 45.30 37.96 114,819 53.38 44.21 19,225

SHAREHOLDERS

As of April 16, 2007, there were approximately 1,169 registered shareholders.

DIVIDEND POLICY
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common shares. Qur current policy is to retain
our earnings to finance expansion and to develop, license, and acquire new software products, and to

otherwise reinvest in -Zognos by means of our share buy-back and other programs.

PERFORMANCE GIAPH

$300.00 -
$200.00 -

$100.00 s

$0.00 — T T T
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
-—-— CRSP Total Return Index for The Nasdaq Stock Market (U.S. & Foreign
Companies:

—o— Nasdaq Coriputer & Data Processing Services Stocks [ndex

—&— Cognos Stock

(1) Dollar amounts are in U.S. dollars.

(2) The stock price performance graph is not necessarily indicative of future performance. Information
used on the grapl was obtained from the Nasdaq Global Select Market, Inc., a source believed to be
reliable, but the Corporation is not responsible for any ervors or omissions in such information.

The above graph cornpares the five-year cumulative total return on the Corporation’s shares with the
comparable cumulative return of a broad equity index and an industry index. The indexes used are the
Center for Research in Securities Prices (“CRSP”) Total Return Index for The Nasdaq Giobal Select
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Market (U.S. and Foreign Companies) and the Nasdaq Computer & Data Processing Services Stocks
Index.

The graph assumes $100 invested on February 28, 2002 in the Corporation's shares and each of the
Nasdaq indexes and assumes reinvestment of any dividends.

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Total Total Number of
Number of Average Price Shares Purchased Approximate Number of Shares or
Shares Paid per as Part of Publicly  Deollar Value of Shares that May
Period Purchased Share Announced Plans  Yet Be Purchased Under the Plans
Restricted Share Share
Unit Plan Repurchase
(# of shares) Program
December 1 to
December 31, 2006 5,000 $39.94 NIL 2,399,500 $167,160,145
January 1 to
January 31, 2007 1,086,800 $43.79 1,028,800 2,341,500 $122,091,864
February 1 to
February 28, 2007 111,500 $44.08 111,500 2,341,500 $117,176,736
Total 1,203,300 $43.81 1,140,300

On September 25, 2002, the Board of Directors of Cognos adopted a restricted share unit plan under
which awards of restricted share units can be granted to employees, officers and directors of Cognos. On
June 23, 2005, the Shareholders of the Corporation approved the extension of the term of the plan to
September 30, 2015 and increased the number of authorized shares from 2,000,000 to 3,000,000. Subject
to the vesting provisions set out in each participant’s award agreement, each restricted share unit may be
exchanged for one common share of Cognos. The common shares for which the restricted share units
may be exchanged are purchased on the open market by a trustee appointed and funded by Cognos.
During the quarter ended February 28, 2007, Cognos repurchased 63,000 shares at an average price of
$43.29 under the restricted share unit plan.

On September 21, 2006, Cognos announced that it had adopted a stock repurchase program which
commenced on October 10, 2006 and - ends on October 9, 2007 (the “2006 Stock Repurchase
Program”). The program allows Cognos to repurchase up to 8,000,000 common shares (which is less
than 10% of the common shares outstanding on that date) provided that no more than $200,000,000 is
expended in total under the program. During the quarter ended February 28, 2007, Cognos repurchased
1,140,300 shares at an average price of $43.83 under the 2006 Stock Repurchase Program.
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EXEMPTIONS FROM NASDAQ CORPORATE GOVERNANCE RULE

Section 4350¢a)(1) of the Nasdaq Global Select Market, Inc. Marketplace Rules permits foreign private
issuers to follow certain home country governance practices in lieu of the comparable Nasdaq
requirement, The Coinpany does not follow Rule 4350(c)(2) which requires independent board members
of Nasdaq-listed companies to have regularly scheduled meetings at which only independent directors are
present. The independent members of the Board meet reguiarly during sessions of Board meetings.
However, in some sersions, members declined the opportunity to convene without the Chair as matters
before the Board did 10t warrant his exclusion. Such practice is in compliance with Canadian law and
with the Canadian cororate governance requirements applicable to the Company.

235




ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
Five-Year Summary

The following Selected Consolidated Financial Data has been derived from our consolidated financial
statements that have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm. The Selected Consolidated Financial Data should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
Financial Statements and related Notes, and with Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.

YEARS ENDED THE LAST DAY OF FEBRUARY

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(US$000s except share amounts, U.S. GAAP)

Statement of Income Data
Revenue $979.264 $877.500 $825,531 $683,117 $551,036
Operating income 118,016 118,483 141,517 93,704 69,235
Net incoine 115,697 108,576 121474 80,666 46,005
Net income per share .

Basic $1.29 $1.20 $1.34 $0.90 30.52

Diluted $1.28 $L.17 $1.30 $0.88 $0.51
Weighted average number of shares (000s)

Basic 89,674 90,564 90,517 89,325 87,936

Diluted 90,563 92,605 93,238 91,959 90,531
Balance Sheet Data (at end of period)
Working capital $ 488,482 $ 419437 3 344,845 $255.881 $130.909
Total assets 1,292,761 1,150,808 1,089,393 851,674 685,304
Stockholders’ equity 791,440 725,772 661,839 514,353 379,842

Cognos adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 123 (revised), Share-based
Payment, (“SFAS 123R”) on March t, 2006 and elected the modified retrospective application method
of transition which requires that the financial statements of all prior periods be adjusted on a basis
consistent with the pro forma disclosures required in those periods by SFAS No 123, Accounting for
Stock-based Compensation (“SFAS 1237), the predecessor to SFAS 123R. Accordingly, the selected
consolidated financial data above have been adjusted on this basis for all prior periods presented. See
Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(in United States dollars, unless otherwise indicated, and in accordance with U.S. GAAP)

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS/SAFE HARBOR

Management’s Discus-ion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A ")
should be read in conjunction with the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes included in
Item 8 of this annual report. Certain statements made in this MD&A that are not based on historical
information are forwa:d-looking statements which are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 138.4(9) of the Ontario Securities Act.

Terms and phrases such as, “opportunity”, "expected”, “plans”, “aimed at”, “intends” and similar
terms and phrases are intended o identify these forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking
statements relate to and include, among other things, our expectations regarding our future revenues
and earnings; the contribution of Cognos 8 Business Intelligence (“Cognos 8”), Cognos Planning and
other products to ow revenue, earnings and business;, market trends; new and existing product
innovations and developments; operational performance; our sales force structure and model; the
revenue mix between product license, support and services, the decline in license revenue from stand
alone products incorporated into Cognos 8; improvements in gross margins; the growth of performance
management {(“PM"”) in the software industrv; the trend towards and impact of standardization and
larger transactions; product and technological improvements by our competitors and consolidation in
our industry; the strength of the Canadian dollar and its effects; our policy regarding payment of
dividends; the adequacy of our capital to meet our requirements; the strength of our intellectual property
protection; drivers of growth in the business intelligence (“BI”) market; and our investments in
personnel and technology.

These forward-looking statements are neither promises nor guarantees, bui involve risks and
uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking
statements. Factors thet may cause such differences include, but are not limited to, Cognos’ transition 1o
new products and releases, including Cognos 8 and customer acceptance and implementation of Cognos
8, a continuing increase in the number of larger customer transactions and the related lengthening of
sales cycles and challenges in executing on these sales opportunities; the incursion of enterprise
resource planning and other major software companies into the Bl market; continued Bl and software
market consolidation and other competitive changes in the Bl and software market the planning and
cooperation required tc install and operate our products in complex business environments; our ability
to maintain or accurately forecast revenue or to anticipate and accurately forecast a decline in revenue
from any of our products or services; our ability to identify, hire, train, motivate, retain, and incent
highly qualified management/other key personnel (including sales personnel) and our ability to manage
changes and transition: in management/other key personnel, fluctuations in our quarterly and annual
operating results; currency fluctuations; our ability 10 develop, introduce and implement new products
as well as enhancements or improvements for existing products that respond, in a timely fashion, to
customer/product requirements and rapid technological change; risks associated with our international
operations, such as the impact of the laws, regulations, rules and pronouncements of jurisdictions
outside of Canada and their interpretation by courts, tribunals, regulatory and similar bodies of such
Jurisdictions; our ability to identify, pursue, and complete acquisitions with desired business results; the
effect of new accounting pronouncements or guidance, including the impact of FAS 123(R); unauthorized
use or misappropriation of our intellectual property; the effect of potential liability claims if our
products or services fail to perform as intended; fluctuations in our tax exposure; as well as the risk
Jactors discussed previsusly and in other periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“"SEC") and the Canadian Securities Administrators (“CSA”). Readers should not place
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undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date they are made.
We disclaim any obligation to publicly update or revise any such statement to reflect any change in our
expectations or in events, conditions, or circumstances on which any such statements may be based, or
that may affect the likelihood that actual results will differ from those contained in the forward-looking
statements.

We prepare and file our consolidated financial statements and the MD&A in United States (“U.S.")
dollars and in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). As the
Corporation is also a reporting issuer in each of the provinces of Canada and is incorporated under the
Canada Business Corporations Act (“CBCA™), it historically has been required to prepare Canadian
GAAP financial statements for its shareholders. Recent amendments to provincial securities laws and the
CBCA allow the Corporation to report solely under U.S. GAAP to its shareholders.

Discussion of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our GAAP results, Cognos discloses adjusted operating margin percentage, net income and
net income per share, referred to respectively as “non-GAAP operating margin percentage,” “non-
GAAP net income,” and “non-GAAP net income per diluted share.” These items, which are
collectively referred to as “Non-GAAP Measures”, exclude the impact of stock-based compensation and
the amortization of acguisition-related intangible assets. The Non-GAAP measures also exclude the
restructuring charges related to our margin improvement plan implemented in the third quarter of fiscal
2007, as these charges are considered non-recurring. From time to time, subject to the review and
approval of the audit committee of the Board of Directors, management may make other adjustments for
revenues, expenses and gains that it does not consider reflective of core operating performance in a
particular period and may modify the Non-GAAP Measures by adjusting these revenues, expenses and
gains. Management makes these adjustments so that core operating performance reflects management’s
business activities as well as changes within the software industry.

Management defines its core operating performance to be the revenues recorded in a particular period
and the expenses incurred within that period which management has the capability of directly affecting in
order to drive operating income. Stock-based compensation, amortization of acquisition-related
intangible assets and restructuring charges are excluded from our core operating performance because the
decisions, which gave rise to these expenses, were not made to drive revenue in a particular period, but
rather were made for our long-term benefit over multiple periods. While strategic decisions, such as the
decisions to issue stock-based compensation, to acquire a company or to restructure the organization, are
made to further our long-term strategic objectives and do impact our income statement under GAAP,
these items affect multiple periods and management is not able to change or affect these items within any
particular period. Therefore, management excludes these impacts in its planning, monitoring, evaluation
and reporting of our underlying revenue-generating operations for a particular period.

Prior to the adoption of FAS 123R on March 1, 2006, the beginning of our fiscal year 2007,
management’s practice was to exclude stock-based compensation internally to evaluate performance.
With the adoption of FAS 123R, management concluded that the Non-GAAP Measures could provide
relevant disclosure to investors as contemplated by Staff Accounting Bulletin 107. As of the beginning
of our current fiscal year, management also began excluding amortization of acquisition-related
intangible assets when assessing appropriate adjustments for non-GAAP presentations. While both of
these items are recurring and affect GAAP net income, management does not use them to assess the
business’ operational performance for any particular period because: each item affects multiple periods
and is unrelated to business performance in a particular period; management is not able to change either
item in any particular period; and neither item contributes to the operational performance of the business
for any particular period. :
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As incorporated by reference in Item 11, Executive Compensation, of this Form 10-K, our compensation
strategy is to use stock-based compensation to align employee and Executive performance with the
interests of our shareholders and encourage continued employment with Cognos. Whether the grant of
stock options or Restr.cted Share Units are part of a Key Employee grant, are merit based or are granted
based on meeting specific performance criteria in a measurement period, these grants vest over time and
are aimed at long-tern employee retention, rather than to motivate or reward operational performance for
any particular period. Thus, stock-based compensation expense varies for reasons that are generally
unrelated to operational performance in any particular period. We use annual cash bonus payouts for
executives and other employees to motivate and reward annual operational performance in the areas of
revenue and operating margin achievement. Since the beginning of fiscal year 2007, operating margin
achievement has beey measured on a non-GAAP basis, excluding stock-based compensation and
amortization of acquisition-related intangible asset expenses.

Management views araortization of acquisition-related intangible assets, such as the .amortization of an
acquired company’s iesearch and development efforts, customer lists and customer relationships, as
items arising during the time that preceded the acquisition. It is a cost that is determined at the time of
the acquisition. While it is continually viewed for impairment, amortization of the cost is a static
expense, one that is “ypically not affected by operations during any particular period, and does not
contribute to operatioral performance in any particular period.

The margin improverent plan reflects a fundamental realignment of our business, including significant
personnel reductions vvithin higher levels of management. The restructuring charges are excluded in our
Non-GAAP Measures because they are significantly different in magnitude and character from routine
personnel adjustments that management makes when monitoring and conducting the Company's core
operations during any particular period. The restructuring decision and related expenses are not related
to operating performance for any particular period, and are not subject to change by management in any
particular period. Inst:ad, the restructuring is intended to align our business model and expense structure
to our position in the market we are experiencing, and expect to experience, over the long term.

Management also uses these Non-GAAP Measures to operate the business because the excluded
expenses are not under the control of, and, accordingly, not used in evaluating the performance of,
operations personnei within their respective areas of responsibility. In the case of stock-based
compensation expens:, the award of stock options is governed by the Human Resources and
Compensation Commi-tee of the Board of Directors. With respect to acquisition-related intangible assets
and charges associated with the margin improvement plan, these charges arise from acquisitions and a
restructuring that are the result of strategic decisions which are not the responsibility of most levels of
operational management. The restructuring charges, like our stock-based compensation charges and
amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets, are excluded in management’s internal evaluations
of our operating result:: and are not considered for management compensation purposes.

Ultimately, stock-bas:d compensation, amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets and
restructuring expenses are incurred to further our long-term strategic objectives, rather than to achieve
operational performance objectives for any particular period. As such, supplementing GAAP disclosure
with non-GAAP disclosure using the Non-GAAP Measures provides management with an additional
view of operational performance by excluding adjusting revenues, expenses and gains that are not
directly related to performance in any particular period.  Further, management considers this
supplemental information to be beneficial to shareholders because it shows our operating performance
without the impact of charges that are largely unrelated to the performance of our underlying revenue-
generating operations during the period in which the charges are recorded. Including such disclosure in
our filings also provices investors with greater transparency on period-to-period performance and the
manner in which mana zement views, conducts and evaluates the business.
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Because the Non-GAAP Measures are not calculated in accordance with GAAP, they are used by
management as a supplement to, and not an alternative to, or superior to, financial measures calculated in
accordance with GAAP. There are a number of limitations on the Non-GAAP Measures, including the

following:

e The Non-GAAP Measures do not have standardized meanings and may not be comparable to
similar non-GAAP measures used or reported by other software companies.

e The Non-GAAP Measures do not reflect all costs associated with our operations determined in
accordance with GAAP. For example:

o Non-GAAP operating margin performance and non-GAAP net income do not include
stock-based compensation expense related to equity awards granted to our workforce.
Cognos' stock incentive plans are important components of our employee incentive
compensation arrangements and are reflected as expenses in our GAAP results under
FAS 123R. While we include the ditutive impact of such equity awards in weighted
average shares outstanding, the expense associated with stock-based awards is excluded
from our Non-GAAP Measures. -

o While amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets does not directly impact our
current cash position, such expense represents the declining value of the technology or
other intangible assets that we have acquired. These assets are amortized over their
respective expected economic lives or impaired, if appropriate. The expense associated

" with this decline in value is excluded from our non-GAAP disclosures and therefore our
Non-GAAP Measures do not include the costs of acquired intangible assets that
supplement our research and development.

o Restructuring charges primarily represent severance charges associated with our margin
improvement plan, which was implemented in the third quarter of fiscal 2007. These
charges are a significant expense from a GAAP perspective and the costs associated with
the restructuring would be operational in nature absent the margin improvement plan.
Most of the charges are cash expenditures which are excluded from our Non-GAAP
Measures.

e Excluded expenses for stock-based compensation and amortization of acquisition-related
intangible assets will recur and will impact our GAAP results. While restructuring costs are non-
recurring activities, their occasional occurrence will impact GAAP results. As such, the Non-
GAAP Measures should not be construed as an inference that the excluded items are unusual,
infrequent or non-recurring.

Because of these limitations, management recognizes that the Non-GAAP Measures should not be
considered in isolation or as an alternative to our results as reported under GAAP. Management
compensates for theses limitations by relying on the Non-GAAP Measures only as a supplement to our
GAAP results. :

ABOUT COGNOS

Cognos is a global leader in BI and performance management (“PM”) sofiware solutions. Our solutions
provide world-class enterprise planning and BI software and services to help companies plan, understand
and manage financial and operational performance.

Cognos brings together technology, analytical applications, best practices, and a broad network of
partners to give customers a complete performance system. The Cognos performance system is an open
and adaptive solution that leverages-an organization’s ERP, packaged applications, and database
investments. It gives customers the ability to answer the questions — How are we doing? Why are we on
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or off track? What should we do about .it? — and enables them to understand and monitor current
performance while planning future business strategies.

Cognos serves more than 23,000 customers in more than -135 countries. Cognos performance
management solutions and services are also available from more than 3,000 worldwide partners and
resellers. -

Our revenue is derived primarily from the licensing of our software and the provision of related services
for BI and PM solutions. These related services include product support, education, and consulting. We
generally license software and provide services subject to terms and conditions consistent with industry
standards. For an annul fee, customers may contract with us for product support services, which include
product and documentation enhancements, as well as tele-support and web-support.

2007 OVERVIEW

In fiscal 2007, we delivered very strong financial results. This solid performance validated our strategic
product vision and ou: focus on operational execution. In its first full year of general availability,
Cognos 8 BI became our fastest growing product ever and, coupled with changes in our sales model
implemented early in the year, we experienced double-digit software license revenue growth, driving
record total revenue and cash flows. With the most recent version of Cognos 8 Bl released in February
2007 and a continuing {ocus on performance, quality and execution, we expect to buiid upon this success
in fiscal 2008.

On March 1, 2006, we adopted FAS 123R. FAS 123R requires all companies to measure compensation
costs for all share-baseid payments (including stock options) at fair value and to recognize such costs in
the statement of incom:. As a resuit of the adoption of FAS 123R, our operating income, net income,
and earnings per share have been significantly impacted. We have elected the modified retrospective
method of transition provided by FAS 123R and, accordingly, financial statement amounts for all prior
periods presented herein reflect results as if the fair value method of expensing had been applied from the
original effective date of FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-based Compensation (“FAS
1237), the predecessor 10 FAS 123R. See Note | of the Condensed Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Operating Performance

Total revenue for fiscal 2007 was $979.3 million, up 12% from $877.5 million in fiscal 2006. The
increase in total revenu: for fiscal 2007 is attributable to solid growth in license, support, and services
revenue. License revenue was $376.2 million in fiscal 2007, up 10% compared to $343.2 million last
fiscal year. The increase in license revenue was due primarily to strong demand for Cognos 8 Bl and our
ability to execute on large sales opportunities.

We signed 59 contracts in excess of one million dollars during fiscal 2007, compared to 40 in our last
fiscal year. The number >f contracts greater than $200,000 and $50,000 grew 13% and 1%, respectively,
compared to last fiscal year. We believe that order size is an indication of enterprise—scale investment in
our products by our customers which creates a foundation for future growth as it enables us to generate
additional software licensing and ongoing maintenance renewals.

Net income for the year was $115.7 million or $1.28 per diluted share compared to net income of $108.6
million or $1.17 per diluted share last fiscal year. The increase in net income for fiscal 2007 was a result
of our strong revenue pecformance which offset costs related to our margin improvement plan as well as
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increases in stock-based compensation and staff-related costs. In addition, foreign exchange rate
fluctuations had a positive impact on our net income in fiscal 2007 as the strength of the euro and British
pound favorably impacted revenue and offset the unfavorable impact on expenses of the Canadian dollar.
Also contributing to the increase in net income was an increase in interest and other income.

Non-GAAP net income for the year was $159.9 million and non-GAAP net income per diluted share was
$1.77 compared to Non-GAAP net income of $129.6 million and Non-GAAP net income per diluted
share of $1.40 last year. This represents a growth in Non-GAAP net income of 23%. The Non-GAAP
Measures presented herein, including non-GAAP net income, exclude the impact of stock-based
compensation, the amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets, and restructuring charges.
Management uses the Non-GAAP Measures to measure core operating performance in individual
periods. Management’s use of the Non-GAAP Measures is further discussed in the section entitled
“Discussion of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” and a reconciliation between the Non-GAAP Measures
and the most closely related GAAP measures is included in the section entitled “Non-GAAP Financial
Measures”.

Our balance sheet continues to be strong, ending fiscal 2007 with cash, cash equivalents, and short-term
investments of $691.9 million, an increase of $140.9 million from the previous fiscal year.

Fiscal 2007 Strategic Actions

From a product perspective, Cognos 8 gained significant momentum in 2007, resulting in $238 million in
revenues. To continue this momentum, we introduced several new product initiatives including the most
recent release of Cognos 8, Cognos 8 version 2 which shipped in February 2007. We also introduced
Cognos Go! Search, Mobile and Office, which enable customers more flexible access to their BI
information and we enhanced our BI portfolio by acquiring Celequest Corporation (“‘Celequest”), a
provider of operational dashboards.

Operationally, we changed our go to market strategy for Global Account management and transformed
our services organization into a global practice-led organization. This has enabled us to improve our
sales execution which has resulted in an increased number of large deals contributing to our record
license and total revenues.

In September 2006, in order to streamline the organization and improve our operating margin on a long
term basis, we implemented a restructuring plan, or “margin improvement plan”. We reduced our
workforce by 6%, focused primarily on the elimination of certain management and non-revenue-
generating positions. This action and the improved revenue performance discussed above resulted in
improved operating margin in the fourth quarter.of fiscal 2007 and we expect this improved margin
performance to continue in fiscal 2008.

SEC Review

In July 2006, the Staff of the Division of Corporation Finance of the SEC (“the Staff”) completed its
review of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended February 28, 2005. The Staff review
related primarily to the manner in which we allocate revenue pursuant to Statement of Position No. 97-2
“Software Revenue Recognition” as amended by SOP No. 98-9 “Software Revenue Recognition With
Respect to Certain Arrangements” (collectively “SOP 97-27) for post-contract customer support
(“PCS”) in multiple element arrangements that include PCS and license. In particular, the Staff analyzed
our processes to establish vendor-specific objective evidence of the fair value for PCS in contracts for the
purpose of allocating revenue to PCS and the license in such arrangements. On July 20, 2006 the Staff
informed us that the Staff would not object to our revenue recognition policy under SOP 97-2.
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Outlook for 2008

Overall, for fiscal 200§, we expect increased revenues and improved margins compared to fiscal 2007 on
a consistent basis. Afler a year of solid financial performance in fiscal 2007, management believes that
Cognos will leverage its operational changes to its business model and deliver improved operating
margin performance.

We believe that we wi l maintain our leadership position in the BI market as Cognos 8 enters its second
full year of general availability. We believe that the BI market remains strong and we have the most
modern and comprehersive platform in the market.

We continue to experience a healthy market for our other products. In particular, our performance
management business remains strong. Cognos 8 Bl and Cognos Planning are the key components of our
product strategy and w= believe that the strength of these two products in the market will be significant
contributors to our business. We will continue to focus on bringing innovative new products to market
and we continue to dev:lop new releases of our products.

The BI and performance management markets continue to be very competitive and we expect our
competitors to continue to improve the performance of their current products and to introduce new
products (or integrated products) or new technologies to compete with our strong product portfolio. In
addition, the software market continues to consolidate by acquisition, as evidenced by the recent
acquisition of Hyperion by Oracle, and larger software vendors, including ERP software vendors, may
continue to expand their product offering into our markets creating stronger competitors.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

As at year end, we were able to report that our intemal controls over financial reporting were effective in
accordance with the prcnouncements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“SOX 404”).

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial
reporting and for the timeliness and reliability of the information disclosed. During fiscal 2007, we
continued to evaluate process and system improvement opportunities and implement solutions directed at
(1) improving the effic:ency of our processes and controls, (it) identifying and implementing leading
practices, and (iii) standardizing key processes and activities. To accomplish this, we focused on
automation of key busiress processes and expanded the use of our own products. While we believe these
changes were an improvement to our control environment and improved our financial operational
efficiency, these were not considered material changes to internal controls. For additional information,
refer to Item 9A “Controls and Procedures”.

Continuous improvemeat and monitoring of our business processes will likely identify other possible
changes in the future. All of these efforts are aimed at effectively utilizing our available resources and
having efficient and sca able processes in place in order to support our future growth.

33




RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

GAAP Operating Performance

(3000s, except per share ' Percentage Change
amounts} Fiscal Year from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to

2007 2006 ‘ 2005 2007 2006
Revenue $979,264 $877,500 ' $825,531 i1.6% 6.3 %
Cost of revenue 214,480 173,125 150,700 23.9 14.9
Gross margin 764,784 704,375 674,831 8.6 44
Operating expenses ' 646,768 585,892 533,314 10.4 9.9
Operating income $118,016 $118,483 $141,517 (0.4) (16.3)
Gross margin percentage 78.1% 80.3% 81.7%
Operating margin percentage 12.1% 13.5% 17.1%
Net income $115,697 $108,576 $121,474 6.6 % (10.6)%
Basic net income per share $1.29 $1.20 51.34
Diluted net income per share $1.28 3117 $1.30

Total revenue for fiscal 2007 was $979.3 million, representing an increase of 12% over fiscal 2006.
Total revenue for fiscal 2006 was $877.5 million, representing an increase of 6% over total revenue of
$825.5 million in fiscal 2005. Net income for fiscal 2007 was $115.7 million and diluted net income per
share was $1.28, compared to fiscal 2006 net income of $108.6 million and diluted net income per share
of $1.17, and net income of $121.5 million and diluted net income per share of $1.30 for fiscal 2005.
Basic net income per share was $1.29, $1.20, and $1.34 in fiscal years 2007, 2006, and 2005,
respectively.

Gross margin for fiscal 2007 was $764.8 million, representing an increase of 9% over fiscal 2006. Gross
margin for fiscal 2006 was $704.4 million, representing an increase of 4% over gross margin of $674.8
million in fiscal 2005. Gross margin percentage was 78.1% in fiscal 2007, as compared to 80.3% and
81.7% in fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectively. The decrease in gross margin percentage in fiscal 2007 1s
primarily attributable to low services margins experienced throughout the year. Also contributing to the
lower gross margin percentage were restructuring costs resulting from the margin improvement plan
which was implemented in the third quarter of the fiscal 2007.

Total operating expenses for fiscal 2007 were $646.8 million, representing an increase of 10% over fiscal
2006. Total operating expenses for fiscal 2006 were $585.9 million, representing an increase of 10%
over total operating expenses of $533.3 million in fiscal 2005. Operating margin percentage was 12.1%
in fiscal 2007, as compared to 13.5% and 17.1% in fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectively. The decrease in
operating margin from fiscal 2006 to 2007 was the result of an increase in stock-based compensation
costs as well as restructuring charges resulting from the margin improvement plan which was
implemented in the third quarter of fiscal 2007. In addition, foreign currency fluctuations accounted for
approximately two percentage points of the decrease in operating margin from 2006 to 2007. While
foreign currency fluctuations increased revenues by 2%, they also increased expenses by 4%.
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From fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2006, approximately two percentage points of the decrease in operating margin
was attributable to foreign currency fluctuations with revenue declining 1% and costs increasing by 1%
due to the impact of foreign exchange. Also contributing to the decrease was our under performance in
license revenue while cost of revenue and operating expenses increased by 11% in total due to increases
in staffing costs, cosls associated with the Cognos 8 BI launch activities, and investment in sales force
automation tools, traiaing, and realignment. This was partially offset by the elimination of the annual
management bonus e:pense as we did not meet the minimum threshold of operating performance in
fiscal 2006. In order to take advantage of the Cognos 8 BI opportunity and our market opportunities
surrounding BI stand:rdization and the Office of Finance, we have continued to invest in personnel in
customer facing positions and in research and development, as well as investing in our distribution
channels.

The increase in net income was the resuit of strong license revenue performance in fiscal 2067 compared
to fiscal 2006, as well as increases in interest and other income. These were offset by the factors
mentioned above resulting in a modest increase in net income year over year. The decrease in net income
for fiscal 2006 as corapared to the previous fiscal year was the result of the factors mentioned above
partially offset by an increase in interest and other income.

We operate internationally and, as a result, a substantial portion of our business is conducted in foreign
currencies. Accordingly, our results are affected by year-over-year changes in the value of the U.S. dollar
relative to the Canadian dollar, to various European currencies, and, to a lesser extent, other foreign
currencies. The following table breaks down the year-over-year percentage change in revenue, expenses,
and operating income between change attributable to growth and change attributable to fluctuations in
the value of the U.S. dollar as compared to these other currencies.
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2007 over 2006 2006 over 2005

Growth Growth
Excluding Excluding
Foreign Foreign Net Foreign  Foreign Net
Exchange Exchange Change Exchange Exchange  Change
Revenue 2.0 % 2.6 % 11.6 % 7.4 % (1.H)% 63%
Cost of Revenue and
Operating Expenses 10.2 % 33% 135 % 100 % 1.0% 11.0 %
Operating Income 1.5 % (1.9% 0.4)% (6.7% (9.60)% (16.3)%

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

The Non-GAAP Measures presented herein, including non-GAAP net income, exclude the impact of
stock-based compensation, the amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets, and restructuring
charges. Management uses the Non-GAAP Measures to measure core operating performance in
individual periods. Management’s use of the Non-GAAP Measures is further discussed in the section
entitled “Discussion of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” and a reconciliation between the Non-GAAP
Measures and the most closely related GAAP measures is included in this section.

{000s, except per share amounts) .
Percentage Change .

Fiscal Year From Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to

2007 2006 2005 2007 2006
Non-GAAP Operating
Income . $176,184 $144,638 $164,991 21.8% (12.3)%
Non-GAAP Operating 18.0% 16.5% 20.0%
Margin
Non-GAAP Net Income $159,891 $129,624 $140,779 23.3 7.9
Non-GAAP Net Income $1.77 $1.40 $1.51

per Diluted Share

Non-GAAP operating margin for the year ended February 28, 2007 was 18.0% compared to 16.5% for
the previous fiscal year. The increase in non-GAAP operating margin for the year is primarily
attributable to the strong revenue performance and to the early effects of the margin improvement plan.
Non-GAAP net income for the year was $159.9 million, compared to $129.6 million for the previous
fiscal year. Non-GAAP net income per diluted share was $1.77 for fiscal 2007, compared to non-GAAP
net income per diluted share of $1.40 last year. The increase in non-GAAP net income is primarily due to
the strong revenue performance, the early effects of the margin improvement plan, and to an increase in
interest and other income.

The following tables reflect the presented Non-GAAP results reconciled to GAAP results:
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Fiscal Year

2007 2006 2005
Operating Income
GAAP Operating Incoine $118,016 $118,483 $141,517
Plus:
Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets 6,861 6,655 5,602
Stock-based compenation expense 24,594 19,500 17,872
Restructuring charge 26,713 - -
Non-GAAP Operating Income $176,184  $144,638 $164,991
Operating Margin Percentage
GAAP Operating Margin Percentage 12.1% 13.5% 17.1%
Plus:
Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets 0.7 0.8 0.7
Stock-based compen:;ation expense 2.5 22 2.2
Restructuring charge 2.7 — —
Non-GAAP Operating Margin Percentage 18.0% 16.5% 20.0%
Net Income
GAAP Net Income $115,697 $108,576 $121,474
Plus:
Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets 6,861 6,655 5,602
Stock-based compentation expense 24,594 19,500 17,872
Restructuring charge 26,713 - -
Less:
Income tax effect of amortization of acquisition-
related intangible a;sets (2,562) (2,512) (2,162)
Income tax effect of stock-based compensation
expense (5,099) (2,595) (2,007)
Income tax effect of restructuring charge {6,313) - -
Non-GAAP Net Income $159,891 $129,624 $140,779
Net Income per diluted share
GAAP Net Income per diluted share $1.28 $1.17 $1.30
Plus:
Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets 0.08 0.07 0.06
Stock-based compensation expense 0.27 0.21 0.19
Restructuring charge 0.29 - -
Less:
Income tax effect of e mortization of acquisition-
related intangible assets (0.03) (0.02) (0.02)
Income tax effect of stock-based compensation
expense (0.05) (0.03) (0.02)
Income tax effect of restructuring charge 0.07) - -
Non-GAAP Net Income per diluted share $1.77 $1.40 $1.51
Shares used in computing diluted net income per share 90,563 92,603 03,238




Percentage of Revenue Table

The following table sets out, for each fiscal year indicated, the percentage that each income and expense
item bears to revenue, and the percentage change in the dollar amount of each item as compared to the
prior fiscal year.

Percentage Change
Percentage of Revenue from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006

Revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 11.6 % 63%
Cost of Revenue 21.9 19.7 18.3 23.9 14.9
Gross Margin 78.1 80.3 81.7 8.6 4.4
Operating Expenses

Selling, general, and

administrative 51.5 52.5 50.7 9.5 10.1

Research and development 13.8 135 132 14.2 8.6

Amortization of acquisition-related

intangible assets 0.7 0.8 0.7 31 18.8
Total operating expenses 66.0 66.8 64.6 10.4 9.9
Operating income 12.1 135 17.1 (0.4) (16.3)
Interest and other income, net 2.5 2.0 0.3 45.1 161.2
Income before taxes 14.6 i5.5 17.9 54 (8.4)
Income tax provision 2.8 3.1 3.2 0.6 1.7
Net income 11.8% 12.4% 14.7% 6.6 % (10.6)%
REVENUE
($000s) Percentage Change

Fiscal Year ] from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006

Product License $376,211 $343,247 $362,958 9.6% (5.4)%
Product Support 422,473 371,985 320,451 13.6 16.1
Services 180,580 162,268 142,122 11.3 14.2
Total Revenue $979.264 $877,500 $825.,531 11.6% 63 %

Our total revenue was $979.3 million for fiscal 2007 as compared to $877.5 million in fiscai 2006, and
$825.5 million in fiscal 2003. Our total revenue for fiscal 2007 was derived primarily from our suite of
BI products, principally Cognos 8 BI, Cognos ReportNet, Cognos Planning, PowerPlay, Impromptu, and
Cognos Controller. Contributing to a lesser extent were Cognos DecisionStream, Cognos Metrics
Manager, Cognos Analytic Applications, Cognos Visualizer, Cogunos Finance, NoticeCast, and Cognos
Query. With the exceptions of Cognos Planning, Cognos Controller, Cognos Analytic Applications, and
Cognos Finance, the functionality of all these products has now been combined on a single platform and
as a single product in Cognos 8 and therefore we have experienced, and expect to continue to experience,
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a decline in license revenue from these products in the future offset by increased license revenue from
Cognos 8. We will cor tinue to license the other four products as stand-alone products.

We believe the growth in revenue in fiscal 2007 as compared to fiscal 2006 reflects the strength and
depth of our product portfolio including the success of Cognos 8 Bl in its first full year of availability,
the performance of our sales organization and distribution channels, the strength of our customer
relationships, and the quality of our support and services. This is evidenced by the increase in license
revenue and our over:ll renewal rates on our support contracts. The appreciation of foreign currencies
relative to the U.S. dojlar also had a positive impact on our total revenue.

The increase in total revenue for fiscal 2006 can be attributed to an increase in product support and
services revenue partaily offset by a decrease in license revenue. We believe the decrease in license
revenue in fiscal 2006 was due primarily to our inability to execute on large sales opportunities, primarily
in the first nine months of the fiscal year, and the impact of customer anticipation of the release of our
new BI platform, Cognos 8.

Foreign currencies hud a positive 3% impact on our total revenue for fiscal 2007 as compared to a
negative 1% impact ir. fiscal 2006.

The overall change ir. total revenue from our three revenue categories in fiscal 2007 was as follows: a
10% increase in product license revenue, a 14% increase in product support revenue, and an 11%
increase in services revenue. The change for the same categories for fiscal 2006 was as follows: a
decrease of 3%: increases of 16%, and 14%, respectively.

Industry Trends and Geographic Information

We believe that the growth in the Bl market continues to be driven by three main factors: (1) a destre by
enterprises to standaidize on one BI platform, (2) investment in the Office of Finance driven by the
increasing importance of compliance and transparency, and (3) a growing focus on PM.

First, we believe BI has become a leading priority within IT budgets as businesses try to leverage their
investments in enterprise applications and expand the penetration of BI within their organizations. In
particular, businesses are looking to standardize on one BI platform to reduce the number of platforms
and vendors they support and better align their operations with their strategy. We believe that the breadth
and depth of functionality of our BI offering make it the solution of choice.

Second, there is increased investment in systems within the Office of Finance of most enterprises driven
by our customers’ continued focus on compliance and transparency. Organizations are looking to replace
spreadsheet-based applications and legacy systems with single instance planning, consolidation, and
financial reporting solutions that reduce the effort and cost of compliance. Further, these organizations
are looking to extend these solutions beyond compliance to achieve best practices, specifically in the area
of rolling plans, planning standardization, and reduced time to close. This focus allows the Office of
Finance to extend beyond managing pure financial goals and towards overall performance goals and PM.
We believe that our »lanning and consolidation products help improve the accuracy, transparency, and
timeliness of financinl information. For this reason, we believe, we are seeing increased demand for
these products.

Finally, PM is a growing segment in the software industry. It blends Bl with planning, budgeting, and
scorecarding to provide management performance visibility and to support the corporate decision-making
process. We believe that our market-leading Bl, planning, consolidation, and scorecarding products
deliver a complete PM solution. These separate agendas provide multiple entry points into a PM solution
that are appealing to hoth the finance and operational segments of enterprises. Our single platform for Bl
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differentiates us from our competition by enabling enterprises to easily integrate new and existing IT
assets into their PM plan.

We believe these trends are leading to the increase in the number of large customer contracts that we are
experiencing, an increase in enterprise-wide deployment of BI products, and a strengthening of our
relationships with some of the world’s largest companies, and with our strategic partners. Our solid
execution on large contracts contributed to strong license revenue performance in fiscal 2007. We expect
the trend towards larger contracts to continue as a result of the growing demand for standardization and
the deepening strategic importance of performance management within our customers’ businesses. While
we are becoming involved in more and more of these larger contracts, small and medium-sized contracts
continue to be important contributors to our success.

We believe that order size is an indication of enterprise—scale investment in our products by our
customers which creates a foundation for future growth. We use the following summary of key revenue
indicators to track order size:

Key Revenue Indicators Fiscal Year
2007 2006 2005
Orders (License, Support, Services)
Transactions greater than $1 million 59 40 48
Transactions greater than $200,000 663 585 535
Transactions greater than $50,000 3,790 3,400 3,148

Average selling price (License orders only) ($000s)
Greater than $50,000 $197 $175 5187

Included in the above metrics for fiscal 2005 is our first contract greater than $10 million. Excluding the
impact of this deal, average selling price for license orders greater than $50,000 for fiscal 2005 would
have been $179,000.

As the number of large sales opportunities increases, specifically with regard to our customers’
standardization agenda, our sales cycles have become longer as these larger transactions typically require
greater scrutiny, a more extensive proof of concept, and a longer decision cycle by our customers because
these transactions are more complex and represent a larger proportion of the customers’ investment
budgets.

Our operations are divided into three main geographic regions: (1) the Americas (consisting of Canada,
Mexico, the United States and Central and South America), (2) EMEA (consisting of the UK.,
Continental Europe, the Middle East, and Africa), and (3) Asia/Pacific (consisting of Australia and
countries in the Far East). The following table sets out, for each fiscal year indicated, the revenue
attributable to each of our three main geographic regions and the percentage change in the dollar amount
in each region as compared to the prior fiscal year.
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Revenue by Geography Percentage Change

(3000s) Fiscal Year from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 o
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006
The Americas $569,300 $507.839 $477,763 12.1% 6.3%
EMEA 332,048 294,504 276,394 12.7 6.6
Asia/Pacific 77,916 75,157 71,374 37 53
Total $979,264 $877,500 $825,531 11.6% 6.3%

This table sets out, for each fiscal year indicated, the percentage of total revenue earned in each
geographic region.

Revenue by Geography as a Percentage of Total Revenue

Fiscal Year
2007 2006 2005
The Americas 58.1% 57.9% 57.9%
EMEA 339 336 335
Asia/Pacific 8.0 8.5 8.6
Total 100.0 % 100.0% 100.0%

The growth rates of oir revenue in EMEA, Asia/Pacific, and in the Americas can be affected by foreign
exchange rate fluctua:ions. The following table breaks down the year-over-year percentage change in
revenue by geographic area between change attributable to growth and change due to fluctuations in the
value of the U.S. dollar. '

Year-over-year Percenrage Change in Revenue by Geography

2007 over 2006 2006 over 2005
(Growth Growth '
E:cluding Excluding
Foreign Foreign Net Foreign Foreign Net
E:tchange Exchange Growth - Exchange Exchange Growth
The Americas 11.4% 0.7% 12.1% 5.1% 12% 6.3%
EMEA 6.6% 6.1% 12.7% 11.8% (5.2)% 6.6%
Asta/Pacific 2.1% 1.6% 3.7% 5.6% (0.3)% 5.3%
Fotal 9.0% 2.6% 11.6% 7.4% (1.1)Ye% 6.3%

Growth excluding foreign exchange is a non-GAAP measure. We disclose this non-GAAP measure of
revenue growth to provide greater insight into our ongoing operating performance without the impact of
foreign exchange. Ncn-GAAP measures should not be considered an alternative to measurements
required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Non-GAAP measures are
unlikely to be comparable to non-GAAP information provided by other issuers.

In fiscal 2007, the Americas and EMEA experienced strong revenue growth. The Americas had the
strongest performance in local currency in fiscal 2007. The strength in the euro and British pound
resulted in strong foreign exchange fluctuations, which accounted for almost half of EMEA’s revenue
growth. Foreign exchiange fluctuations in Asia/Pacific contributed significantly to its modest growth in
the year.
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In fiscal 2006, both the Americas and Asia/Pacific experienced moderate revenue growth with only a
slight impact from foreign exchange. EMEA had the strongest performance in local currency in fiscal
2006. This strong performance, however, was partially offset by the impact of a stronger U.S. dollar in
relation to European currencies, primarily the euro and the British pound.

Changes in the valuation of the U.S. dollar relative to other currencies in countries in which we operate
will continue to impact our revenue in the future.

PRODUCT LICENSE REVENUE
(3000s) Percentage Change
Fiscal Year from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to
2007 2006 2003 2007 2006
Product license revenue $376,211  $343,247 $362,958 9.6% (5.4)%
Percentage of total revenue 38.4% 39.1% 44.0%

Total product license revenue was $376.2 million, $343.2 million, and $363.0 million in fiscal 2007,
20006, and 2003, respectively, and accounted for 38% of our revenue for fiscal 2007 as compared to 39%
in fiscal 2006 and 44% in 2005. We believe the increase in license revenue was due primarily to our
ability to execute on large sales opportunities, and to general availability of our Cognos 8 Bl platform.

With regards to execution on [arge sales opportunities, as our products ard technology have become
more strategic to many of our customers, coupled with a desire in certain customer segments to
standardize on a single BI vendor, we did see a change in customer behavior in fiscal 2006. In fiscal
2007 we adapted our business model to address the change in selling and approval cycles, and as a result,
delivered 10% license growth compared to fiscal 2006.

The breadth of our solution is allowing us to develop long-term strategic relationships with our customers
which, in turn, enables us to generate additional software licensing and ongoing maintenance renewals.
These relationships represent a significant asset as approximately 72%, 70%, and 65% of our license
revenue came from existing customers in fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006, and fiscal 2005, respectively.

We license our software through our direct sales force and third party channels including, resellers,
value-added resellers, and OEMs. Total product license revenue from direct sales was $267.2 million in
fiscal 2007, compared to $252.1 million in fiscal 2006 and $270.6 million in fiscal 2005. Direct sales
accounted for approximately 71% of our license revenue for fiscal 2007, 73% for fiscal 2006, and 75%
for fiscal 2005.

We believe that a direct sales force is an effective way of building long-term relationships with our
customers. In addition, as enterprise-wide deployments become larger and more strategic, we believe that
our relationships with systems integrators will help us succeed in the large enterprise market as the role
of systems integrators in large standardization opportunities is increasing. We will continue to commit
management time and financial resources to developing relationships with systems integrators. We are
also investing resources into developing our direct and indirect sales and support channels in order to
have coverage in every desirable market.
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PRODUCT SUPPORT REVENUE

{$000s) Percentage Change
Fiscal Year from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 10
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006
Product support revenue $422.,473 $371,985 $320451 13.6% 16.1%
Percentage of total revenue 43.1% 42.4% 38.8%

Product support revenue was $422.5 million, $372.0 million, and $320.4 million in fiscal 2007, 2006, and
2005, respectively. P:oduct support revenue accounted for 43% of our total revenue for fiscal 2007,
compared to 42% in fiscal 2006 and 39% in fiscal 2005. The increase in both fiscal 2007 and 2006 was
the result of the strong rate of renewal of support contracts and the expansion of our customer base.
Exchange rate fluctuations had a 3% impact on product support revenue in fiscal 2007 and a minimal
impact in fiscal 2006.

SERVICES REVENIJE
($000s)  Percentage Change
Fiscal Year from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006
Services revenue $180,580 $162,268 $142,122 11.3% 14.2%
Percentage of total revenue 18.5% 18.5% 17.2%

Qur services revenue includes revenue from education, consulting, and other services and was $180.6
million, $162.3 million, and $142.1 millicn in fiscal years 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. Services
revenue accounted for 19% of our total revenue for both fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006, and 17% in fiscal
2005. The increase in services revenue in fiscal 2007 is primarily attributable to an increase in consulting
revenue as we moved more towards large enterprise-wide deployments and financial applications-based
software. The increase in absolute dollars in fiscal 2006 was also attributable to increases in consulting
revenues resulting from large deployments. Exchange rate fluctuations had a 2% impact in fiscal 2007
and minimally impacted services revenue in fiscal 2006,

As our business moves more towards these larger enterprise-wide deployments and financial
applications-based sof:ware, our customers require an increased level of technical expertise and support
to meet their specific needs. Successful installation and deployment of our solutions has, we believe,
become critical to our customers’ success. As a result, our customers have increasingly required services
such as project management, analysis and design, technical advisory, and instruction to effectively
deploy our solutions.

COST OF REVENUE

COST OF PRODUCT LICENSE

(3000s) Percentage Change
Fiscal Year from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006
Cost of product license $6,783 $6.297 $3,025 7.7% 108.2%
Percentage of product licnse revenue 1.8% 1.8% 0.8%
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Product license costs in fiscal 2007 were $6.8 million compared to $6.3 million in fiscal 2006 and $3.0
million in fiscal 2005. Product license costs represented 2% of product license revenue for both fiscal
2007 and fiscal 2006, and 1% for fiscal 2005.

The cost of product license consists primarily of royalties for technology licensed from third-parties as
well as the cost of materials and distribution related to licensed software. The change in cost of product
license is as follows:

($000s) Year-over-year Change
from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to
2007 © 2006

Royalty cost $343 $3,298
Materials & distribution cost 140 60
Other 3 (80)
Total year-over-year change $486 33,272

The increase in fiscal 2007 from fiscal 2006 was due primarily to increases in royalties related to
suppliers whose technology is embedded in our product offering and to increases in cost of materials and
distribution resulting from strong product license revenue performance.

The increase in fiscal 2006 from fiscal 2005 was due primarily to increases in royalties related to
suppliers whose technology is embedded in our product offering.

COST OF PRODUCT SUPPORT
{$000s) Percentage Change
Fiscal Year from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006
Cost of product support $46,770 $36,911 $33,325 26.7% 10.8%
Percentage of product support revenue 11.1% 9.9% 10.4%

The cost of product support was $46.8 million, $36.9 million, and $33.3 million in fiscal years 2007,
2006, and 2005, respectively. These costs represented 11% of product suppert revenue in fiscal 2007,
and 10% in both fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005.

The cost of product support includes the costs associated with resolving customer inquiries and other
tele-support and web-support activities, royalties in respect of technological support received from third-
parties, and the cost of materials delivered in connection with enhancement releases. The change in cost
of product support is as follows:
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{3000s) Year-over-year Change

From Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to
2007 2006
Staff related costs $4.106 $2,770
Computer-related costs 2,309 1,037
Direct selling 1,259 (823)
Royalties 144 600
Restructuring 1,339 -
Other 702 2
Total year-over-year change $9,859 $3,586

The increase in the cost of product support in fiscal 2007 from 2006 was primarily attributable to
increases in staff-related costs and computer-related costs incurred to service our growing customer base.
The average number o7 employees within the support organization increased 9% from the previous year.
Also contributing to the increase in cost of product support were the restructuring costs resulting from
the margin improvement plan, as well as increases in direct selling costs and other costs which include
travel and subcontractor costs.

The increase in the cost of product support in fiscal 2006 from 2005 was primarily due to increases in
staff related costs to support our growing customer base, including the integration of the Frango staff into
our support organization. Also contributing to the increase were higher royalty costs. The average
number of employees svithin the support organization increased 14% from the previous year.

Foreign currency fluctuations relative to the U.S. dollar increased cost of product support by
approximately 5% and 3% in fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2000, respectively.

COST OF SERVICES

(3000s) Percentage Change
Fiscal Year from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006
Cost of services $160,927 $129917 $114,350 23.9% 13.6%
Percentage of services re\ enue 89.1% 80.1% 80.5%

The cost of services was $160.9 million, $129.9 million, and $114.4 million in fiscal 2007, 2006, and
2005, respectively. Thzse costs represented 89% of services revenue in fiscal 2007, and 80% in both
fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005.

The cost of services ncludes the costs associated with delivering education, consulting, and other
services in relation to our products. The change in cost of services is as follows:
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(3000s) Year-over-year Change

from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to
2007 2006
Staff related costs 511,624 $5,279
Services purchased externally 7,602 8,129
Travel and living 3,096 1,804
Restructuring | 5,181 -
Other 3,507 355
Total year-over-year change $31,010 $15,567

The increase in cost of services in fiscal 2007 was primarily attributable to increases in staff related
costs, restructuring costs resulting from the margin improvement plan, and services purchased externaliy.
The increase in cost of services in fiscal 2006 was primarily attributable to staff related costs and
services purchased externally. Subcontractors are currently an important part of our services offering
and are engaged to fill excess demand that cannot be met by internal Cognos service consultants. This
demand can be in the form of increased volume or requirements for industry specialization. While we
continue to hire new employees in this area, we intend to supplement our skills by engaging
subcontractors. The average number of employees within the services organization increased 5% and
18% in fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006, respectively. Also contributing to the increase in cost of services in
fiscal 2007 were travel and living expenses, as well as other costs which include recruiting fees, staff
development and direct selling costs. The unfavorable effect of fluctuations of foreign currencies
increased costs by 3% in fiscal 2007 and had minimal impact on cost of services in fiscal 2006.

We continue to invest in professional services as we believe the availability and positioning of services is
a key factor in the timing, closure, and success for large transactions.

OPERATING EXPENSES

SELLING, GENERAL, AND ADMINISTRATIVE

{3000s) Percentage Change
Fiscal Year from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 10
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006
Selling, general, and administrative $504,229 $460,447 $418,301 9.5% 10.1%
Percentage of total revenue 51.5% 52.5% 50.7%

Selling, general, and administrative '(“SG&A”) expenses were $504.2 million, $460.4 million, and
$418.3 million in fiscal 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. These costs were 51% of revenue in fiscal
2007, 52% in fiscal 2006, and 51% in fiscal 2005.

SG&A expenses include staff related costs and travel and living expenditures for sales, marketing,
management, and administrative personnel. These expenses also include costs associated with the sale
and marketing of our products, professional services, and other administrative costs. The change in
SG&A expenses is as follows:
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($000s) Year-over-year Change

from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to
2007 2006
Staff related costs $27.451 $13,882
Professional services 4,631 3,880
Staff development (119) 3,821
Travel & living (442) 4,699
Services purchased exterrally (612) 3,632
Marketing costs (2,666) 1,755
Bad debt (2,632) 3,480
Restructuring 15,254 -
Other 2917 6.997
Total year-over-year change $43,782 $42,146

The increase in SG&A expenses in fiscal 2007 was primarily the result of increases in staff-related
expenses, restructuring costs and professional services. The increase in staff related costs is due to staff
increases, increased stock-based compensation expense, increased commissions resulting from stronger
results in fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006, as well as the payment of management bonuses which
were not awarded in fiscal 2006. The restructuring costs resulted from the margin improvement plan
which was implemented in September 2006. The increase in professional services was related to legal
and audit fees associated with the SEC review. The average number of employees within SG&A
increased by 1% in fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006. The increases described above were offset by a
decrease in bad debt expense resulting from improved collection experience. Also offsetting the
increased costs were decreases in marketing costs and travel and living costs which were higher in fiscal
2006 due to the Cognos 8 launch and the sales force automation activities.

The increase in SG&A expenses in fiscal 2006 was the result of increases in salaries partially offset by
the elimination of certzin management bonuses as we did not meet the minimum threshold of operating
performance required t> pay those bonuses. In addition, we incurred increased costs as a result of the
Cognos 8 launch activizies and investment in sales force automation tools, training and realignment. To
take advantage of the Cognos 8 opportunity and our market opportunities arising from BI standardization
and the Office of Finance, we continued to invest in personnel in customer facing positions, as well as
investing in our distribution channels. The average number of employees within SG&A increased by 8%
in fiscal 2006 comparec to fiscal 2005.

Foreign currency exchage rate fluctuations had an unfavorable effect of 3% on SG&A expenses in fiscal
2007 and had minimal impact on these expenses in fiscal 2006.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

($000s) Percentage Change
Fiscal Year from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 10
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006
Research and development $135,678 118,790 5109411 14.2% 8.6%
Percentage of total revenue: 138%  135% 13.2%
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Research and development (“R&D™) costs were $135.7 million, $118.8 million, and $109.4 million for
fiscal 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. These costs represented 14% of revenue in both fiscal 2007
and fiscal 2006, and 13% in fiscal 2005.

R&D expenses are primarily staff related costs attributable to the design and enhancement of existing
products, along with the creation of new products. The change in R&D expenses is as follows:

($000s) Year-over-year Change
from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to
2007 2006

Staff related costs $ 8,321 $4.841
Services purchased externally 2,068 710
Facilities 13) 236
Computers 27 8§22
Restructuring 4,825 .-
Qther 1,714 2,770
Total year-over-year change $16,888 $9.,379

The increase in fiscal 2007 was the result of increases in staff related costs due mostly to the earning of
management bonuses which were not paid in fiscal 2006, as well as staff increases, increased
restructuring costs resulting from the margin improvement plan and the increase of services purchased
externally. The average number of employees within R&D increased by 2% in fiscal 2007 compared to
fiscal 2006.

The increase in fiscal 2006 was the result of increases in salaries due in part to the addition of employees
from our acquisitions. This was partially offset by the elimination of certain management bonuses as we
did not meet the minimum threshold of operating performance. Contributing to the increase for the year,
but to a lesser extent, were increases in computer costs and services purchased externally. The average
number of employees within R&D increased by 9% in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005.

The unfavorable effect of fluctuations of foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar increased R&D
expenses by approximately 5% and 4% in fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006, respectively, as a majority of our
R&D activities are in Canada, the U.K. and Sweden.

Currently, we do not have any software development costs capitalized on our balance sheet. Software
development costs are expensed as incurred, unless they meet GAAP criteria for deferral and
amortization. Software development costs incurred prior to the establishment of technological feasibility
do not meet these criteria, and are expensed as incurred. No costs were deferred during fiscal 2007, 2006,
or 2005. Costs were not deferred because either no projects met the criteria for deferral or, if met, the
period between achieving technological feasibility and the general availability of the product was short,
rendering the associated costs immaterial.

During fiscal 2007, we continued to invest in our BI solutions which are the foundation of our
performance management vision. We released Cognos 8 Business Intelligence (BI), version 8.2, the latest
update of the Cognos 8 BI product, with improvements in performance and quality as well as new
capabilities designed to increase our reach to more users in the enterprise. Cognos 8 BI provides
coverage for production and business reporting, dashboarding, query, analysis, metrics management and
interactive scorecarding, event management and data management on a modern, enterprise-class services-
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oriented architecture (“SOA”). With Cognos & BI, we belicve our product portfolio is the most
comprehensive and tec hnologically advanced in the BI market. Since its initial release in fiscal 2006, our
existing customers have used Cognos 8 Bl for new applications and many new and existing customers are
using Cognos 8 Bl as their Business Intelligence standard.

In fiscal 2007, we announced Cognos 8 Go! Search, a BI search capability which enables users to quickly
find relevant strategic enterprise information. We also introduced Cognos 8 Go! Mobile, a new BI
solution that brings dzcision-support information directly to mobile device users. We continued to
invest in our performance management applications. In January 2007, we acquired Celequest, a provider
of dashboarding solutions based in Redwood City, California to extend the reach of the Cognos solution
to include operational BI and in-memory capability.

We continue to strengthen the Cognos 8 platform and look for ways of extending its value. Also, we
continue to develop onr next PM solutions including the next releases of Cognos Planning and Cognos
Controller which continue to add new functionality for the Office of Finance and will join the Cognos 8
platform with shared infrastructure and tight integration with Cognos 8 BL.

In the Performance Applications Solutions area, we released Cognos 8 Workforce Performance, a next-
generation analytical application geared to helping organizations better manage and optimize their human
capital assets. Development continues on the next release of Cognos Workforce Performance
Applications as well a: new analytical applications enabled by our Adaptive Application Framework.

AMORTIZATION OF ACQUISITION-RELATED INTANGIBLE ASSETS

($000s) Percentage Change
Fiscal Year from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006

Amortization of acquisitinn-related
intangible assets $6,861 $6,655 $5,602 3.1% 18.8%

Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets was $6.9 million, $6.7 million, and $5.6 million for
fiscal 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.

The change in amortiz: tion of intangible assets is shown below:

{3000s) Year-over-year Change
from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to
2007 2006
Increased amortization dve to new intangibles $206 $1,053
Decreased amortization d se to fully amortized
intangibles — -
Total year-over-year change 3200 $1,053

The increase in this >xpense in fiscal 2007 was due to amortization of acquired technology and
contractual relationships as a result of the acquisitions of Databeacon Inc. (“Databeacon’) and Digital
Aspects Holding Ltd. (“Digital Aspects’) in August and September of 2005 respectively and of
Celequest in January 2007.
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The increase in this expense in fiscal 2006 was due to the amortization of acquired technology and
contractual relationships resulting from the acquisitions of Frango AB (“Frango”) in September 2004
and Databeacon and Digital Aspects in September 2005.

INTEREST AND OTHER INCOME, NET

{3000s) Percentage Change
Fiscal Year from Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006
Interest and other income, net $24,903 $17,163 $6,571 45.1% 161.2%

Interest income was eamed on our cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments and interest
expense related primarily to interest incurred on various transactions occurring throughout the year. Net
interest and other income were $24.9 million, $17.2 million, and $6.6 million in fiscal years 2007, 2006,
and 2003, respectively.

The change in net interest and other income is as follows:

{3000s) Year-over-year Change
. From Fiscal
2006 to 2005 to
2007 2006

Increase in interest revenue $11,793 % 8,501
Gain (loss) on foreign exchange (3,719) 3,069
Ineffective portion of cash flow hedges 48 (812)
Increase in interest expenses (382) {166)
Total year-over-year change $ 7,740 $10,552

The increase in interest revenue in fiscal 2007 was primarily attributable to an increase in the average
yield on investments as well as an increase in the average portfolio size as compared to last year. This
was offset by losses on foreign exchange.

The increase in interest revenue in fiscal 2006 was primarily attributable to an increase in the average
yield on investments as well as an increase in the average portfolio size as compared to the prior fiscal
year. Also contributing to the increase in net interest and other income were gains on foreign exchange
partially offset by the amortization of the premium on our cash flow hedges as compared to last fiscal
year.

INCOME TAX PROVISION
(3000s) Percentage Change
Fiscal Year from Fiscal
2006 o 2005 to
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006
Income tax provision $27,222 $27.070 $26,614 0.6% 1.7%
Effective tax rate 19.0% 20.0% 18.0%
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As we operate globally, we calculate our income tax provision in each of the jurisdictions in which we
conduct business. Our tax rate is therefore affected by the relative profitability of our operations in
various geographic regions.

In fiscal 2007, we recorded an income tax provision of $27.2' million on $142.9 million of pre-tax
income, representing an effective income tax rate of 19%.

In fiscal 2006, we rezorded an income tax provision of $27.1 million on $135.6 million of pre-tax
income, representing an effective income tax rate of 20%. Our effective tax rate for fiscal 2006 was
lower than anticipated due to the recognition of benefits resulting from a tax court decision that allowed
us to claim investmem tax credits (“ITCs™) on stock-based compensation for research and development
personnel relating to fiscal years 2004 and 2005 and other tax adjustments.

In fiscal 2005, we re:orded an income tax provision of $26.6 mitlion on $148.1 million of pre-tax
income, representing :in effective income tax rate of 18%. Our effective tax rate for fiscal 2005 was
lower than anticipated as a result of a favorable geographic mix of earnings and favorable tax
adjustments relating to various tax audits and prior year tax provisions.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

{$000s, except DSO) Percentage
: Change from
Fiscal
2006 10
2007 2006 2007
Cash and cash equivalents $376,762 $398,634 (5.5)%
Short-term investments 315,131 152,368 106.8
Cash, cash equivalents, a1d short-term investments $691,893 $551,002 256
Working capital 488,482 419,437 16.5

Net cash provided by (us:d in):

Operating activities 230,998 126,759 822

Investing activities : (190,952) (34,901) *

Financing activities {63,801) (65,913) (3.2
Days sales outstanding (D'SO) 70 77

* not meaningful

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

As of February 28, 207, we held $691.9 million in cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments,
an increase of $140.9 million from February 28, 2006. Cash and cash equivalents include investments
which are highly liquic and held to maturity. Cash equivalents typically include commercial paper, term
deposits, banker’s acceptances and bearer deposit notes issued by major international banks, and
corporate debt guarant:ed by a Canadian chartered bank. All cash equivalents have terms to maturity of
ninety days or less. Short-term investments are investments that are highly liquid and held to maturity
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with terms to maturity greater than ninety days, but less than twelve months. Short-term investments
typically consist of commercial paper, corporate bonds, bearer deposit notes and government securities.

We group cash and cash equivalents with short-term investments when analyzing our total cash position.
These balances may fluctuate from year to year depending on-the renewal terms of our investments.

WORKING CAPITAL

Working capital represents our current assets less our current liabilities. As of February 28, 2007,
working capital was $488.5 million, an increase of $69.0 million from February 28, 2006. The increase
can be attributed to higher levels of cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments, as a result of the
net income for the year. This is partially offset by increased salaries, commissions and bonus accruals
resulting from the earning of management bonuses, as well as the increase in deferred revenue.

Days sales outstanding (“DSQ”") was 70 days at February 28, 2007 as compared to 77 days as at February
28, 2006. We calculate our DSO ratio based on ending accounts receivable balances and quarterly
revenue. Traditionally, our DSQ is seasonally high in the fourth quarter as a large number of our support
contracts are renewed in this period.

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
As at February 28, 2007 and February 28, 2006, we had no long-term liabilities.
CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash provided by operating activities (after changes in non-cash working capital items) for fiscal 2007
was $231.0 million, an increase of $104.2 million compared to the prior fiscal year. This increase is
primarily attributable to increases in accrued salaries, commissions, and related items, and income taxes
payable.

CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash used in investing activities was $191.0 million for fiscal 2007, an increase in investment of $156.1
million compared to the prior fiscal year. The investing activity in fiscal 2007 related primarily to the
purchase of short-term investments, which exceeded the proceeds on maturity of short-term investments
by $160.3 million. We also purchased $18.7 million of fixed assets and acquired Celequest for $10.5
million. In fiscal 2006, the investing activity related primarily to fixed assets purchases of $21.8 million
as well as the acquisition of Databeacon and Digital Aspects for $4.5 million. In addition, purchases of
short-term investments exceeded the proceeds on maturity of short-term investments by $7.8 million.
The fixed asset additions in both fiscal years related primarily to computer equipment and software,
office furniture, and leasehold improvements.

ACQUISITIONS

Fiscal 2007

In January 2007, we acquired Celequest, a provider of operational business intelligence solutions based
in Redwood, California. We purchased Celequest primarily to enhance our performance management
solutions with Celequest’s innovation in real-time information monitoring and self-service dashboard
creatron.

The purchase consideration for Celequest was approximately $10.5 million paid in cash. Direct costs
associated with the acquisition were approximately $0.4 million.
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The purchase of Celecuest did not involve the write-off of any in-process research and development.

Of the total purchase price, $2.0 million was allocated to intangible assets, subject to amortization. Of
this amount, $1.5 m llion was allocated to acquired technology and $0.5 million was allocated to
contractual relationships. Neither intangible asset is expected to have any residual valve. The
amortization period for both the acquired technology and the contractual relationships is five years. The
weighted average amortization for these intangible assets acquired is five years. The fair values of these
intangible assets were assigned using the discounted cashflow method, which discounts the present value
of the free cashflows expected to be generated by the assets. The amortization periods were determined
using the estimated economic useful life of the asset. In the allocation of purchase price, $9.4 million
was assigned to goodv/ill.

Fiscal 2000

In September 2005, w: acquired Databeacon and Digital Aspects. Databeacon was a mid-market business
analytics and reporting company based in Ottawa, Canada. We purchased Databeacon primarily to
complement our R&]) workforce in the Ottawa area. Digital Aspects was an early stage business
intelligence company based in the United Kingdom. We purchased Digital Aspects primarily to
incorporate its software, which addresses the need for real time access to corporate data, into our product
suite.

The aggregate purchase consideration for Databeacon and Digital Aspects was approximately $4.9
million paid in cash and deferred consideration of $0.7 million, which was included in accrued charges
on the balance sheet a: the date of acquisition. Included in the Databeacon share purchase agreement was
$0.4 million of restricted share units to employees of Databeacon. The Digital Aspects agreement
stipulated that the stareholders of Digital Aspects would receive a maximum of $0.8 million in
contingent consideration over a two year period ending September 30, 2007 if certain performance
thresholds are met. Both the restricted share units and the contingent consideration are conditioned on the
continued tenure of these employees and therefore will be accounted for as compensation expense as
earned. Direct costs associated with these acquisitions were approximately $0.5 million.

Neither the purchase of Databeacon nor Digital Aspects involved the write-off of any in-process R&D.

Of the total purchase price, $1.2 million was allocated to intangible assets, subject to amortization. Of
this amount, $1.2 million was allocated to acquired technology and a minimal amount was allocated to
contractual relationships. Neither intangible asset is expected to have any residual value. The
amortization period-for both the acquired technology and the contractual relationships is five years. The
fair values of the Databeacon intangible assets were assigned using the discounted cashflow method,
which discounts the present value of the free cashflows expected to be generated by the assets. The
acquired technology associated with the Digital Aspects acquisition was valued based on the estimated
cost to develop the technology internally. The amortization periods were determined using the estimated
economic useful life >f the asset. In the allocation of purchase price, $5.5 million was assigned to
goodwill.

Fiscal 2005

On September 29, 200:}, we completed a tender offer for the shares of Frango, a Swedish public company
based in Stockholm having global operations. Frango specialized in consolidation and financial reporting
solutions. We acquired Frango primarily to add Frango’s consolidation and financial reporting software
to our product suite and also to access Frango’s workforce and distribution channels in Europe and Asia,
all part of our broader strategy to lead the PM market. The acquisition of Frango further strengthened our
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product offering to the Office of Finance, a key entry point with our customers. The aggregate purchase
consideration was $53.1 million paid in cash. Direct costs associated with the acquisition were $1.9

million.

The in-process research and development was valued at an immaterial amount, and therefore the
purchase of Frango did not involve the write-off of any in-process R&D.

Of the total purchase price, $8.8 million was allocated to intangible assets, subject to amortization. Of
this amount, $7.0 million was allocated to acquired technology and $1.8 million was allocated to
contractual relationships. Neither intangible asset is expected to have any residual value. The
amortization period for the acquired technology is five years whereas the amortization period for the
contractual relationships is approximately eight years. The weighted average amortization for these
intangible assets acquired is approximately six years. In the allocation of purchase price, $51.8 million
was assigned to goodwill.

During fiscal 2005, we also acquired Optima, a Spanish distributor of Frango products. The acquisition
of Optima enhanced our ability to address the requirements of the Spanish market as well as provide
support for our global customers. The shareholders of Optima received $2.5 million in cash. Direct costs
associated with the acquisition were $0.2 million. In the allocation of the purchase price, $2.3 million
was assigned to goodwill.

CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Cash used in financing activities was $63.8 million for fiscal 2007, a decrease of financing of $2.1
million compared to the prior fiscal year. Our financing activities for both fiscal years involved the
repurchase of our own shares in the open market, and the issuance of shares pursuant to our stock
purchase plan and the exercise of stock options. We issued 3,044,000 shares for proceeds of $82.4
million during fiscal 2007, compared to 1,338,000 common shares for proceeds of $32.5 million during
fiscal 2006. ‘

We repurchased shares on the open market under a normal course issuer bid and shares are purchased by
a trustee under our restricted share unit plan. During fiscal 2007, we repurchased 3,145,000 shares for a
total consideration of $125.1 million under the normal course issuer bid and the trustee purchased
580,000 shares for $21.2 million under the restricted share unit plan. Comparatively, in fiscal 2006, we
repurchased 2,582,000 shares for a total consideration of $97.5 million under the normal course issuer
bid and the trustee purchased 25,000 shares for $0.9 million under the restricted share unit plan.

Purchases made under the normal course issuer bid are part of distinct open market share repurchase
plans through The Nasdaq Global Select Market and The Toronto Stock Exchange. The bid has
historically been adopted in October of each year and runs for one year. The October 2006 bid allows
the Corporation to purchase no more than 8,000,000 issued and outstanding shares of the Corporation not
to exceed $200 million. The bid does not commit the Corporation to make any share repurchases.
Purchases can be made on The Nasdaq Global Select Market or The Toronto Stock Exchange at
prevailing open market prices and are paid out of general corporate funds. We cancel all shares
repurchased under the bid. A copy of the Notice of Intention to Make an Issuer Bid is available from the
Corporate Secretary. (See Note 11 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
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CONTRACTS AND COMMITMENTS

We have an unsecured credit facility, subject to annual renewal. The credit facility permits us to borrow
funds or issue letters of credit or guarantee up to Cdn $27.0 mitlion (U.S. $20.0 million), subject to
certain covenants. As of .February 28, 2007 and February 28, 2006, there were no direct borrowings
under this facility.

We do not enter into off-balance sheet financing as a matter of practice except for the use of operating
leases for office spac::, computer equipment, and vehicles. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, neither the
lease liability nor the underlying asset is carried on the balance sheet, as the terms of the leases do not
meet the thresholds ‘or capitalization. Annual payments on these leases were approximately $24.3
million in fiscal 2007. Commitments related to the operating leases over the next five years and thereafter
are disclosed in Note § of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our policy with respict to foreign currency exposure is to manage our financial exposure to certain
foreign exchange flucinations with the objective of neutralizing some of the impact of foreign currency
exchange movements. In line with this objective, we may enter into foreign exchange forward contracts
to hedge specific transactions. The Corporation enters into foreign exchange forward contracts with
major Canadian chartered banks, and therefore does not anticipate non-performance by these
counterparties. The amount of 'the exposure on account of any non-performance is restricted to the
unrealized gains in such contracts.

During fiscal 2005, we: entered into cash flow hedges in order to offset the risk associated with the effects
of certain foreign currency exposures related to an intercompany loan and the corresponding interest
payments between suasidiaries with different functional currencies. As of February 28, 2007, we had
cash flow hedges in rzspect of this intercompany loan, maturing on January {4, 2008, to exchange the
U.S. dollar equivalent of $68.2 million in foreign currency. At February 28, 2007, we had an unrealized
loss of $4.7 million on these hedge contracts. '

We may enter into forzign exchange contracts for specific transactions that we choose not to designate as
a hedge for accounting purposes. We carry these forward exchange contracts at fair value with any gain
or loss included in income. At February 28, 2007, we had seven such contracts outstanding to exchange
the U.S. dollar equivalent of $26.8 million. We entered into these contracts to hedge non-functional
currency intercompany receivables and loans.. The estimated fair value of these hedge contracts at
February 28, 2007 wa:. not material.

In the third quarter o’ fiscal 2007, we implemented our margin improvement plan which reduced our
global workforce by 6% or 204 personnel, focused primarily on management and non-revenue-generating
positions. We continie to increase our investment in customer facing resources. We substantially
completed the activities relating to the plan within fiscal year 2007. As part of this plan, and in
accordance with FASB Statement No. 141, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities (“FAS 146”), we have incurred $26.7 million in total pre-tax restructuring charges this year,
$26.4 million of which will be paid in cash. The remaining $0.3 million in pre-tax charges are expected
to be non-cash expenses resulting primarily from employee termination costs related to stock-based
compensation costs.

In connection with the acquisition of Frango in fiscal year 2005, we undertook a restructuring plan in
conjunction with the husiness combination. The restructuring primarily related to involuntary employee
separations of approximately 20 employees of Frango and accruals for vacating leased premises of
Frango. At February 28, 2007, the total cash payments remaining in relation to the accrual were $0.1
million. The remaining accrual is included in the balance sheet as accrued liabilities. These outstanding
balances for the lease payments will be paid over the lease term unless settled earlier.
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The following table summarizes our outstanding cash commitments as of February 28, 2007

{$000s) _ Payments due by period
Less than 1 More than 5
Total Year 1~3Years 3-5Years years
Long-term debt $ - $ - $ - 5 - 5 -
Capital leases - - - - -
Operating leases 89,872 23,142 48,140 10,185 8,405
Purchase obligations 49,643 37,077 12,566 - -

Other long-term liabilities -~ - - - -

Total outstanding cash commitments  $139,515 $60,219 $60,706 $10,185 $8.405

Purchase obligations include agreements above $100,000 to purchase goods and services that are
enforceable and legally binding. They do not include agreements that are cancelable without penalty.
Retirement contributions are not included in this schedule. In fiscal 2007, we contributed $13.2 million to
various retirement plans around the world for our employees. We estimate that we will contribute a similar

amount annualty in future years.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common shares. Our current policy is to retain
our earnings to finance expansion and to develop, license, and acquire new software products, and to
otherwise reinvest in Cognos.

Given our historical profitability and our ability to manage expenses, we believe that our current
resources are adequate to meet our requirements for working capital and capital expenditures through the
foreseeable future.

Inflation has not had a significant impact on our results of operations.

MARKET RISK

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to adverse changes in
financial market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily a resuit of fluctuations in mterest
rates and foreign currency exchange rates. We do not hold or issue financial instruments for trading
purposes.

Further discussion of our investment and foreign exchange policies can be found in Notes 1 and 9 of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

INTEREST RATE RISK

Our exposure to market rate risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our investment portfolio.
The investment of cash is regulated by our investment policy of which the primary objective is security
of principal. Among other selection criteria, the investment policy states that the term to maturity of
investments cannot exceed two years in length. We do not use derivative financial instruments in our
investment portfolio.

Interest income on our cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments is subject to interest rate
fluctuations, but we believe that the impact of these fluctuations does not have a material effect on our
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financial position due "o the short-term nature of these financial instruments. We have no long-term debt.
Our interest income :nd interest expense are most sensitive to the general level of interest rates in
Canada and the U.S. Sensitivity analysis is used to measure our interest rate risk. For the fiscal year
ending February 28, 2007, a 100 basis-point adverse change in interest rates would have had a $0.05
impact on diluted earaings per share and would not have had a material effect on our consolidated
financial position or cash flows.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

We operaie internationally, accordingly, a substantial portion of our business is conducted in and our
financial instruments are held in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Our policy with respect to foreign
currency exposure is i0 manage financial exposure to certain foreign exchange fluctuations with the
objective of neutralizing some of the impact of foreign currency exchange movements. We typically have
entered into foreign erchange forward contracts to manage our exposures. The forward contracts have
typically been between the United States dollar and the euro, the British pound, the Swiss franc, the
Japanese yen, and the Australian dollar. Sensitivity analysis is used to measure our foreign currency
exchange rate risk. As of February 28, 2007, a 10% adverse change in foreign exchange rates versus the
U.S. dollar would havz decreased our reported cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments by
approximately two percent.

As we operate internitionally, a substantial portion of our business is also conducted in foreign
currencies other than tae U.S. dollar. Accordingly, our results are affected, and may be affected in the
future, by exchange rate fluctuations of the U.S. dollar relative to the Canadian dollar, to various
European currencies, aad, to a lesser extent, other foreign currencies. Revenues and expenses generated
in foreign currencies ae translated at exchange rates during the month in which the transaction occurs.
We cannot predict the effect of foreign exchange losses in the future; however, if significant foreign
exchange losses are experienced, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, and financi: | condition.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make
estimates and judgmenis that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses,
and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our
estimates based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying values of asscts and liabilities that may not be readily apparent from other sources. These
judgments may change based upon changes in business conditions. As a result, actual results may differ
from these estimates uniler different assumptions, conditions, and experience.

The following critical uccounting policies and significant estimates are used in the preparation of our
consolidated financial siatements:

¢ Revenue Recognition
Stock-based Compensation
» Allowance for Dioubtful Accounts
s Accounting for ‘ncome Taxes
* Business Combinations ’
e [mpairment of Coodwill and Long-lived Assets

37




Revenue Recognition - We tecognize revenue in accordance with Statement of Position (“SOP”} No. 97-
2, Software Revenue Recognition as amended by SOP No. 98-9, Software Revenue Recognition with
Respect to Certain Arrangements {collectively “SOP 97-27). As such, we exercise judgment and use
estimates in connection with the determination of the amount of software license, post-contract custoraer
support (“PCS”), and professional services (“services”) revenues to be recognized in each accounting
period.

We sell off-the-shelf software generally bundled with PCS and, on occasion, services in multiple-element
arrangements. SOP 97-2 tequires that judgment be applied to distinguish whether multiple elements in an
arrangement can be treated as separate accounting units. In order to account separately for the services
element of an arrangement that includes both product license and services, the services (a) must not be
essential to the functionality of any other element of the transaction and (b) must be stated separately
such that the total price of the arrangement can be expected to vary as a result of the inclusion or
exclusion of the services. If these two criteria are not met, the entire arrangement is accounted for using
the percentage of completion method in accordance with SOP 81-1, Accounting for Performance of
Construction Type and Certain Production Type Contracts. While the service element must be stated
separately, the service element does not have to be priced separately in the contract in order to separately
account for the services as a separate element of the transaction.

For substantially all of our software arrangements, we defer revenue for the PCS and services to be
provided to the customer based on vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of fair value and
recognize revenue for the product license when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists and
delivery of the software has occurred, provided the fee is fixed or determinable and collection is deemed
probable.

We evaluate each of these criteria as follows:
e Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists: Our standard business practice is that persuasive

evidence exists when we have a binding contract between ourselves and a customer for the
provision of software or services.

e Delivery has occurred: Delivery is considered to occur when media containing the licensed
programs is provided to a common carrier or, in the case of electronic delivery, the customer is
given access (o download the licensed program. Our typical end user license agreement does not
include customer acceptance provisions. We recognize revenue from resellers in the same
fashion as end user licenses unless fee payments are based upon the number of copies made or
ordered. In cases where the fees are linked to the number of copies, revenue is recognized upon
sell-through to the end customer based on the number of copies sold.

s The fee is fixed or determinable: A fee is fixed or determinable if it is a fixed amount of money
or an amount that can be determined at the commencement of the contract, and is payable on
Cognos’ standard payment terms. Fees are generally considered fixed or determinable unless a
significant portion (more than 10%) of the licensing fee is due more that 12 months after
delivery, in which case revenue is recognized when payment becomes due from the customer. In
addition, we only consider the fee to be fixed or determinable if the fee is not subject to refund or
adjustment. Our typical end user and reseller license agreements do not allow for refunds, returns
or adjustments to the licensing fee. However, in the rare circumstance where this might occur
and a refund, return or adjustment is agreed upon, revenue is recognized upon the expiration of
the rights of exchange or return. For resellers, if they are newly formed, undercapitalized, or in
financial difficulty, or if uncertainties about the number of copies to be sold by the reseller exist,
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fees are not considered fixed or determinable. If the arrangement fee is not fixed or determinable,
we recognize the revenue as amounts become due and payable.

¢ Collectibility js probable: We extend credit to credit worthy customers in order to facilitate our
business. Credit is extended through the process of risk identification, evaluation, and
containment. _n practical terms, this process will take the form of: customer credit checks;
established cradit limits for customers (where necessary); and predetermined terms of sale.
Collection is deemed probable if we expect that the customer will be able to pay amounts under
the arrangemeat as payments become due. If we determine that collection is not probable, we
defer the reverue and recognize the revenue upon cash collection.

Under the residual meihod prescribed by SOP 97-2, a portion of the arrangement fee is first allocated 10
undelivered elements included in the arrangement (i.e., PCS and services) based on VSOE of fair value,
with the remainder of :he arrangement fee being allocated to the delivered elements of the arrangement.
Our contracts commonly include product license, PCS, and services (e.g., education and consulting).
Each product license arangement requires careful analysis to ensure that each of the individual elements
in the transaction has keen identified, along with VSOE of the fair value of each element. If VSOE of fair
value cannot be established for the undelivered elements of a product license agreement, the entire
amount of revenue froin the arrangement is deferred and recognized over the period that these elements
are delivered.

Services revenue primerily consists of impilementation services related to the installation of our products
and training revenues. Qur software is ready to use by the customer upon receipt. While many of our
customers may choose to configure the software to fit their specific needs, our implementation services
do not invelve significsnt customization to or development of the underlying software code. Substantially
all of our services arrangements are billed on a time and materials basis and, accordingly, are recognized
as the services are performed. The fair value of the services portion of the arrangement is established
according to our standard price list, which includes quantity discounts, and it is based on our history of
separate sales nusing such price lists.

Our customers typically pre-pay PCS for the first year in connection with a new product license. In such
cases, an amount equal to VSOE of fair value for PCS is deferred and recognized ratably over the term of
the initial PCS contract, typically 12 months. PCS is renewable by the customer on an annual basis
thereafter. We use two methods to determine VSOE of fair value for PCS in a multi-element
arrangement: stated price and the price when an element is sold separately. If a stated rate (either a stated
renewal raie or a stated rate for the first year PCS bundled with the software license) is included in a
contract (i.e., the first method), that rate is used to account for the PCS provided to that customer,
provided that the rate is substantive and consistent with our customary pricing practices. Historically,
there has been a high correlation between the amounts allocated to PCS in the initial software licensing
arrangement for such arrangements and the amounts at which PCS is renewed. The second methed is the
price charged when the same element is sold separately. We account for PCS using the first method
when a stated PCS rate 1s included in a contract. For all other contracts, we establish VSOE of fair value
for PCS based upon the price charged when PCS is sold separately (i.e., the second method).

Our customer experience has shown that our contractual arrangements have historically used two forms
of contract terms regarcing PCS; contracts which include a stated PCS rate (either a stated renewal rate
or a stated rate for the first year PCS bundled with the software license); and contracts which do not state
a PCS rate. For contracts which include a stated renewal rate, we use that contractually stated renewal
rate to allocate arrangement consideration to the undelivered PCS at the inception of the arrangement and
recognize such considetation ratably over the PCS term provided that the stated rate is substantive and
consistent with our customary pricing practices. Historically, there has been a high correlation between
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the amounts allocated to PCS in the initial software licensing arrangement for such arrangements and the
amounts at which PCS is renewed.

For contracts that state a first year PCS rate, we use that stated rate to allocate arrangement consideration
to the undelivered PCS at the inception of the arrangement and recognize such consideration ratably over
the PCS term, provided that it is consistent with our customary pricing practices. Our customer
experience based on our continual monitoring of the process has been that this stated rate is typically the
rate at which PCS will be renewed and is a substantive rate. Historically, there has been a high
correlation between the amounts allocated to PCS in the initial software licensing arrangement for such
arrangements and the amounts at which PCS is renewed. If our renewals history began to indicate that
renewals were not highly correlated to the first year PCS amounts that we use to atlocate revenue to PCS
at the inception of the arrangement, then we would not be able to establish VSOE of fair value for PCS
for such contracts and revenue attributable to the software license and PCS would be recognized ratably
over the PCS period.

For contracts which do not state a PCS rate, we allocate a consistent percentage of the license fee to PCS
in the first year of such arrangements based on a substantive rate at which our customer experience
indicates custorners will typically agree to renew PCS. Historically, there has been a high correlation
between the mean of amounts allocated to PCS in the initial software licensing arrangement for such
arrangements and the mean of amounts at which PCS is renewed.

We allocate arrangement consideration to PCS included in a software licensing arrangement based upon
contemporaneous evidence of stand-alone prices and the application of controlled processes. These
controlled processes include making judgments about the amount of arrangement consideration to
allocate to PCS in contracts which do not state a PCS rate. Such judgments include continual monitoring
of customer acceptance of renewal rates by other customers of the same customer class and evaluating
customer tolerance for rate changes from a business standpoint at the time the initial license arrangement
is established. On an historical basis, the contemporaneous evidence used has enabled us to establish the
firsi year deferral consistent with the amount at which PCS has actually been renewed in the second and
subsequent years. We use these renewals, which represent separate contemporaneous sales of PCS, as a
basis to establish VSOE of fair value. Our process has historically provided experience to establish
VSOE for PCS due to our continual monitoring of the process. If there are changes in the customers’
acceptance of renewal rates or tolerance for rate change or our related ability to monitor and evaluate
those changes, we may no longer be able to establish VSOE of fair value for PCS and accordingly
revenue attributable to the software license and PCS would be recognized ratably over the PCS period.

We stratify our customers into three classes in determining VSOE of fair value for PCS. The
classifications are based on the amount of software license business (i.e., software license revenues), life-
to-date, that has previously been obtained from the respective customers. For each class of customer, a
range of prices exists which represents VSOE of fair value for PCS for that class of customer based upon
substantive renewals and our experience that there is a high correlation between the mean of amount
allocated to PCS in the initial software licensing arrangement for such arrangements and the mean of
amounts at which PCS is renewed.

When PCS in individual arrangements is stated below the lower limits of our acceptable ranges by
customer class, we adjust the percentage allocated for support upwards to the low end of the applicable
range by customer class. This adjustment allocates additional revenue from license revenue to deferred
PCS revenue which is amortized over the life of the PCS contract, which is typically one year. If the
stated PCS is above the reasonable range, no adjustment is made and the deferred PCS revenue is
measured at the contracted percentage.
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In determining VSOE of fair value for PCS, we conduct our analysis on the basis of customer classes as
described above. We do not consider other factors, such as: geographic regions or locations; type and
nature of products; distribution channel (i.e. direct and resellers); stage of licensed product life cycle;
other arrangement elernents; overall economics; term of the license arrangement; or other factors. We do
not differentiate our pricing policies based on these factors and our customer experience has indicated no
difference in customer renewal behavior based on these factors. While our renewal experience has not
shown differences in renewal behavior based on these discriminate factors, it is possible that changes
related to these factors or our related ability to monitor and evaluate those changes could occur. In such
circumstances, we may come to the determination that we can no longer substantiate VSOE of fair value
for PCS for some or ail of our software license agreements and revenue related to software licenses and
PCS in such agreemenis would be recognized ratably over the PCS period.

We recognize revenuz for resellers, value added resellers, original equipment manufacturers, and
strategic system integrators (collectively “resellers”) in a similar manner to our recognition of revenue
for end users.

Stock-based Compensction - Effective March 1, 2006, we adopted FAS 123R to account for our stock
option, stock purchase, deferred share and restricted share unit plans. We elected to implement FAS
123R using the modif ed retrospective method of transition provided by FAS 123R and, accordingly,
financial statement anounts for all prior periods presented herein reflect results as if the fair value
method of expensing had been applied from the original effective date of FAS 123, the predecessor to
FAS 123R.

Under this standard, companies are required to account for stock-based transactions using a fair value
method and recognize the expense in the consolidated statements of income. We previously accounted
for stock-based compeisation transactions using the intrinsic value method in accordance with APB 25
and provided the pro forma disclosures prescribed by FAS 123. Except for certain acquisition-related
options, the exercise price of all stock options is equal 1o the closing market price of the stock on the
trading day preceding the date of grant. Accordingly, with the exception of the acquisition-related
compensation and awards granted under our deferred share and restricted share unit plans, no
compensation cost had been recognized in the financial statements prior to fiscal 2007.

In order to calculate the: fair value of stock-based payment awards, we use a binomial lattice model. This
model requires the inprt of subjective assumptions, including stock price volatility, the expected exercise
behavior and forfeiture: rate. Expected volatilities are based on the historical volatility of our stock,
implied volatilities fror1 traded options on our stock and other relevant factors. We use historical data to
estimate option exercise and employee termination within the valuation model: separate groups of
employees that have siinilar exercise behavior and turnover rates are considered separately for valuation
purposes. The expecierd life of options granted is derived from the output of the option valuation model
and represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. The risk-free rate
for periods within the contractual life of the option are determined by the US Treasury yields and the
Government of Canada benchmark bond yields for U.S. dollar and Canadian dollar options, respectively,
in effect at the time of tie grant.

The assumptions usecd in calculating the fair value of stock-based payment awards represent
management’s best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of
management judgment. As a result, if factors change or we use different assumptions, our stock-based
compensation expense could be materially different in the future. Further, the liability incurred as a
result of our performan:e-based restricted share units and our deferred share unit plans is based on the
fair value of our stock on the balance sheet date. If the value of our stock were to change significantly,
our stock-based compensation expense could be significantty different in the future. We are also required
to estimate the forfeiture rate and only recognize the expense for those shares expected to vest. If our
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actual forfeiture rate is materially different from our estimate, our stock-based compensation expense
could be significantly different from what we have recorded in the period such determination is made.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses
resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. We regularly review our
accounts receivable and use our judgment to assess the collectibility of specific accounts and, based on
this assessment, an allowance is maintained for 100% of alt accounts over 360 days and specific accounts
deemed to be uncollectible. For those receivables not specifically identified as uncollectible, an
allowance is maintained for 1.5% of those receivables at February 28, 2007. In order to determine the
percentage used, we analyze, on an annual basis, the geographical aging of the accounts, the nature of the
receivables (i.e. license, maintenance, consulting), our historical collection experience, and current
economic conditions.

In the past, changes in these factors have resulted in adjustments to our allowance for doubtful accounts.
These adjustments have been accounted for as changes in estimates, the effect of which has not been
significant on our results of operations and financial condition. As these factors change, the estimates
made by management will also change, which will impact our provision for doubtful accounts in the
future. Specifically, if the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments, an additional provision for doubtful accounts may be
required.

Accounting for Income Taxes - As an entity which operates globally, we calculate our income tax
liabilities in each of the jurisdictions in which we conduct business. Our tax rate is therefore affected by
the relative profitability of our operations in various geographic regions. We are subject to ongoing tax
examinations and assessments in various jurisdictions. Accordingly, we may incur additional tax expense
based upon our assessment of the probable outcomes of such matters. In addition, when applicable, we
adjust the previously recorded tax expense to reflect examination results. QOur ongoing assessments of
the probable outcome of the examinations and related tax positions require judgment and can maternially
increase or decrease our effective 1ax rate as well as impact our operating results.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than
not to be realized. Although we have considered forecasted taxable income and ongoing prudent and
feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need for a valuation allowance, there is no assurance that |
the valuation allowance will not need to be adjusted to cover changes in deferred tax assets that may not
be realized.

Our valuation allowance pertains primarily to net operating loss carryforwards. A portion of these loss
carryforwards resulted from acquisitions. In the event we were to subsequently determine that we would
be able to realize deferred tax assets related to acquisitions in excess of the net purchase price allocated
to those deferred tax assets. we would record a credit to goodwitl.

If we were to determine that we would be able to realize deferred tax assets unrelated to acquisitions in
excess of the net recorded amount, an adjustment to the deferred tax asset would increase income in the
period such determination was made. Should we determine that we would not be able to realize all or
part of our net deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustment to the deferred tax asset would reduce
income in the period such determination was made.

We provide for withholding taxes on the undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiarics where
applicable. The ultimate tax lability related to the undistributed earnings could differ materially from the
liabilities recorded in our financial statements. These differences could have a material effect on our
income tax liabilities and our net income. '
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Business Combinations - We account for acquisitions of companies in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141, Business Combinations. We allocate the purchase
price to tangible assets, intangible assets, and liabilities based on fair values with the excess of purchase
price amount being allicated to goodwill.

Historically, our acqu sitions have resulted in the recognition of significant amounts of goodwill and
acquired intangible astets. In order to allocate a purchase price to these intangible assets and goodwill,
we make estimates anc judgments based on assumptions about the future income producing capabilities
of these assets and related future expected cash flows. We also make estimates about the useful life of the
acquired intangible assets. Should different conditions prevail, we could incur write-downs of goodwill,
write-downs of intangible assets, or changes in the estimation of useful life of those intangible assets. In
the past, we have made adjustments to the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets related to loss carry
forwards acquired through acquisitions and the restructuring accrual related to acquisitions. These
adjustments did not affsct our result of operations. Instead, these adjustments were applied to goodwill.

In accordance with SEAS No.142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”), goodwill is not
amortized, but is subject to annual impairment testing which is discussed in greater detail below under
Impairment of Goodwi/l and Long-lived Assets.

Intangible assets currently include acquired technology, contractual relationships, and trademarks and
patents. Acquired technology is initially recorded at fair value based on the present value of the estimated
net future income-producing capabilities of the software products acquired. Acquired technology is
amortized over its estimated useful life on a straight-line basis. Contractual relationships represent
contractual and separatle relationships that we have with certain customers and partners that we acquired
through acquisitions. "“hese contractual relationships were initially recorded at their fair value based on
the present value of expected future cash flows and are amortized over their estimated useful life.
Trademarks and patents are initially recorded at cost. Cost includes legal fees and other expenses
incurred in order to obtain these assets. They are amortized over their estimated useful life on a straight-
line basis.

In accordance with SFAS 142, we continuously evaluate the remaining useful life of our intangible assets
being amortized to determine whether events or circumstances warrant a revision to the estimated
remaining amortization period.

Other estimates associated with the accounting for acquisitions include restructuring costs. Restructuring
costs primarily relate to mnvoluntary émployee separations and accruals for vacating duplicate premises.
Restructuring costs associated with the pre-acquisition activities of an entity acquired are accounted for
in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force No. 95-3, Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a
Business Combination “'EITF 95-3"). To calculate restructuring costs accounted for under EITF 95-3,
management estimates ~he number of employees that will be involuntarily terminated and the associated
costs and the future cotts to operate and sublease duplicate facilities once they are vacated. Changes to
the restructuring plan could result in material adjustments to the restructuring accrual.

Impairment of Goodwill and Long-lived Assets - In accordance with SFAS 142, goodwill is subject to
annual impairment tests, or on a more frequent basis if events or conditions indicate that goodwill may be
impaired. Goodwill is tested for impairment at a level of reporting referred to as a reporting unit. The
Corporation as a whole is considered one reporting unit. Quoted market prices in active markets are
considered the best evidence of fair value. Therefore, the first step of our annual test is to compare the
fair value of our shares on The Nasdaq Global Select Market 1o the carrying value of our net assets. If
we determine that our carrying value exceeds our fair value, we would conduct a second step to the
goodwill impairment test. The second step compares the implied fair value of the goodwill (determined
as the excess fair value over the fair value assigned to our other assets and liabilities) to the carrying
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amount of goodwill. To date, we have not needed to perform the second step in testing goodwill
impairment. If the carrying amount of goodwill were to exceed the implied fair value of goodwill, an
impairment loss would be recognized. ‘

We evaluate all of our long-lived assets, including intangible assets other than goodwill and fixed assets,
periodically for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-lived Assets (“SFAS 144™). SFAS 144 requires that long-lived assets be evaluated for
impairment when events or changes in facts and circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not
be recoverable. Events or changes in facts or circumstances can include a strategic change in business
direction, decline or discontinuance of a product line, a reduction in our customer base, or a
restructuring. If one of these events or circumstances indicates that the carrying value of an asset may not
be recoverable, the amount of impairment will be measured as the difference between the carrying value
and the fair value of the impaired asset as calculated using a net realizable value methodology. An
impairment will be recorded as an operating expense in the period of the impairment and as a reduction
in the carrying value of that asset.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments
— an Amendment to SFAS Nos. 133 and 140 (“SFAS 1557). SFAS 155 permits fair value remeasurement
for any hybrid financial instrument that contains an embedded derivative that otherwise would require
bifurcation and clarifies which interest-only strips and principal-only strips are not subject to the
requirements of SFAS No. 133. This statement also establishes a requirement to evaluate interests in
securitized financial assets to identify interests that are fréestanding derivatives or that are hybrid
financial instruments that contain an embedded derivative requiring bifurcation and clarifies that
concentrations of credit risk in the form of subordination are not embedded derivatives. In addition,
SFAS 155 amends SFAS No. 140 to eliminate the prohibition on a qualifying special-purpose entity from
holding a derivative financial instrument that pertains to a beneficial interest other than another
derivative financial instrument. This Statement is effective for all financial instruments acquired or
issued after the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins afier September 15, 2006. We do not
expect the adoption of SFAS 155 to have a material impact on our consolidated results of operations and
financial condition.

In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 156, Accounting for Servicing of Financial Instruments — an
Amendment of SFAS No. 140 (“SFAS 156"). This Statement amends SFAS No. 140, Accounting for
Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities, with respect to the
accounting for separately recognized servicing assets and servicing liabilities. This Statement is effective
for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2006. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 156 to have
a material impact on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (“FIN 48™). This statement
clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in financial statements and prescribes
a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expected o be taken on a tax return, among other items. This
interpretation also provides guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting
in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. For Cognos, FIN 48 became effective as of the beginning of fiscal year 2008.
Pending further guidance from FASB, the Corporation expects to increase liabilities and decrease
retained earnings by $15 million to $25 million due to the adoption of FIN 48 in the first quarter of fiscal
year 2008.




In September 20006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158 (“SFAS 158”), Employers’ Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans an amendment to SFAS No's 87, 88, 106 and 132(R).
SFAS 158 requires an employer to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of a defined benefit
postretirement plan as an asset or a liability in its statement of financial position and to recognize
changes in that funded status in the year in which the changes occur through comprehensive income.
SFAS 158 is effective as of the end of fiscal years ending after December 15, 2006. The Corporation has
adopted SFAS 158 in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2007. The Corporation has determined that the
adoption of SFAS 148 has not had a material impact on its consolidated results of operations and
financial condition.

In September 2006, tte FASB issued SFAS No. 157 (“SFAS 157"}, Fair Value Measurements, which
defines fair value, est: blishes guidelines for measuring fair value and expands disclosures regarding fair
value measurements. HFAS 157 does not require any new fair value measurements but rather eliminates
inconsistencies in guic ance found in various prior accounting pronouncements. SFAS 157 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. Earlier adoption is permitted. We are currently
evaluating the impact >f SFAS 157 on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. We
do not expect the adoption of SFAS 157 to have a material impact on our consolidated results of
operations and financial condition.
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QUARTERLY RESULTS

The following table sets out selected unaudited consolidated financial information for each quarter in
fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006.

Fiscal 2000 Fiscal 2007
First Second Third Fourth First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter (Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
($000s, except per share amounts, U.S. GAAP)
Revenue $200,075  $212,042  $212.254  3253.129 $217,040  $229,890  $247,799  $284,535
Cost of revenue 42,515 43,028 44,044 43,538 50,500 52,634 59,336 52,010
Gross margin 157,560 169,014 168,210 209,591 166,540 177,256 188,463 232,525
Operating expenses
Selling, general, and
administrative 105,715 109,327 110,753 134,652 117,592 117,981 137,663 130,993
Research and development 29,765 29,520 28,287 31,218 33,279 33,869 36,436 32,004
Amortization of acquisition- ¢
related intangibles 1,637 1,637 1.684 1,697 1,701 1,702 1,701 1,757
Total operating expenses 137.117 140,484 140,724 167,567 152,572 153,552 175,800 164,844
Operating income $ 20,443 § 28,530 $ 27,486 $42,004 $ 13,968 $ 23,704 $ 12,663 $ 67,681
Net income $20,372 524,900 $ 24,010 539,294 $ 14,538 $ 23,760 $ 16,543 $ 60,856
Net income per share
Basic $0.22 $0.27 $0.27 $0.44 $0.16 $0.26 $0.19 $0.68
Diluted §0.22 $0.27 50.26 $0.43 $0.16 $0.26 $0.18 $0.67
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET
RISK

For quantitative and qaalitative disclosures about market risk, reference is made to “Market Risk™ in Item
7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this Form
10-K, and Note 9 of t1e Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8, Financial Statements
and Supplementary Deta of this Form 10-K.
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COGNOS INCORPORATED

REPORT OF MANAGEMENT ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING:

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Corporation’s m:nagement is responsible for preparing the accompanying consolidated financial
statements in conforniity with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). In
preparing these consolidated financial statements, management selects appropriate accounting policies
and uses its judgment and best estimates to report events and transactions as they occur. Management has
determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the financial statements are
presented fairly, in all material respects. Financial data included throughout this annual report is prepared
on a basis consistent with that of the consolidated financial statements.

Emst & Young LLP, the independent auditors appointed by the stockholders, have been engaged to
conduct an examinaticn of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards, and have expressed their opinion on these statements.

The Board of Directors is responsible for oversight and governance of the process management follows
to ensure the fulfillment of their responsibility for financial reporting and internal control. The Board is
ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. The Board
carries out this responsibility principally through its Audit Committee which is comprised of outside
Directors. The Committee meets at least four times annually to review audited and unaudited financial
information prior to its public release. The Committee also considers, for review by the Board of
Directors and approva. by the stockholders, the engagement or reappointment of the external auditors.
Ernst & Young LLP has full and free access to the Audit Committee.

Management acknowledges its responsibility to provide financial information that is representative of the
Corporation’s operatioas, is consistent and reliable, and is relevant for the informed evaluation of the
Corporation’s activities.

INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Corporation’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting, (*“Internal Control”) for the Corporation. Internal Control is a set of processes
designed by, or under the supervision of, the Corporation’s CEO and CFO, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the: reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with United States GAAP. Please refer to “Item 9A. Controls and
Procedures” of this ann'1al report on Form 10-K for the limitations of Internal Control.

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Corporation’s management, including the
Corporation’s CEO and CFO, the Corporation conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its Internal
Control based on critzria established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework™ issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, also known as COSO. Based on
this evaluation under the COSO framework, management concluded that the Corporation’s Internal
Control over Financial Reporting was effective in providing reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of its financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with GAAP as of February 28, 2007.
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Management's assessment of the effectiveness of the Corporation’s Internal Control as of February 28,
2007 has been audited by Emst & Young LLP, the Corporation’s independent registered public
accounting firm. Their attestation and report are included further on in this Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

s/ Robert G. Ashe s/ Tom Maniey
Robert G. Ashe Tom Manley
President and Chief Executive Officer Senior Vice President,

Finance & Administration and Chief
Financial Officer

March 28, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders of Cognos Incorporated

We have audited the :iccompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cognos Incorporated as of February
28, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash
flows for each of the wrears in the three-year period ended February 28, 2007. Our audits also include the
financial statement schedule listed in the Index at (a) 2 in Item 15. These financial statements and
schedule are the responsibility of the Corporation’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our avdits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are
free of material miss:atement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and sigmificant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Cognos Incorporated at February 28, 2007 and 2000, and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended February 28, 2007, in
conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinton, the related
financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a
whole, presents fairty in all material respects the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of Cognos Incorporated’s internal control over financial
reporting as of Febriary 28, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our
report dated March 28, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

As discussed in Note .. to the consolidated financial statements, effective March 1, 2007, the Corporation
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, “Share-Based Payments” using the
modified retrospective transition method.

Ottawa, Canada /s ERNST & YOUNGLLP
March 28, 2007 Chartered Accountants
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To The Shareholders of Cognos Incorporated

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying “Report of Management on
Financial Statements and Internal Controls over Financial Reporting”, that Cognos Incorporated
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of February 28, 2007, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Cognos Incorporated’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
" misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Cognos Incorporated maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of Februvary 28, 2007, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the
COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, Cognos Incorporated maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of February 28, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.
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We also have audited, in accordance with the Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial
statements of Cognos Incorporated and our report dated March 28, 2007 expressed an unqualified

opinion thereon.

Ottawa, Canada . /s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
March 28, 2007 Chartered Accountants
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COGNOS INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(US$000s except share amounts, U.S. GAAP)

Years Ended the Last Day of February,

Note 2007 2006 2005

Revenue

Product license $376,211 $343,247 $362,958

Product support 422,473 371,985 320,451

Services 180,580 162,268 142,122
Total revenue 979,264 877.500 825,531
Cost of revenue

Cost of product license 6,783 6,297 3,025

Cost of product support 46,770 36,911 33,325

Cost of services 160,927 120917 114,350
Total cost of revenue 214,480 173,125 150,700
Gross margin 764,784 704,375 674,831
Operating expenses

Selling, general, and administrative 504,229 460,447 418,301

Research and development 135,678 118,790 109,411

Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets 6,361 6,655 5,602
Total operating expenses 646,768 585,892 533,314
Operating income 118,016 118.483 141,517
Interest and other income, net 24,903 17,163 6,571
Income before taxes 142,919 135,646 148,088
Income tax provision 10 27,222 27,070 26,614
Net income $115,697 $108,576 $121,474
Net income per share 11

Basic $1.29 $1.20 $1.34

Diluted $1.28 $1.17 $1.30
Weighted average number of shares (000s) 11

Basic 89,674 90,564 90,517

Diluted 90,563 92,605 93,238

(5ee accompanying notes)
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COGNOS INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(US$000s, U.S. GAAP)

February 28,  February 28,
Note 2007 2006
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9 $ 376,762 $ 398,634
Short-term investme ats 9 315,131 152,368
Accounts receivable 2 221,393 216,850
Income taxes receivable 2,274 1,363
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 29,724 31,978
Deferred tax assets 10 13,768 12,936
959,052 814,129
Fixed assets, net 3 72,256 75,821
Intangible assets, net 4,6 17.767 22,125
Other assets 9 5,642 6,096
Deferred tax assets 10 5,950 6,928
Goodwill 5,6 232,094 225,709
$1,292,761 $1,150,808
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 36970 § 33975
Accrued charges 6 36,028 30,799
Salaries, commissions, and related items 6 96,970 73,229
Income taxes payabl: 8,743 6,009
Deferred income taxz=s 10 6,363 4,118
Deferred revenue 284,896 246,562
470,570 394,692
Deferred income taxes 10 30,751 30,344
501,321 425,036
Commitments and Coutingencies 6,8
Stockholders' Equity
Capital stock
Common shares and additional paid-in capital
(2007 - 89,725,774; 1:006 — 89,826,706) 11 535,589 439.680
Treasury shares (2007 - 617,369; 2006 — 55.970) (22,064) (1,563)
Retained earnings . 273,575 283,168
Accumulated other comnprehensive income 4,340 4,487
791,440 725,772
$1,292,761 $1,150,808

(See accompanying notes)

On behalf of the Board:

/s/ John E. Caldwell
John E. Caldwell, Director

/s/ Renato Zambonini
Renato Zambonini, Chairman
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COGNOS INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(US$000s, U.S. GAAP)

Years Ended the Last Day of February
2007 2006 2005
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 115,697 $108,576 $121,474
Non-cash items
Depreciation and amortization 30,407 29,362 26,384
Stock-based compznsation 19,912 19,500 t7,879
Deferred income tixes 7,622 5,197 (4.691)
Loss on disposal cf fixed assets 326 521 413
Change in non-cash working capital
Decrease (increase:) in accounts receivable 409 (30,245 (23,734)
Increase in income: tax receivable (888) (261) (478)
Decrease (increase:) in prepaid expenses and other
current assets 3,501 (7,563) (118)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 2,283 3,409 (5,900
Increase (decrease) in accrued charges 4,898 (714) {(2,891)
. Increase (decrease) in salaries, commissions,
and related items 22,230 (16,168) 23,987
Increase (decrease) in income taxes payable 2,298 (15,461) 15,510
Increase in deferred revenue 22,303 30,606 32,313
Net cash provided by uperating activities 230,998 126,759 200,148
Cash flows from investing activities
Maturity of short-term investments 602,211 450,727 330,716
Purchase of short-term investments (762,489) (458,543) - (311,689)
Additions to fixed assets (18,711) (21,840) (17,516)
Additions to intangible assets (1,497) (1,125 CrE)]
Decrease (increase) :n other assets 50 426 (6,378)
Acquisition costs, net of cash and cash equivalents {10,516) {4,546) (51,887
Net cash used in inves:ing activities (190,952) (34,901) (57,731)
Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of common shzres 82,441 32,504 47053
Purchase of treasury shares (21,185) (890) (335)
Repurchase of shares (125,057) (97,527) (42,735)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (63,801) (65,913) 3,983
Effect of exchange rat: changes on cash 1,883 (5,659) 7,118
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (21,872) 20,286 153,518
Cash and cash equivzlents, beginning of period 398,634 378,348 224,830
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 376,762 398,634 378,348
Short-term investrment:, end of period 315,131 152,368 144,552
Cash, cash equivalenis, and short-term investments,
end of period $ 691,893 $551,002  $522,900

(See accompanying notes)
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Qperations

Cognos Incorporated (the “Corporation™) is a global leader in business intelligence and
performance management (“PM”) software solutions. The Corporation’s solutions help improve
business performance by enabling planned performance management through the consistent
reporting and analysis of data derived from various sources. The Corporation’s integrated
solutions consist of a suite of business intelligence components, performance management
solutions, and analytical applications. The Corporation’s customers can strategically apply these
software solutions across the extended enterprise to address their need for PM. The solution for
PM allows users to effectively manage the full business cycle with planning, budgeting,
consolidation, reporting, analysis, and scorecarding functionality. The Corporation markets and
supports these solutions both directly and through partners and resellers worldwide.

Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Corporation in United States
(“U.S.”) dollars and in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”), applied on a consistent basis unless otherwise stated.

Basis of Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its

subsidianes.

The Corporation applies Financial Accounting Standards Boards (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46
(Revised), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (“FIN 46 (R)”) in respect of an
undercapitalized distributor in which the Corporation has an investment and which qualifies as a
variable interest entity. The adoption of FIN 46 (R) did not have a material impact on the
Corporation’s financial condition or results of operations. The assets of the variable interest
entity are classified as cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable and are not material to
these consolidated financial statements. The creditors of this variable interest entity have no
recourse to the general credit of the Corporation.

All subsidiaries, except for the variable interest entity described above, are wholly owned.
Intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Business Combinations

The Corporation accounts for acquisitions of companies in accordance with FASB Statement No.
141, Business Combinations (“SFAS 141). The Corporation allocates the purchase price to
tangible assets, intangible assets, and liabilities based on estimated fair values at date of
acquisition with the excess of the purchase price amount being allocated to goodwill.

Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
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consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes. In particular, management makes
judgments related to, among other things, revenue recognition, stock-based compensation, the
allowance for doubtful accounts, income taxes, business acquisitions and the related goodwill,
intangibles and restructuring accrual, and the impairment of goodwill and long-tived assets. In
the opinion of minagement, these consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments
necessary to present fairly the results for the periods presented. Actual results could differ from
these estimates.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive Income includes net income and other comprehensive income (“OCI”). OCI
refers to changes ir net assets from certain transactions and other events, and circumstances other
than transactions with stockholders. These changes are recorded directly as a separate component
of Stockholders’ Lquity and excluded from net income. OCI includes the foreign currency
translation adjustments for subsidiaries that do not use the U.S. dollar as their functional
currency net of gains or losses on derivatives designated as a hedge of the net investment in
foreign operations, the effective portion of cash flow hedges where the hedged itern has not yet
been recognized m income, and changes in the funded status of the defined benefits
postretirement plar that has not yet been recognized in income. Tax effects of foreign currency
translation adjustmznts pertaining to those subsidiaries are generally included in OCI.

Foreign Currency Translation

The financial statzments of the parent company and its non-U.S. subsidiaries have been
translated into U.S. dollars in accordance with FASB Statement No. 52, Foreign Currency
Translation. The financial statements of the parent and the majority of its foreign subsidiaries are
measured using local currency as the functional currency. All balance sheet amounts have been
translated using the exchange rates in effect at the applicable year end. Income statement
amounts have been translated using the weighted average exchange rate for the applicable year.
The gains and loss:s resulting from the changes in exchange rates from year to year have been
reported as a separzie component of Stockholders™ Equity.

Currency transaction gains and losses are immaterial for all periods presented.

Revenue Recognition

The Corporation recognizes revenue in accordance with Statement of Position (“SOP™) 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognition as amended by SOP 98-9, Software Revenue Recognition with
Respect to Certain Arrangements (collectively “SOP 97-27) issued by the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

The Corporation re:ognizes revenue only when all of the following criteria are met: persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable, and
collectibility is probable. For contracts with multiple obligations, the Corporation allocates
revenue to the und:livered elements of a contract based on vendor specific objective evidence
(“VSOE™) of the fair value of those elements and allocates revenue to the delivered elements,
principally license rzvenue, using the residual method as described in SOP 97-2.
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Substantially all of the Corporation's product license revenue is earned from licenses of off-the-
shelf software requiring no customization. If a license includes the right to return the product for
refund or credit, revenue is deferred, unti! the right of return lapses.

Revenue from post-contract customer support (“PCS”) contracts is recognized ratably over the
life of the contract, typically 12 months. Incremental costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of PCS contracts, which would not have been incurred but for the acquisition of that contract, are
deferred and expensed in the period the related revenue is recognized. These costs include
commissions payable on sales of support contracts.

Many of the Corporation’s sales include both software and services. The services are not
essential to the functionality of any other element of the transaction and are stated separately
such that the total price of the arrangement is expected to vary as a result of the inclusion or
exclusion of the service. Accordingly services revenue from education, consulting, and other
services is recognized at the time such services are rendered, and the software element is
accounted for separately from the service element.

As required by SOP 97-2, the Corporation establishes VSOE of fair value for each element of a
contract with multiple elements (i.e., delivered and undelivered products, support obligations,
education, consulting, and other services). The Corporation determines VSOE for service
etements based on the normal pricing and discounting practices for those elements when they are
sold separately. For PCS, VSOE of fair value is based on the PCS rates contractually agreed to
with customers, if the rate is consistent with our customary pricing practices. Absent a stated
PCS rate, a consistent rate which represents the price when PCS is sold separately based on PCS
renewals is used.

We have historically used two forms of contract terms regarding PCS: contracts which include a
stated PCS rate (either a stated renewal rate or a stated rate for the first year PCS bundled with
the software license); and contracts which do not state a PCS rate. For contracts which tnclude a
stated renewal rate, we use the contractually stated remewal rate to allocate arrangement
consideration to the undelivered PCS at the inception of the arrangement and recognize such
consideration ratably over the PCS term provided that the stated rate is substantive and consistent
with our customary pricing practices. Historically, there has been a high correlation between the
amounts allocated to PCS in the initial software licensing arrangement for such arrangements and
the amounts at which PCS is renewed.

For contracts that have a stated first year PCS rate, we use such stated prices to allocate
arrangement consideration to the undelivered PCS at the inception of the arrangement and
recognize such consideration ratably over the PCS term, provided that it is substantive and
consistent with our customary pricing practices, as this is typically the rate at which PCS will be
renewed. Historically, there has been a high correlation between the amounts allocated to PCS in
the initial software licensing arrangement for such arrangements and the amounts at which PCS
is renewed.

For contracts which do not state a PCS rate, we allocate a consistent percentage of the license fee

to PCS in the first year of such arrangements based on a substantive rate at which our customer
experience indicates customers will typically agree to renew PCS. Historically, there has been a
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high correlation between the mean of amounts allocated to PCS in the initial software licensing
arrangement for such arrangements and the mean of amounts at which PCS is renewed.

We stratify our customers into three classes in determining VSOE of fair value for PCS. The
classifications are based on the amount of software license business (i.e., software license
revenues), life-to-late, that has previously been obtained from the respective customers. For
each class of custcmer, a range of prices exists which represents VSOE of fair value for PCS for
that class of custoraer.

When PCS in individual arrangements is stated below the lower limits of our acceptable ranges
by customer class, we adjust the percentage allocated for support upwards to the low end of the
applicable range by customer class. This adjustment allocates additional revenue from license
revenue to deferred PCS revenue which is amortized over the life of the PCS contract, which is
typically one year. If the stated PCS is above the reasonable range, no adjustment is made and
the deferred PCS rzvenue is measured at the contracted percentage.

The Corporation r:cognizes revenue for resellers in a similar manner to revenue for end users.
The Corporation re:cognizes revenue on physical transfer of the master copy to the reseller if the
license fee is a one-time up-front fixed irrevocable payment and all other revenue recognition
criteria have been met. If there are multiple license fee payments based on the number of copies
made or ordered, delivery occurs and revenue is recognized when the copies are licensed and
delivered to an encl user. It is the Corporation’s general business practice not to offer or agree to
exchanges or returns with resellers. If a reseller is newly formed, undercapitalized or in financial
difficulty, or if uncertainties about the number of copies to be sold by the reseller exist, revenue
is deferred and recognized when cash is received if all other revenue recognition criteria have
been met.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Short-Term Investments

Cash includes cash equivalents, which are investments that are held to maturity and have terms to
maturity of three months or less at the time of acquisition. Cash equivalents typically consist of
commercial paper, term deposits, banker’s acceptances and bearer deposit notes issued by major
North American bznks, and corporate debt. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost, which
approximates their fair value.

Short-term investirents are investments that are highly liquid, held to maturity, and have terms
greater than three months, but less than one year, at the time of acquisition. Short-term
investments typically consist of commercial paper and corporate bonds. Short-term investments
are carried at cost, ‘¥hich approximates their fair value.

Derivative Financial Instruments

In accordance with FASB Statement No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities “SFAS 133”) and the corresponding amendments under FASB Statement No.
138, Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities — an
amendment to SFAS No. 133, all derivatives, whether designated in hedging relationships or not,
are recorded on thz balance sheet at fair value. If the derivative is designated as a fair value
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hedge, the changes in the fair value of the derivative and of the hedged item are recognized in net
income. If the derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective portions of changes in
the fair value of the derivative are recorded in OCI and are recognized in net income when the
hedged item affects net income. If the derivative is designated a hedge of net investment in
foreign operations, the changes in fair value are reported in OCI as part of the cumulative
translation adjustment to the extent that it is effective.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Corporation maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting
from the inability of its customers to make required payments. An allowance is maintained for
100% of all accounts deemed to be uncollectible. For those receivables not specifically
identified as uncollectible, an allowance is maintained for a specific percentage of those
receivables based on the aging of the accounts, the Corporation's historical collection experience,
and current economic conditions.

Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost. Computer equipment and software, and the building, are
depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful life. Office furniture is
depreciated using the diminishing balance method. Building improvements are amortized using
the straight-line method over the life of the improvement. Leasehold improvements are amortized
using the straight-line method over either the life of the improvement or the term of the lease,
whichever is shorter. Fixed assets are tested for impairment when evidence of a decline in value
exists and are adjusted to estimated fair value if the asset is impaired.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of acquired technology and contractual relationships associated with
various acquisitions, as well as trademarks and patents.

Acquired technology is initially recorded at fair value based on the present value of the estimated
net future income-producing capabilities of software products acquired on acquisitions or on the
estimated cost to develop the technology internally. Acquired technology is amortized over its
estimated useful life on a straight-line basis.

Contractual relationships represent relationships that the Corporation has with certain customers
and partners that are based on contractual or legal rights and are considered separable. These
contractual relationships were acquired by the Corporation through business combinations and
were initially recorded at théir fair value based on the present value of expected future cash
flows. Contractual relationships are amortized over their estimated useful lives.

Trademarks and patents are initially recorded at cost. Cost includes legal fees and other
expenses incurred in order to obtain these assets. They are amortized over their estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. )

The Corporation continuously evaluates the remaining useful life of its intangible assets being

amortized to determine whether events and circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining
period of amortization. The Corporation evaluates the expected future net cash flows of its
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intangible assets annually. If the book values of the assets were impaired, they would be adjusted
to fair value based on discounted cash flows.

Deferred Software Development Costs

Development costs incurred internally in creating computer software to be sold, licensed, or
otherwise marketed, are expensed as incurred unless they meet generally accepted -accounting
criteria for defer;al and amortization. Software development costs incurred prior to the
establishment of technological feasibility do not meet these criteria, and are expensed as
incurred. Research costs are expensed as incurred. For costs that are capitalized, the amortization
is the greater of the amount calculated using either (i} the ratio that the appropriate product's
current gross revenues bear to the total of current and anticipated future gross revenues for that
product, or (ii) the: straight-line method over the remaining economic life of the product. Such
amortization is recorded over a period not exceeding three years. The Corporation reassesses
whether it has met the relevant criteria for continued deferral and amortization at each reporting
date. The Corporaion did not capitalize any costs of internally-developed computer software to
be sold, licensed, or otherwise marketed, and recognized no amortization expense in fiscal 2007,
2006, and 2005.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of acquired companies over the estimated
fair value of the aet tangible and intangible assets acquired. The Corporation accounts for
goodwill in accordance with FASB Statement No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
(“SFAS 1427). Under SFAS 142, goodwill is not amortized, but is subject to annual impairment
tests based on rhe market capitalization of the Corporation in accordance with the
pronouncement,

Income Taxes

The Corporation uses the liability method in accounting for income taxes in accordance with
FASB Statement Mo. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets
and liabilities are Jetermined based on differences between financial reporting and income tax
bases of assets and liabilities, and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws. A valuation
allowance is recorled to the extent that it is considered more likely than not that deferred tax
assets will not be realized. '

Stock-Based Compensation

The Corporation udopted FASB Statement No. 123 (revised), Share-based Payment (“FAS
123R”) on March 1, 2006 to account for its stock option, stock purchase, deferred share, and
restricted share urit plans. This standard addresses the accounting for stock-based payment
transactions in which a corporation receives employee services in exchange for either equity
instruments of the corporation or liabilities that are based on the fair value of the corporation’s
equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of such equity instruments. Under this
standard, companic¢s are required to account for such transactions using a fair value method and
recognize the expznse over the requisite service period of the award in the consolidated
statements of incone.
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The Corporation previously accounted for stock-based compensation transactions using the
intrinsic value method in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion 25,
Accounting for Stock lssued to Employees (“APB 25"} and provided the pro forma disclosures
prescribed by FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-based Compensation (“FAS
123”), the predecessor to FAS 123R. Except for certain acquisition-related options and the
options discussed in Note 11 “Shareholder’s Equity - Impact of SAB 108", the exercise price of
all stock options is equal to the closing market price of the stock on the trading day preceding the
date of grant. Accordingly, with the exception of certain acquisition-related compensation and
awards granted under the Corporation’s deferred share and restricted share unit plans, no
compensation cost had been recognized in the financial statements prior to fiscal 2007, under
APB 25, the Corporation has elected the modified retrospective method of transition provided by
FAS 123R and, accordingly, financial statement amounts for all prior periods presented herein
reflect results as if the fair value method of expensing had been applied on a basis consistent
with the pro forma disclosures required in those periods by FAS 123.

In March 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issued SEC Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 107, Share-based Payment (“SAB 1077) regarding the application of FAS 123R.
The Corporation has applied the provisions of SAB 107 in its adoption of FAS 123R.

The following tables set forth the increase (decrease) to the Corporation’s consolidated
statements of income and balance sheets as a result of the adoption of FAS 123R for the years
ended February 28, 2006 and 2005: (000s, except per share amounts)

Impact of Change for
Adoption of FAS 123R
For the year ended

February 28§, February 28,
2006 2005
Consolidated Statement of Income
Operating income $(18,820) $(17.138)
Net income (16,226) (15,130}
Net income per share (basic) $(0.18) $(0.17)
Net income per share (dituted) $(0.18) $0.17)
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Impact of Change
for Adoption of FAS 123R
February 28, February 28,
: - 2006 2005
Consolidated 3alance Sheet
Deferred inconie tax asset ‘ $ 6,792 $ 6,018

Stockholders’ equity:
Common shares and additional paid-in

Capital 159,737 142,962
Deferred stock-based compensation 501 27
Retained earnings (153,446) (137,221)

Net Stockholders’ equity $ 6792 $ 6,018

The Corporation uies the straight-line attribution method to recognize stock-based compensation
expense over the requisite service period of its awards with service conditions only and the
graded attribution 1nethod for its performance-based awards. Stock-based compensation expense
is recorded, consistent with other compensation expenses, in cost of support, cost of services,
selling, general an1 administrative expenses or research and development expenses, depending
on the employee’s job function.

When recording compensation cost for equity awards, FAS 123R requires corporations to
estimate the numbzr of equity awards granted that are expected to be forfeited. Prior to the
adoption of FAS [23R, the Corporation recognized forfeitures when they occurred, rather than
using an estimate at the grant date, and subsequently adjusting the estimated forfeitures to reflect
actual forfeitures.

Stock-based compensation expense recognized for the three fiscal years is as follows:

2007 2006 2005

Compensation cost recognized

Cost of Produ:t Support $ 355 $ 505 $ 520
Cost of Services 766 897 1,048
Selling, General and Administrative 21,441 14,048 12,831
Research and Development 2,032 4,050 3,473
Total 24,594 16,500 17,872
Tax benefit recognized (5,099) (2,595) (2,007
Net Stock-bas2d Compensation Cost $19,495 $16,905 $15,865
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Stock Options

The fair value of the options granted after March 1, 2005 was estimated at the date of grant using
a binomial lattice option-pricing model. Prior to March 1, 2005, the Corporation used the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model to estimate the fair value of options at the grant date. The
following weighted-average assumptions were used for options granted during the following
periods:

2007 2006 2005
Risk-free interest rates 4.2% 3.8% 3.2%
Expected volatility 39% 33% 51%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Expected life of options (years) 38 3.8 4.3

Expected volatilities are based on historical volatility of the Corporation’s stock, implied
volatilities from traded options on the Corporation’s stock, and other relevant factors. The
Corporation uses historical data to estimate option exercise and employee termination within the
valuation model. Separate groups of employees that have similar exercise behavior and turnover
rates are considered separately for valuation purposes. The expected life of the options granted
is derived from the output of the option valuation model and represents the period of time that
options granted are expected to be outstanding. The risk-free rate for periods within the
contractual life of the option are determined by the US Treasury yields for US dollar options and
the Government of Canada benchmark bond yields for Canadian dollar options in effect at the

time of the grant.

2. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable i'nclude an allowance for doubtful accounts of $5,586,000 and $7,565,000 as
of February 28, 2007 and February 28, 2006, respectively.
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3. FIXED ASSETS

2007 2006
Accemulated Acammilated
Depreciation Depreciation Depreciation/
and and Amortization
Cost Amortization Cost Amortization Rate
($000s) ($000s)
Computer equipment and
software $ 116,464 $ 96,657 $ 111,801 $ 90,960 33%
Office furniture 52,352 36,843 49,120 33,644 20-30%
, Building and Life of
' leasehold improvements 35,013 21,688 31,813 17.834 improvement/
lease term
Land 1,015 - 1,043 - -
Building 30,386 7,786 31,511 7,029 2.5-4%
235,230 $162,974 225,288 $149 467
Accumulated
depreciation and .
amortization ©(162,974) (149,467)
Net book value $ 72,256 $ 75,821

Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets was $22,560,000, $21,888,000, and $20,152,000,
in each of fiscal 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.

4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2007 2006
Acaumulated Accurmulated Amortization
Cost Amortization Cost Amoxtization Rate
($000s) ($000s)
Acquired technology $ 43,107 $33,758 $41,611 $28,194 20%
Contractual relatior ships 10,154 4,609 9.654 3,328 12.5%
Trademarks and patents 7,217 4,344 5,724 3,342 20%
60,478 $42,711 56,989 $34,864
Accumulated
amortization (42,711) (34,864)
Net book value $17,767 $22,125

During fiscal 2007. acquired technology and contractual relationships increased by $1,496,000

and $500,000,

respectively,
(“Celequest”™). (Sez Note 6 “Acquisitions”).

resulting from the acquisition of Celequest
During fiscal 2006, acquired technology and

Corporation

contractual relationships increased by $1,192,000 and $46,000, respectively, resulting from the

87




COGNOS INCORPORATED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in U.S. dollars, unless otherwise stated)
{(In accordance with U.S. GAAP)

acquisitions of Databeacon Inc. (“Databeacon”) and Digital Aspects Holdings Ltd (“Digital
Aspects™). Trademarks and patents increased by $1,493,000 and $1,127,000 in fiscal 2007 and
2000, respectively.

The amortization of trademarks and patents is included in selling, general, and administrative
expenses and the amortization of acquired technology and contractual relationships is included in
income as amortization of acquisition-related intangibles. The following table sets forth the
allocations:

2007 2006 2005
($000s)
Amortization of acquisition-
related intangibles $6,861 $6.655 $5,602
Selling, general, and
administrative expenses 986 819 630
Total $7,847 $7.474 $6,232

The estimated amortization expense related to intangible assets in existence as at February 28,
2007, over the next five years is as follows: ($000s)

2008 $7.585
2009 4,051
2010 3,263
2011 2,360
2012 508

5. GOODWILL

There were net additions to goodwill of $6,385,000 and $4,219,000 during fiscal 2007 and 2006,
respectively. The increase in fiscal 2007 was the result of the acquisition of Celequest, offset
primarily by the utilization of tax losses related to the acquisition of Adaytum Inc. (*Adaytum’)
of $2,000,000 and by the reductions to the estimated restructuring costs related to Frango AB
(“Frango”) of $1,000,000. The increase in fiscal 2006 was the result of the acquisitions of
Databeacon and Digital Aspects partially offset by adjustments to the estimated restructuring
accrual adopted as a result of the acquisition of Frango (See Note 6 “Acquisitions™).

The changes in goodwill for fiscal 2007 and 2006 are summarized below: (3000s)
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i . 2007 2006
Beginning balance ' $225,709 $221,490
Additions to g oodwill related to current year
acquisitions 9.420 5471
Adjustments to goodwill from prior years
acquisitions (3,035) (1,252)
Closing balan:e $232,094 $225,709

In accordance with the pronouncements of SFAS 142, goodwill is not amortized but is subject to
an annual impairment test. The Corporation has designated the beginning of its fiscal year as the
date for the annual impairment test. The Corporation performed the required impairment tests of
goodwill as of Maich 1, 2007 and 2006. Based on these tests, goodwill is not considered to be
impaired. '

6. ACQUISITIONS

Fiscal 2007 Acquisitions

In January 2007, the Corporation acquired Celequest, a provider of operational business
intelligence soluticns based in Redwood, California. The Corporation purchased Celequest
primarily to enhance its performance management solutions with Celequest’s innovation in real-
time information monitoring and self-service dashboard creation.

This acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 141, Business Combinations (“SFAS 1417).

The purchase consideration for Celequest was approximately $10,583,000 paid in cash. Direct
costs associated wita the acquisition were approximately $400,000.

The purchase of (Celequest did not involve the write-off of any in-process research and
development.

Of the total purchase price, $1,996,000 was allocated to intangible assets, subject to
amortization. Of th:s amount, $1,496,000 was allocated to acquired technology and $500,000
was allocated to contractual relationships. Neither intangible asset is expected to have any
residual value. The amortization period for both the acquired technology and the contractual
relationships is fivz years. The weighted average amortization for these intangible assets
acquired is five years. The fair values of these intangible assets were assigned using the
discounted cashflow method, which discounts the present value of the free cashflows expected to
be generated by the assets. The amortization periods were determined using the estimated
economic useful life of the asset.
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As part of this acquisition, the Corporation also established approximately $88,000 in deferred
tax assets related to reserves resulting from the acquisition. These may be available to reduce
taxes payable in future years. The Corporation has taken a full valuation allowance against these
deferred tax assets as it does not believe they meet the more-likely-than-not criteria for
recognition. Deferred taxes were not established for the acquired pre-acquisition losses of
Celequest as the Corporation will make an election under IRC §338, which allows it to
effectively treat the acquisition as a purchase of assets. Under this election, in lieu of utilizing
these losses, the company is entitled to amortize the goodwill and other intangible assets
acquired for tax purposes over a period of 15 years.

In the allocation of purchase price, $9,420.000 was assigned to goodwill. This represents the
excess of the purchase price paid for Celequest over the fair value of the net tangible and
identifiable intangible assets acquired. Goodwill will not be amortized but will be subject to
annual impairment testing in accordance with the Corporation’s accounting policy (see Notel
“Summary of Accounting Policies”).

In accordance with SFAS 141, the total consideration paid for these acquisitions was allocated to
the assets and liabilities based upon their estimated fair value at the date of acquisition, as noted
below: ($000s)

Celequest
Corporation
Assels acquired:
Cash . $ 67
Accounts receivable, net . 215
Intangibles assets 1,996
Fixed assets 159
Deferred tax assets . 88
Other assets 79
2,604
Liabilities assumed:
Accrued charges 1,319
Deferred revenue 88
Other Current Liabilities 34
1,441
Net assets acquired : . L163 -
Goodwill 9,420
Purchase price $10,583
- Purchase price consideration ' !
Cash $10,583
$10,583

The Corporation has elected not to disclose pro-forma results of operations as they are not
material to the consolidated financial statements.
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Fiscal 2006 Acquisitions

In September 2005, the Corporation acquired Databeacon and Digital Aspects. Databeacon was a
mid-market busin:ss analytics and reporting company, based in Ottawa, Canada. The
Corporation purchased Databeacon primarily to complement its research and development
workforce in the Gttawa area. Digital Aspects was an early stage business intelligence company
based in the United Kingdom. The Corporation purchased Digital Aspects primarily to
incorporate its soft ware, which addresses the need for real time access to corporate data, into the
Corporation’s product suite.

The aggregate purchase consideration for Databeacon and Digital Aspects was approximately
$4,878,000 paid in cash and deferred consideration of $674,000, which was included in accrued
charges on the balance sheet at the date of acquisition. Included in the Databeacon share
purchase agreement was $436,000 of restricted share units granted to employees of Databeacon.
The Digital Aspects agreement stipulates that the shareholders of Digital Aspects will receive a
maximum of $750,J00 in contingent consideration over a two year period ending September 30,
2007 if certain performance thresholds are met. Both the restricted share units and the contingent
consideration are conditioned on the continued tenure of these employees and therefore will be
accounted for as ccmpensation expense as earned. Direct costs associated with these acquisitions
were approximately $537,000.

Neither the purchase of Databeacon nor Digital Aspects involved the write-off of any in-process
research and develcpment.

Of the aggregate purchase price for Databeacon and Digital Aspects, $1,238,000 was allocated to
intangible assets, subject to amortization. Of this amount, $1,192,000 was allocated to acquired
technology and $4:5,000 was allocated to contractual relationships. Neither intangible asset is
expected to have any residual value. The amortization period for both the acquired technology
and the contractual relationships is five years. The fair values of the Databeacon intangible assets
were assigned using the discounted cashflow method, which discounts the present value of the
free cashflows expected to be generated by the assets. The acquired technology associated with
the Digital Aspects acquisition was valued based on the estimated cost to develop the technology
internally. The amortization periods were determined using the estimated economic useful life of
the asset.

In the allocation of purchase price, $5,471,000 was assigned to goodwill. This represents the
excess of the aggregate purchase price paid for Databeacon and Digital Aspects over the fair
value of the net tingible and identifiable intangible assets acquired. Goodwill will not be
amortized but will be subject to annual impairment testing in accordance with the Corporation’s
accounting policy (5ee Note 1 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies™). The goodwill is
not deductible for tax purposes.
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In accordance with SFAS 141, the total consideration paid for these acquisitions was allocated to
the assets and liabilities based upon their estimated fair value at the date of acquisition, as noted
below: ($000s)

Databeacon Inc.

and
Digital Aspects
Holdings Ltd.
Assets acquired:
Cash $ 201
Accounts receivable, net 216
Intangibles assets 1,238
Deferred tax assets 422
Other assets 344
' 2,421
-Liabilities assumed:
Accrued charges 1,678
Deferred revenue 229
Deferred tax liabilities 433
2,340
Net assets acquired 8l
Goodwill 5471
Purchase price $5,552
Purchase price consideration
Cash $4,878
Deferred consideration ‘ 674
' ' $5,552

While the purchase price allocation for these acquisitions has been finalized, pre-existing
contingencies could result in a material adjustment to the acquisition cost allocation. The
purchase price allocation may also change if deferred tax assets related to loss carryforwards are
realized (See Note 10 “Income Taxes™).

The Corporation has elected not to disclose pro-forma combined results of operations as they are
not material to the consolidated financial statements.

Fiscal 2005 Acquisitions

On September 29, 2004, the Corporation completed a tender offer for the shares of Frango, a
Stockholm Sweden based company with global operations. Frango specialized in consolidation
and financial reporting solutions. The Corporation acquired Frango primarily to add Frango's
consolidation and financial reporting software to its product suite and to expand the
Corporation’s workforce and distribution channels in Europe and Asia, all part of the
Corporation’s broader strategy to lead the PM market. The aggregate purchase consideration was
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approximately $52,088,000 paid in cash. Direct costs associated with the acquisition were
approximately $1,541,000.

The in-process rese:arch and development was valued at an immaterial amount, and therefore the
purchase of Frango did not invotve the write-off of any in-process research and development.,

Of the total purchase price, $8.846,000 was allocated to intangible assets, subject to
amortization. Of tlis amount, $7,038,000 was allocated to acquired technology and $1,808,000
was allocated to contractual relationships. Neither intangible asset is expected to have any
residual value. The: amortization period for the acquired technology is five years whereas the
amortization periotl for the contractual relationships is approximately eight years: The weighted
average amortization for these intangible assets acquired is approximately six years. The fair
values of these intingible assets were assigned using the discounted cash flow method, which
discounts the present value of the free cash flows expected to be generated by the assets: The
amortization periocs were determined using the estimated economic useful life of the asset.

In the allocation of the purchase price, $51,823,000 was assigned to goodwill. This represents the
excess of the purchase price paid for Frango over the fair value of the net tangible and
identifiable intangible assets acquired.

During fiscal 200%, the Corporation also acquired Optima, a Spanish distributor of Frango
products. The acqisition of Optima will enhance the Corporation’s ability to address the
requirements of the Spanish market as well as provide support for its global customers. The
shareholders of Op:ima received approximately $2,482,000 in cash. Direct costs associated withi
the acqunsmon wer: approximately $203,000. In the allocation of the purchase price, $2,323, 000
was assigned to goodwill.

1

Goodwill will not he amortized but will be subject to annual impairment testing, in accordance’
with the Corporation’s accounting policy {See Note 1 “Summary of Significant Accaunrmg

Policies™). The gocdwill is not deductible for tax purposes.
In accordance with SFAS 141, the total consideration paid for these acquisitions was allocated to

the assets and liabilities based upon their estimated fair value at the date of acqms:tlon, as
follows: ($000s)
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Frango Optima Total
Assets acquired:
Cash $ 3,382 $ 301 $ 3,683
Accounts receivable, net 8,444 907 9,351
Prepaid expenses ' 2.210 - 2,210
Fixed assets 639 74 713
Intangible assets 8,846 - 8,846
23,521 1,282 24,803
Liabilities assumed:
Accrued charges 3,174 1,123 4,297
Deferred revenue 1,523 - 1,523
Other current liabilities 9018 - 9018
Restructuring 5,445 - 5,445
Deferred tax liabilities on intangibles 3,096 - 3,096
22,256 1,123 23,379
Net assets acquired 1,265 159 1,424
Goodwill 51,823 2,323 54,146
Purchase price $53,088 $2,482 $55.570
Cash $53,088 $2,482 $55,570

The Corporation undertook a restructuring plan in conjunction with the acquisition of Frango. In
accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) No. 95-3, Recognition of Liabilities in
Connection with a Business Combination (“EITF 95-3"), the liability associated with this
restructuring is considered a liability assumed in the purchase price allocation. This restructuring
primarily related to involuntary employee separations of approximately 20 employees of Frango
and accruals for vacating leased premises of Frango. The employee separations impacted all
functional groups, primarily in Europe. The restructuring accrual is included on the balance sheet
as accrued charges and salaries, commissions, and related items. All amounts excluding lease
payments have been paid as at February 28, 2007. Outstanding balances for the lease payments
will be paid over the lease term unless settled earlier. The Corporation does not believe that any
unresolved contingencies, purchase price allocation issues, or additional liabilities exists that
would result in a material adjustment to the acquisition cost allocation.
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($000s) Other.
Employee -restructuring
separations accruals Total
Restructuring accrual $3,103 $2,342 $5,445
Cash payments (388) (225) (613)
Foreign exchange adjustment 198 144 342
Balance as at
February 28, 2(05 $2.913 $2,261 $5,174
Adjustments (163) (471) (636)
Cash payments (2,122) (1,112) (3,234)
* Foreign exchange idjustments (349) (197 (546)
Balance as at
February 28, 2006 $ 277 $ 481 $ 758
Adjustments {(76) (173) (249)
Cash payments 227N (283) (510)
Foreign exchange i1djustments 26 43 69
Balance as at $ 0 $ 68 $ 68

February 28, 2007

The Corporation has elected not to disclose pro-forma combined results of operations as they are
not material to the consolidated financial statements.

7. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES
Fiscal 2007 Margin Improvement Plan

On September 7, 2006, in order to streamline the organization and improve its operating margin
on a long term b:sis, the Corporation announced a restructuring plan. The plan included a
reduction of 204 personnel or 6% of the Corporation’s global workforce, focused primarily on
the elimination o>f redundant management and non-revenue-generating positions. The
Corporation has ccmpleted the activities relating to the plan within the Corporation’s fiscal year
2007.

As part of this plin, and 1n accordance with FASB Statement No. 146, Accounting for Costs
Associated with Iixit or Disposal Activities, the Corporation has incurred approximately
$26,713,000 in total pre-tax charges. Substantially all of the pre-tax charges are one-time
employee terminat on benefits and are included in the income statement in cost of support, cost
of services, selling, general and administrative expenses or research and development expenses,
depending on the employee’s job function. The cash related accrual is included on the balance
sheet as salaries, commissions and related items and the effects of remeasurement of stock-based
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compensation are included in common shares and additional paid-in-capital. The Corporation
expects all payments to be made by the end of its fiscal year 2009. :

The following table sets forth the activity in the Corporation’s restructuring plan for the fiscal
year ended February 28, 2007: ($000s)

Employee Stock-based Total per

separations compensation plan
Restructuring charges in the year $26414 $299 $ 26,713
Cash payments during the year (17,666) — (17,666)
Foreign exchange adjustment (1,166) — (1,166)
Balance as at February 28, 2007 $ 7,582 $299 $ 7.881

The restructuring charge incurred in the fiscal year was as follows:

($000s) Year ended
February 28,
2007

Cost of product support $1,339
Cost of services 5.181
Selling, general and

admintstrative 15,368
Research & development 4,825
Total restructuring charge $26,713

8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Certain of the Corporation's offices, computer equipment, and vehicles are leased under various
terms. The annual aggregate lease expense in each of fiscal 2007, 2006, and 2005, was
$24,280,000, $22,017,000, and $22,363,000, respectively.

The aggregate amount of payments for these operating leases, in each of the next five fiscal years
and thereafter, is approximately as follows: ($000s)

2008 $23,142
2009 19,486
2010 15,881
2011 12,773
2012 10,185
Thereafter 8,405
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Legal proceedings

The Corporation <nd its subsidiaries may, from time to time, be involved in legal proceedings,
claims, and litigation that arise in the ordinary course of business. In the event that any such
claims or litigaticn are resolved against Cognos, such outcomes or resolutions could have a
material adverse :ffect on the business, financial condition, or results of operations of the
Corporation.

Customer Indemnification and Guarantees

The Corporation has entered into licensing agreements with customers that include limited
intellectual property indemnification clauses. These clauses are typical in the software industry
and require the Corporation to compensate the customer for certain liabilities and damages
incurred as a resul: of third party intellectual property claims arising from these transactions. The
Corporation also :ssues letters of credit for a range of global contingent and firm obligations
including insurance, custom obligations, real estate leases, and support obligations. The
Corporation has not made any significant payments as a result of these indemnification clauses or
letters of credit and, in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantors Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees. Including Indirect Guaraniees of Indebiedness of
Others, has not accrued any amounts in relation to these items.

9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Long-Term Investment

During fiscal 2005, the Corporation acquired an interest in Composite Software, Inc.
(*Composite™) for an aggregate amount of $4,611,000. This investment is accounted for using
the cost method as it is less than 20% of the outstanding shares of Composite and is included in
other assets on the balance sheet.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Corporation's policy with respect to foreign currency exposure is to manage its financial
exposure to certain foreign exchange fluctuations with the objective of neutralizing some of the
impact of foreign currency exchange movements. In line with this objective, the Corporation may
enter into foreign xchange forward contracts to hedge specific transactions and portions of the
net investment in various subsidiartes.

The Corporation enters into foreign exchange forward contracts with major Canadian chartered
banks, and therefore does not anticipate non-performance by these counterparties. The amount of
the exposure on a:count of any non-performance is restricted to the unrealized gains in such
contracts.
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Cash Flow Hedges

During fiscal 2005, the Corporation entered into cash flow hedges ‘in order to offset the risk
associated with the effects of a foreign currency exposure related to an intercompany loan, and
the corresponding interest payments, between subsidiaries with different functional currencies.
The accounting for cash flow hedges requires that derivatives be carried at fair value with the
effective portion of the derivative’s gain or loss recorded in other comprehensive income and
subsequently recognized in earnings in the same period or periods that the hedged forecasted
item affects earnings. The foreign exchange gain or loss related to the interest payments on the
intercompany loan will be taken into income in the year the interest is recognized. Since the
revaluation of the loan at each reporting date will affect income, any foreign exchange gain or
loss on the revaluation will be offset by the gain or loss on the hedge. The difference between the
spot rate and the forward rate at the inception of the hedges is inherently ineffective and
therefore will be taken into income over the life of the forward contracts and will be included
with interest and other income, net.

As of February 28, 2007, the Corporation had cash flow hedges, maturing on January 14, 2008 to
exchange the U.S. dollar equivalent of $68,228,000 in foreign currency. As of February 28,
2006, the Corporation had cash flow hedges, with maturity dates between February 28, 2007 and
January 14, 2008 to exchange the U.S. dollar equivalent of $68,602,000 in foreign currency. At
February 28, 2007, the Corporation had an unrealized loss of $4,653,000 on these hedge
contracts. At February 28, 2006, the Corporation had an unrealized gain of $2,434,000 on these
hedge contracts.

The amounts recorded to net interest and other income with respect to the cash flow hedges were
a net charge of $772,000, $640,000, and $24,000 in fiscals 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

Ner Investment Hedges

As the Corporation has seen marginal value from hedging the net investment of various
subsidiaries, it did not renew these hedges once they matured in fiscal 2005. The exchange gains
and losses recorded on translation of the subsidiaries financial statements were partially offset by
the gains and losses attributable to the applicable foreign exchange forward contract. Realized
and unrealized gains and losses from effective hedges were not included in income but were
shown in the cumulative transtation adjustment account inciuded in other comprehensive income.
Any gains or losses related to ineffective portions of hedges would have been included in
income.

During fiscal 2005, all of the Corporation’s net investment hedges were effective and, as a result,
no gains or losses from these hedges were included in income. The amount recorded to the
cumulative translation adjustment account with respect to the net invesiment hedges was a net
gain of $1,004,000 in fiscal 2005.

The Corporation did not have any net investment hedges at February 28, 2007 or February 28,
2006.
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Other Derivative Financial Instruments

The Corporation may enter into foreign exchange contracts for specific transactions that it
chooses not to designate as a hedge for accounting purposes. These forward exchange contracts
are carried at fair value with any gain or loss included in income. At February 28, 2007, the
Corporation had seven such contracts outstanding to exchange the U.S. dollar equivalent of
$26,752,000. The contracts were entered into by various Cognos entities to hedge non-functional
currency intercomany receivables and loans. At February 28, 2006, the Corporation had one
foreign exchange contract outstanding that was recorded a fair market value with any gain or loss
reported in income. The contract was to exchange the U.S. dollar equivalent of $2,720,000 and
was entered into >y the Corporation to offset the foreign exchange risk on a trade account
receivable that was not in the functional currency of one of its subsidiaries. The estimated fair
value of these hedge contracts at February 28, 2007 and 2006 was not material.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The investment of cash is regulated by the Corporation's investment policy. Any exception to the
policy is reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. The primary objective of
the Corporation's investment policy is security of principal. The Corporation manages its
investment credit risk through a combination of (i} a selection of securities with an acceptable
credit rating; (ii) selection of term to maturity, which in no event exceeds two years in length;
and (ii1) diversification of debt issuers, both individually and by industry grouping.

All the Corporation’s short-term investments as of February 28, 2007 and February 28, 2006 had
maturity dates before the end of August of their respective years. The Corporation’s cash, cash
equivalents, and short-term investments are denominated predominantly in U.S. dollars, British
pounds, euros, and Canadian dollars.

The Corporation has an unsecured credit facility, subject to annual renewal. The credit facility
permits the Corporation to borrow funds or issue letters of credit or guarantee up to an aggregate
of Cdn $27,000,000 (U.S. $20,000,000), subject to certain covenants. As of February 28, 2007
and February 28, 2106, there were no direct borrowings under the Corporation’s credit facility.

There is no concentration of credit risk related to the Corporation’s position in trade accounts
receivable. Credit risk, with respect to trade receivables, is minimized because of the
Corporation’s large: customer base and its geographical dispersion (See Note 13 “Segmented
Information™).

Fair Value of Finz.ncial Instruments

For certain of the Corporation’s financial instruments, including accounts receivable, accounts
payable, and other accrued charges, the carrying amounts approximate the fair value due to their
short maturities. Cesh and cash equivalents, and short-term investments are carried at cost, which
approximates their fair value. Foreign exchange forward contracts are recorded at their estimated
fair value.
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10. INCOME TAXES

Details of the income tax provision (recovery) are as follows: ($000s)

| 2007 2006 2005
Current
Canadian $10,939 $9,376 $18.410
Foreign 17,769 13,706 13,668
28,708 23,082 32,078
Deferred
Canadian 706 3,716 (1,650)
Foreign (2,192) 272 (3,814)
(1,486) 3,988 (5,464)
Income tax provision $27,222 $27,070 $26,614

The reported income tax provision differs from the amount computed by applying the Canadian
rate to income before income taxes. The reasons for this difference and the related tax effects are
as follows: ($000s)

2007 2006 2005

Expected Canadian tax rate 36.0% 36.0% 36.0%
Expected tax provision $ 51,450 $ 48,833 $ 53,312
Tax rate differences (19,307) (12,733) (17.568)
Net change in valuation allowance and other

income tax benefits earned* (3,196) (3,868) (6,528)
Investment tax credit {12,549) (14,169) (11,881)
Non-deductible expenses and non-taxable

income 7,534 5,767 7.031
Withholding tax on foreign income 3,277 3,255 2,202
Other 13 (15) 46
Reported income tax provision $27,222 $ 27,070 $26,614

*The operating tax loss carryforwards {net of valuation allowance) acquired on acquisitions do not affect the income statement as
amounts are allocated 10 these operating tax loss carryforwards in the purchase price allocation.
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Significant components of the Corporation’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of February 28,
2007 and February 28, 2006 are as follows: ($000s)

2007 2006
Deferred tax asset:
Net operating tax loss carryforwards $ 3,014 $ 6,386
Capital loss carryforwards 6,884 4,543
Reserves ‘ . 14,829 12,225
Stock-based conipensation 4,474 6,792
Foreign tax and other credits 1,665 2,300
Book and tax differences on assets 1,046 470
Total deferred tax assets 32,512 32,716
Valuation allowan:e for deferred tax assets (8,872) (9,580)
Net deferred tax a:sets 23,640 23,130
Deferred tax liabilities
Book and tax ditferences on assets 6,535 9,702
Reserves and all swances 30,981 24,297
Investment tax credits 3,520 3,729
Total deferred tax liabilities 41,036 37,728
Net deferred income tax liability $(17,396) $(14,598)

Net operating tax loss carryforwards and the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets for fiscal
2007 and 2006 include net operating loss carryforwards applicable to acquisitions.

The net change in the total valuation allowance for the vears ended February 28, 2007 and
February 28, 2006 was a decrease of $714,000 and an increase of $3,365,000, respectively.

Realization of the net deferred tax assets is dependent on generating sufficient taxable income in
certain legal entities. Although realization is not assured, the Corporation believes it is more
likely than not thit the net amount of the deferred tax asset will be realized. However, this
estimate could chinge in the near term as future-taxable income in these certain-legal entities
changes.

As of February 28, 2007, the Corporation had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$10,844,000 of which $3,533,000 are attributable to an acquisition during fiscal 2003 and
$1,656,000 are attributable to an acquisition during fiscal 2005. These acquisition-related net
operating loss caayforwards have a tax effected value of $1,510,000 against which the
Corporation has provided a valuation allowance of $1,165,000. If circumstances change and
usage of the net operating loss carryforwards becomes more likely than not, the tax benefit of the
carryforwards attributable to the acquisition, to which the purchase price has not been allocated,
will be accounted for as a credit to goodwill rather than as a reduction of the income tax
provision.
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The Corporation’s net operating loss carryforwards expire as follows: (3000s)

2015 - 2025 $ 4,756
Indefinitely 6,088
$10,844

Income before taxes attributable to all non-Canadian operations was $74,589,000, $64,918,000
and $65,861,000, in each of fiscal 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.

The Corporation has provided for foreign withholding taxes as required on the portion of the
undistributed earnings of non-Canadian subsidiaries expected to be remitted.

Income taxes paid were $20,467,000, $40,301,000, and $17,320,000, in each of fiscal 2007,
2006, and 2005, respectively.

11. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Capital Stock

The authorized capital of the Corporation consists of an unlimited number of common shares,
without nominal or par value.

Share Repurchase Programs

The share repurchases made in the past three fiscal years were made on The Nasdaq Giobal
Select Market and on The Toronto Stock Exchange as part of a normal course issuer bid through
The Toronto Stock Exchange. In fiscal 2007. 3,145,000 shares for an aggregate purchase price of
$125.057,000 were repurchased. In fiscal 2006, 2,582,000 shares for an aggregate purchase price
of $97,527,000 were repurchased. The Corporation repurchased 1,154,000 shares at an aggregate
price of $42,735.000 during fiscal 2005. The bid has historically been adopted in October of each
year for a period of one year. It currently allows the Corporation to purchase no more than 10%
of the issued and outstanding shares of the Corporation on the date the plan is adopted. The
October 2006 program limits the repurchases to a maximum of $200,000,000. The bid does not
commit the Corporation to make any share repurchases. Purchases can be made on The Nasdaq
Global Select Market or The Toronto Stock Exchange at prevailing open market prices and paid
out of general corporate funds. The Corporation cancels all shares repurchased under the share
repurchase program.
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The details of the thare repurchases are as follows:

2007 2006 : 2005
Shares Cost: Shares Cost - Shares Cost
. (000s) ($000s) (000s) ($000s) (000s) ($000s)
October 2003 program . - 3 - - $ - 687 $23,474
October 2004 program - - 1,581 60,935 467 19,261
October 2005 program 1,125 42,234 1,001 36.592 - -
October 2006 program 2,020 82,823 - - - -
3,145 $125,057 2,582 $97.527 1,154 $42.735

The amount paid to acquire the shares over and above the average carrying value has been
charged to retained earnings.

Stock Option Plany

As of February 28, 2007, the Corporation had stock options outstanding under three plans, in the
following amounts: 4,105,000 pertain to the 2003-2015 Stock Option Plan (“2003 Plan™);
3,956,000 pertain to the 1997-2002 Stock Option Plan (1997 Plan™); and 70,000 pertain to
stock options issued pursuant to the Adaytum 1999 Stock Option Plan (“Adaytum Plan”). The
Corporation assumed the Adaytum Plan in accordance with the terms of the merger agreement
between Adaytum and the Corporation. As of February 28, 2007, there were also 250,000 stock
options outstanding that were granted outside of these Plans as part of the hiring of the
Corporation’s new Chief Operating Officer, with the approval of the Human Resources and
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.

There were 1,760,000 shares of common stock originally reserved by the Board of Directors for
issuance under the 2003 Plan, which was approved by the Corporation’s shareholders in June
2003. In each of June 2005 and June 2004, shareholders approved an additional 1,800,000 shares
of common stock to be reserved. In October 2006, shareholders approved an additional
2,000,000 shares of common stock to be reserved. It is intended that additional shares will be
reserved under the 2003 Plan but only if approved by shareholders. Options can be granted to
officers and emplcyees at such times and under such terms as established by the 2003 Plan.
Options can be fuly exercisable on the date of grant or may be exercisable in installments.
Options will expire not later than 6 years from the date of grant or any shorter period as may be
determined. All options granted prior to April 2007 are priced at the market price of the
Corporation’s share:s on The Toronto Stock Exchange or, if that price is not available, the price
on The Nasdaq Global Select Market on the trading day preceding the date of grant. Options
under this plan were granted to officers and employees in fiscal 2004 through fiscal 2007.
Substantially ali options granted under the 2003 Plan vest equally over four years from the date
of grant.

Subsequent to year end, in April 2007, the Corporation amended its policy for pricing options
such that the closing market price on the date of grant, rather than the day preceding the day of
grant, will be used for the purpose of measurement.
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There were 14,000,000 shares of common stock originally reserved by the Board of Directors for
issuance under the 1997 Plan, which was approved by the Corporation’s shareholders in June
1997. Options were granted to directors, officers, and employees at such times and under such
terms as established by the 1997 Plan. Options may have been fully exercisable on the date of
grant or may have been exercisable in installments. Options will expire under the 1997 Plan no
later than 10 years from the date of grant or any shorter period as may be determined. All options
were priced at the market price of the Corporation’s shares on The Toronto Stock Exchange on
the trading day preceding the date of grant. Options were granted to employees, executive
officers, and directors in each of fiscal 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, and 2003. Substantially all
options vested equally in April of the next four years after the date of grant and expire in April of
the seventh year after the date of grant. The 1997 Plan expired on May I, 2002, but options
issued under the 1997 Plan remain outstanding.

Pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement between Adaytum and the Corporation which
became effective on January 10, 2003 (“Effective Date”), the Corporation agreed to assume
Adaytum options issued under the Adaytum Plan. The Corporation reserved 839,000 common
shares to meet its commitment under the plan. Option holders consisted of Adaytum employees
holding “‘out-of-the-money” vested and unvested stock options and “in-the-money™ but unvested
stock options. The number and grant price of the Adaytum options which became options to
purchase shares of the Corporation were adjusted based on the fair market value of the Adaytum
common shares on the Effective Date, and the average closing price of Cognos shares for the five
days prior to the Effective Date. The vesting schedule and expiry dates of “in-the-money” but
unvested Adaytum options were assumed in accordance with their terms, and expire not later
than 2012; the vesting schedule and expiry date of the “out-of-the-money” Adaytum options
which were assumed were reset to vest equally over four years from the Effective Date and
expire not later than 2011. No further options will be granted under the Adaytum Plan, which
expires on December 31, 2008.

The Human Resources and Compensation Comumittee of the Board of Directors approved the
issuance of 250,000 shares of common stock to be granted outside of the existing plans as an
inducement for the new Chief Operating Officer in May, 2006. Most options have a strike price
of the closing market price on the day preceding the award date, vest equally over four years
from the date of grant, and expire on the sixth anniversary of the award date.

{000s)
Outstanding

Reserved February 28, 2007
The 2003 Plan 7,360 4,105
The 1997 Plan 14,000 3,956
The Adaytum Plan 839 70
Outside of Plan 250 250
22,449 8,381
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Activity in the stock option plans for fiscal 2006 and 2005 was as follows:

2006 2005
Weighted-
average Weighted-
Number exercise Number of average
of Awards price Awards exercise price
(000s) (in$) (000s) (in §)
Qutstanding, beginning of year 11,190 $28.93 11,998 $25.89
Granted 2,032 35.54 1,899 29.80
Cancelled (710) 34.32 471 31.13
Exercised (1,257 22.36 (2,236) 19.52
Outstanding, end of year 11,255 32.60 11,190 28.93
Options exercisable at year end 6,661 5,862
Weighted average per share fair
value of option: granted during
the year $9.45 $13.22
Activity in the stock option plans for fiscal 2007 was as follows:
Weighted- Weighted-
average Aggregate average
Number exercise intrinsic remaining
of Awards price value contractual
(000s) (in §) ($000s) term (in years)
Qutstanding, March 1, 2006 11,255 $32.60 $75.347 33
Granted 647 34.67
Cancelled (565) 36.38
Exercised (2,956) 26.85
Outstanding, Fedruary 28, 2007 8,381 33.55 47,215 2.5
Exercisable, Fetruary 28, 2007 5,303 33.14 35,126 2.2 |
Unvested, February 28, 2007 3,078 34.25 12,089 3.0
Weighted average per share fair
value of options granted during
the year $12.36

The intrinsic valu: of an option represents the amount by which the market value of the stock exceeds
the exercise price of the option of in-the-money options only. The aggregate intrinsic value is based on
the closing price of $38.25 and $38.11 for the Corporation’s stock on the NASDAQ on February 28,

2006 and February 28, 2007, respectively.

Additional information with respect to stock option activity is as follows:
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Weighted-
average grant
Number of date fair

Awards value

(in 000s) (in$)
Unvested at March 1, 2006 4,594 $11.17
Granted 647 12.36
Vested (1,838) 11.81
Forfeited {(325)
Unvested at February 28, 2007 3,078 11.12

Options with a fair value of $21,706,000, $25,811,000, and $29,947,000 completed vesting
during the fiscal years ended February 28, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. The total intrinsic
value of options exercised during the fiscal years ended February 28, 2007, 2006, and 2005, was
$41,894,000, $20,984,000, and $39,556,000, respectively. The actual tax benefit realized for the
tax deductions from option exercises in certain jurisdictions and the deduction of stock-option
expense in others for the fiscal years ended February 28, 2007, 2006, and 2005 was $6,357,000,
$3,431,000 and $2,564,000 respectively.

As of February 28, 2007, there was $26,645,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related
to nonvested stock options; that cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period
of 1.6 years.

The following table summarizes significant ranges of outstanding and exercisable options held
by directors, officers, and employees as of February 28, 2007:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Range of Exercise Weighted Average Average Average
Prices Options Rermaining Life Exercise Price Options Exercise Price
(000s) (Years) (000s)
$ 544 - $2247 992 2.0 $20.37 992 $20.37
$23.07 - $30.66 1,927 32 30.18 1,456 30.18
$30.70 - $33.48 1,774 2.0 32.93 919 32.83
$33.67 - $36.94 2,062 32 35.64 436 35.65
$37.07 — $48.72 1,553 1.5 43.11 1,427 43.44
$50.17 - $56.42 73 1.5 53.08 73 53.68
8,381 235 3355 3,303 33.14
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Restricted Share Unit Plan

The Corporation also maintains a Restricted Share Unit Plan pursuvant to which employees,
officers, and direc:ors of the Corporation and its subsidiaries are eligible to participate. Subject
to performance ard/or service provisions set out in each participant’s award agreement, each
restricted share upit (“RSU”) will be exchangeable for one common share of the Corporation.
Performance targets, if applicable, are based on company-wide performance goals such as
operating margin ind revenue growth and may include indexes to competitors’ performance.
RSUs vest over a period of 1 to 4 vears.

The fair value of each RSU is determined on the date of grant based on the value of the
Corporation’s stock on that day. For RSUs granted on performance, the Corporation estimates its
achievement against the performance goals which are based on the Corporation’s business plan
approved by the Board of Directors. The estimated achievement is updated for the Corporation’s
outlook for the fis:al year as at the end of each fiscal period.. Compensation cost will only be
recognized to the extent that performance goals are achieved.

The common shares for which RSUs may be exchanged will be purchased on the open market by
a trustee appointec and funded by the Corporation. As no common shares will be issued by the

Corporation pursuznt to the plan, the plan is non-dilutive to existing shareholders.

Activity in the RSUJ plan for fiscal 2006 and 2005 was as follows:

2006 2005
Weighted- Weighted-
Restricted Average Restricted Average
Share Grant Day Share Grant Day
Units Fair Value Units Fair Value
(000s) (000s)

Outstanding, be;zinning of year 36 $33.50 29 $28.09
Granted 24 35.52 20 32.61
Vested (15) 35.42 7 2870
Forfeited (2) 32.49 (6) 28.99

Outstanding, end of year . 43 37.05 36 33.50

Activity in the RSU plan for fiscal 2007 was as follows:
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Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining
Restricted Average Contractual Aggregate
Share Grant Day Term Intrinsic
Units Fair Value (in years) Value
(000s) ($000)
Outstanding, March 1, 2006 43 $37.05 : 2.6 $1,630
Granted 739 35.50
Vested (19) 32.60
Forfeited (9 36.70
Qutstanding, February 28, 2007 . 754 35.46 3.0 $28,745

The weighted-average grant date fair value of RSUs granted during fiscal 2007, 2006, and 2005
was $35.50, $35.52, and $32.61, respectively. The fair value of the Corportation’s stock at
February 28, 2007 was $38.11. The total intrinsic value of RSUs that vested during fiscal 2007,
2006, and 2005 was $707,000, $584,000, and $173,000, respectively.

As of February 28, 2007, there was $19,303,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related
to nonvested RSUs; that cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.7
years.

The Corporation expects to purchase approximately 650,000 shares to meet RSU commitments
in the upcoming year.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Corporation sponsors the Cognos Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP™). A participant in
the ESPP authorizes the Corporation to deduct an amount per pay period that cannot exceed five
percent (5%) of annual target salary divided by the number of pay periods per year. Deductions
are accumulated during each of the Corporation’s fiscal quarters (“Purchase Period”) and, on
the first trading day following the end of any Purchase Period, these deductions are applied
toward the purchase of common shares. The purchase price per share is at a 10% discount from
the lesser of the simple average of the high and low prices of the Cognos stock on the Toronto
Stock Exchange, as defined in the plan. As the ESPP is considered a compensatory plan under
FAS 123R, the Corporation recognized $681,000, $326,000, and $468,000 of ESFP
compensation expense in fiscal years 2007, 2006, and 2003, respectively.
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Deferred Share Unit Plan for Non-employee Directors

The Corporation has established a deferred share unit plan for its non-employee directors (“DSU
Plan”). A DSU is a unit, equivalent in value to a share of the Corporation, credited by means of a
bookkeeping entry in the books of the Corporation to an account in the name of the non-
employee director DSUs represent the variable (at risk) component of the directors’
compensation. At the end of the director’s tenure, the director must redeem the DSUs and, at the
option of the Corporation, is either (i) paid the market value of the shares represented by the
DSUs, or (ii) receives the whole number equivalent of the number of DSUs in shares of the
Corporation purchased on the open market. A director is required to hold 5,000 DSUs and/or
shares which must be attained within three (3) years of the director commencing service on the
Board. At Februaiy 28, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Corporation had a liability of $5,360,000,
$3,715,000 and $2,760,000 respectively, in relation to the DSU Plan based on the value of the
Corporation’s stock at that date.

Net Income per Share

The dilutive effect of stock options is excluded under the requirements of FASB Statement No.
128, Earnings per Share, for calculating basic net income per share, but is included in the
calculation of diluted net income per share.

The reconciliation of the numerator and denominator for the calculation of net income per share
and diluted net income per share is as follows: (000s, except per share amounts)

2007 2006 2005
Net Income per Share
Net income $115,697 $108,576 $121,474
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 89,674 90,564 90,517
Net income per share $1.29 $1.20 $1.34
Diluted Net Income: per Share
Net income - $115,697 $108,576 $121474
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 89,674 90,564 90,517
Dilutive effect of «tock options* 889 2,041 2,721
Adjusted weightec average number of shares
outstanding 90,563 92,605 93,238
Diluted net income: per share $1.28 $1.17 $1.30

*  All anti-dilutive options I ave been excluded. The average number of anti-diletive options was 4,026,000, 2,070,000, and
1,632,000 for fiscal 2007 2006, and 2005, respectively.
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Impact of SAB 108

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects
of Prior Year Misstatements when quantifying Misstatements in Current Year F inancial
Statements (“SAB 108”). The Corporation adopted SAB 108 in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007,
effective March 1, 2006. Historically, the Corporation has evaluated uncorrected differences
using the “rollover” approach. While the Corporation believes its prior period assessments of
uncorrected differences utilizing the “rollover” approach and the conclusions reached regarding
its quantitative and qualitative assessments of such uncorrected differences were appropriate,
analysis of the “iron curtain” method required under SAB 108 resulted in certain accumulated
uncorrected differences related to stock-based compensation and to deferred support revenue that
if corrected would have a material impact on the current year’s results of operations. These were
corrected as a cumulative effect adjustment to the opening retained earnings balance as of March
1, 2006 in accordance with the transitional provisions of this bulletin.

Stock-based Compensation

In fiscal 2007, the Corporation conducted an internal review of the Corporation’s historical stock
option granting activities encompassing substantially all options granted from March 1, 1995 to
February 28, 2006. The review was in response to the increasing public focus on options
granting activities and not in response to any regulatory inquiry or specific concern regarding the
Corporation’s policies, plans, procedures or practices.

This review identified administrative and procedural issues, which, had they been recognized at
the time would have resulted in amounts for stock-based compensation expense that would have
been different than those actually recorded in the financial statements. These differences were
sporadic and not concentrated in any specific period. No systematic or systemic problems were
identified in the course of the review. The review also revealed no patterns of backdating or any
instances of management fraud or intentional wrongdoing,

The uncorrected difference amounted, in total, to $3,966,000 net of tax effects (approximately
$4,809,000 pre-tax) under the Fair Value method. Below is a summary of the Unrecorded
Compensation Expense (UCE) using the Fair Value Method ($000’s):

1996 to 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 Total
Unrecorded Compensation
Expense 4,079 356 131 73 170 4,809
Tax Effect (669) (119) (13) (15) 27N (843)
Expense, net of tax 3,410 237 118 58 143 3,966
Net Income* 211,764 46,005 80,666 121,474 £08,576
Percent of Net Income [.6% 0.5% 0.1% 0.0% 0.1%

*Amounts used for net income are the restated balances subsequent to the retrospective application of FAS 123R in
fiscal 2007.

While management of the Corporation considers the differences in any given year immaterial
under the rollover method for both the intrinsic and fair value methods, under the iron-curtain
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method the cumulative unrecorded compensation expense is material to the fiscal 2007 financial
statements and, therefore, the Corporation has recorded an entry to reduce the opening fiscal
2007 retained earr ings balance in the amount of $3,966,000, with a corresponding increase in
Additional Paid in Capital, in accordance with the implementation of SAB 108.

Deferred Support Revenue

In fiscal 2003, the Corporation transitioned its method of recognizing support revenue from
monthly recognition to daily recognition. Prior to March 1, 2002, the Corporation recognized
support revenue 01 a monthly straight-line basis, commencing with the month the support service
began. Effective i1 fiscal 2003, the Ccorporation changed its recognition to a daily straight-line
basis, commencin on the day the support service begins. The Corporation estimated the effect
of the adjustment to daily recognition until necessary system changes were made during fiscal
2006. The cumulative difference, calculated as the difference between the revenue that was
recorded and the estimated amount of revenue calculated under the daily method, was
approximately $5,793,000 net of tax as of February 28, 2006.

While managemert of the Corporation considers the differences are immaterial in any given year
under the rollover method and there is no quantitative impact on the consolidated statement of
income in the curient fiscal year as the necessary system changes to implement daily recognition
were completed in the previous fiscal year, under the iron-curtain method, the cumulative
adjustment to support revenue is material to the fiscal 2007 financial statements. The
Corporation has recorded an entry to reduce the opening fiscal 2007 retained earnings balance by
$5,993,000, the deferred tax liability balance by $1,663,000 and the deferred support expense
balance by $221,300 with a corresponding increase in Deferred Revenue of $7.877.000, in
accordance with the implementation of guidance in SAB 108.

The total Cunulative Effect Adjustment relating to these adjustments as a result of the adoption
of SAB 108 is: ($600's)

Retained Earnings ($9,959) : '
Deferred Tax Liatility ($1,663)

Deferred Support 1ixpenses ($ 221)

Deferred Revenue ; $7.877

Adjusted Paid in Capital $3,966

12. PENSION PLANS

The Corporation operates a Retirement Savings Plan for its Canadian employees and also
operates various cther defined contribution pension plans for its non-Canadian employees. The
Corporation contributes amounts related to the level of employee contributions for both types of
plans.

The pension cosis in fiscal 2007, 2006, and 2005 were $13,174,000, $12,573,000, and
$11,034,000, respectively.
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13. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The Corporation operates in one business segment—computer software solutions. This segment
engages in business activities from which it earns license, support, and services revenue, and
incurs expenses. Within this business segment, the Corporation develops, markets, and supports
business intelligence and PM solutions. The Corporation’s solutions help improve business
performance by enabling planned performance management, through the consistent reporting and
analysis of data derived from various sources. The Corporation’s integrated solutions consist of a
suite of business intelligence components, performance management solutions, and analytical
applications. The Corporation’s customers can strategically apply these software solutions across
the extended enterprise to address their need for PM. The solution for PM allows users to
effectively manage the full business cycle with planning, budgeting, consolidation, reporting,
analysis, and scorecarding products. Cognos products are distributed both directly and through
resellers worldwide.

Revenue is derived from the licensing of software and the provision of related services, which
include product support, education, and consulting. The Corporation generally licenses software
and provides services subject to terms and conditions consistent with industry standards. For an
annual fee, customers may contract with the Corporation for product support, which includes
product and documentation enhancements, as well as tele-support and web-support.

The Corporation operates internationally, with a substantial portion of its business conducted in
foreign currencies. Accordingly, the Corporation’s results are affected by year-over-year
exchange rate fluctuations of the United States dollar relative to the Canadian dollar, to various
European currencies, and to a lesser extent, other foreign currencies.

No single customer accounted for 10% or more of the Corporation’s revenue during any of the
last three fiscal years. In addition, the Corporation is not dependent on any single customer or
group of customers, or supplier.

The accounting policies for the segment are the same as those described in Note 1 “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies”. The required financial information for segment profit and
segment assets is the same as that presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Geographic information is as follows: {$000s)

2007 2006 2005
Revenue to external customers*

U.S.A. $498,390 $442,850 $416,065
Canada 70,910 64,989 61,698
United Kingdom 89,943 82,018 88,266
Europe 242,105 212,486 188,128
Asia/Pacific 77,916 75,157 71,374

$979,264 $877,500 $825,531

* Revenue is attributed to countries based on location of customer
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2007 2006
Fixed assets
Canada . $47,457 $51,349
U.S.A. 8.892 8,886
Other countries 15,907 15,586
$72,256 $75.821

14. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for Centain Hybrid Financial
Instruments — an Amendment to SFAS Nos. 133 and 140 (“SFAS 155”). SFAS 155 permits fair
value remeasureme:nt for any hybrid financial instrument that contains an embedded derivative
that otherwise would require bifurcation and clarifies which interest-only strips and principal-
only strips are not subject to the requirements of SFAS No. 133. This statement also establishes
a requirement to evaluate interests in securitized financial assets to identify interests that are
freestanding derivatives or that are hybrid financial instruments that contain an embedded
derivative requiring bifurcation and clarifies that concentrations of credit risk in the form of
subordination are not embedded derivatives. In addition, SFAS 155 amends SFAS No. 140 to
eliminate the prolibition on a qualifying special-purpose entity from holding a derivative
financial instrumer:t that pertains to a beneficial interest other than another derivative financial
instrument. This Statement is effective for all financial instruments acquired or issued after the
beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006. The Corporation
does not expect the adoption of SFAS 155 to have a material impact on its consolidated results of
operations and finzacial condition. '

In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 156, Accounting for Servicing of Financial
Instruments — an A-nendment of SFAS No. 140 (“SFAS 156”). This Statement amends SFAS No.,
140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of
Liabilities, with respect to the accounting for separately recognized servicing assets and servicing
liabilities. This Statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2006. The
Corporation does not expect the adoption of SFAS 156 to have a material impact on its
consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes, an interpretution of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (“FIN 48”).
This statement claiifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in financial
statements and prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement atiribute for the financial
statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken on a tax
return, among other items. This interpretation also provides guidance on de-recognition,
classification, inter:st and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition.
FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. For Cognos, FIN 48
became effective as of the beginning of fiscal year 2008. Pending further guidance from FASB,
The Corporation expects to increase liabilities and decrease retained earnings by $15 million to
$25 million due to the adoption of FIN 48 in the first quarter of fiscal year 2008.
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In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158 (“SFAS 158”), Employers’ Accounting for
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans an amendment to SFAS No's 87, 88,
106 and 132(R). SFAS 158 requires the Corporation to recognize the overfunded or underfunded
status of a defined benefit postretirement plan as an asset or a liability in its statement of
financial position and to recognize changes in that funded status in the year in which the changes
occur through other comprehensive income. SFAS 158 is effective for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2006. The Corporation has adopted SFAS 158 in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007.
The Corporation has determined that the adoption has not had a material impact on its
consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 (“SFAS 157”), Fair Value Measurements,
which defines fair value, establishes guidelines for measuring fair value and expands disclosures
regarding fair value measurements. SFAS 157 does not require any new fair value measurements
but rather eliminates inconsistencies in guidance found in various prior accounting
pronouncements. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007.
Earlier adoption is permitted. The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact of SFAS 157 on
its consolidated results of operations and financial condition. The Corporation does not expect
the adoption of SFAS 157 to have a material impact on its consolidated results of operations and
financial condition.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES .

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we have evaluated the Corporation’s disclosure
controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this annual report and as of the
filing date.

Based upon our esaluation of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period
covered by this anaual report, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer conclude
that the disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934) are effective at a reasonable assurance level as of February 28,
2007 to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our filings and submissions under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified
in the Securities axd Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and that the information required
to be disclosed is accumulated and communicated to our principal executive and principal
financial officers as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding disclosure.

Changes in interpnal controls

There have been no changes in the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during our most recently completed fiscal
quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Corporation’s inteinal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on Controls

Management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control
over financial reporting will prevent or detect all error and fraud. Any control system, no matter
how well designed and operated, is based upon certain assumptions and can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that its objectives will be met. Further, no evaluation of
controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or
that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Corporation have been detected.
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ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION

1.01 Entry into Material Definitive Agreements

On April 27, 2007 the Corporation amended and restated the employment agreements of Mr. Les
Rechan, its Chief Operating Officer, and Mr. Peter Griffiths, its Senior Vice President, Products,
to the effect that a change of control (as defined in their employment agreements) gives each
good reason to terminate their respective agreements and receive full severance benefit,
including acceleration of unvested equity rights. Their agreements are otherwise materially
unchanged. The full text of the amended and restated agreement is included as Exhibits 10.38
and 10.39, respectively of this Form 10-K.

116



PART 111

ITEM 10. DIFECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE .

1. Portions of the information required by this Item are incorporated herein by reference to the
information provided in the Corporation’s Proxy Statement pursuant to Regulation 14A to be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and Canadian Securities regulators in
connection with the solicitation of proxies for the Corporation’s Annual and Special Meeting
of Shareholder: scheduled to be held June 21, 2007 (“Proxy Statement™).

(a) Identification of Executive Officers

Information regard:ng executive officers of the Corporation is set forth under Part I of this Form
10-K. .

{b) Code of Ethics |
[
The Corporation has adopted a code of ethics that applies to all of its directors, officers
(including its chief executive officer, chief financial officer, controller and any person
performing similar functions) and employees. The Corporation’s Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics is available on the Corporation’s website at www.cognos.com.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information
provided in the Corporation’s Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MAMAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information
provided in the Corporation’s Proxy Statement.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND
DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information
provided in the Corporation’s Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information

provided under the heading “Fees Paid to the Independent Auditors” of the Corporation’s Proxy
Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following documents are filed as part of this Report, except for Exhibit 32 which is
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission herewith:

(a) 1. Financial Statements
See Index :0 Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8 of this report.
(a) 2. Financial Statement Schedule The Schedule supporting the Consolidated Financial
Statements that is filed as part of this report is as follows:
Schedule 11 Valuation and qualifying accounts
Note:  Schedules other than those listed are omitted as they are not applicable,

not required, or the information is included in the consolidated financial
statements or the notes thereto.

(a)3. Exhibits
EXHIBIT ‘

NUMBER DESCRIPTION
3.0 Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws
3.1 -—Restated Articles of Incorporation dated May 3, 2006
3.2 —Amended By-laws of the Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.3 to Form 10-K
for the year ended February 28, 2002)
4.0 Instruments defining the rights of security holders, including indentures |
4.1 —Form of Share Certificate (filed as Exhibit 4.0 to Amendment No. 2 to
Registration Statement No. 33-14245 on Form S-1 filed on July 1, 1987)
4.2 ~—Description of Common Shares contained in the Articles of Incorporation and

amendments thereto (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No. 2 to
Registration Statement No. 33-14245 on Form S-1 filed on July 1, 1987)
: continued . ....
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EXHIBIT
NUMBER

10.0
10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

DESCRIPTION (continued)

Material Contracts

—Charge/Mortgage of Land between the Company and Campeau Corporation, as
tenants in common, and London Life Insurance Company dated September 16,
1985 (filed as Exhibit 10.16 to Registration Statement No. 33-14245 on Form S-1
filed on May 13, 1987)

—Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under 1988-1993 Stock Option
Plan (Incentive and Non-Qualified) (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Registration
Statement No. 33-39892 on Form S-2 filed on April 9, 1991)

—Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under 1988-1993 Stock
Option Plan (Incentive and Non-Qualified) (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to
Registration Statement No. 33-39892 on Form S-2 filed on April 9, 1991)

—Letter Agreement between the Company and The Royal Bank of Canada, dated
July 5, 1990 (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Registration Statement No. 33-39892 on
Form S-2 filed on April 9, 1991)

—Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under 1993-1998 Stock Option
Plan (Incentive and Non-Qualified) {filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Form 10-K filed
for the year ended February 29, 2000)

—Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under 1993-1998 Stock
Option Plan (Incentive and Non-Qualified) (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Form 10-
K filed for the year ended February 29, 2000)

—Amended and Restated 1988-1993 Stock Option Plan (Incentive and Non-
Qualified) (filed as Exhibit 10.12 to Form 10-Q filed for the quarter ended
August 31, 1996)

—Amended and Restated 1993-1998 Stock Option Plan (Incentive and Non-
Qualified) (filed as Exhibit 10.13 to Form 10-Q filed for the quarter ended
August 31, 1996)

—1997-2002 Stock Option Plan (Incentive and Non-Qualified) (filed as Exhibit
4.1 to Registration Statement No. 333-8552 on Form S-8 filed on March 31,
1998)

—Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under 1997-2002 Stock Option
Plan (Incentive and Non-Qualified) (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Registration
Statement No. 333-8552 on Form S-8 filed on March 31, 1998)

—Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under 1997-2002 Stock
Option Plan (Incentive and Non-Qualified) (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to
Registration Statement No. 333-8552 on Form S-8 filed on March 31, 1998)

—2002-2005 Adaytum Inc. 1999 Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to
Registration Statement No. 333-102794 on Form S-8 filed on January 29,
2003)

—Retirement Compensation Arrangement Plan for Certain Executives (filed as
Exhibit 10.23 to Form 10-K filed for the year ended February 29, 2004)

continued.....
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EXHIBIT
NUMBER
10.14
10.15
10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19
10.20
1021
10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25
10.26
10.27
10.28
10.29
1030
1031
10.32
1033
10.34

10.35

DESCRIPTION (continued)
~—Form of Option Agreement pursuant to the Cognos Amended and Restated
2003-2016 Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.25 to Form 10-Q filed for
the quarter ended August 31, 2004)
—Employment Agreement for Robert G. Ashe dated October 25, 2004 (filed as
Exhibit 99.1 to Report on Form 8-K filed on October 29, 2004)
—Employment Agreement for Tom Manley dated October 25, 2004 (filed as
Exhibit 99.2 to Report on Form 8-K filed on October 29, 2004}
—Amended and Restated 2002-2015 Restricted Share Unit Plan (filed as
Exhibit 10.31 to Form 10-Q filed for the quarter ended August 31, 2005)
—Employment agreement for Peter Griffiths (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Report on
Form 8-K filed on November 17, 2005) |
—Employment agreement for Neal Hill (filed as Exhibit 99.2 to Report on Form
8-K filed on November 17, 2005)
—Employment agreement for John Jussup (filed as Exhibit 99.3 to Repﬁort on
Form 8-K filed on November 17, 2005)
—Employment agreement for Dave Laverty (filed as Exhibit 99.4 to Report on
Form 8-K filed on November 17, 2005)
—Employment agreement for Anthony Sirianni (filed as Exhibit 99.5 10 Report
on Form 8-K filed on November 17, 2005)
—Form of Director Indemntty Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.43 to Form 10-K
filed for the year ended February 28, 2006)
~—Form of Officer Indemnity Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.44 to Form 10-K
filed for the year ended February 28, 2006)
—Indemnity Agreement for Robert G. Ashe (filed as Exhibit 10.45 to Form 10-
K filed for the year ended February 28, 2006)
—OQOffer letter for Leslie Rechan (filed as Exhibit 10.46 to Form 8-K filed on
May 15, 2006)
—Employment Agreement for Leslie Rechan (filed as Exhibit 10.47 to Form 8-
K filed on May 15, 2006)
—FY07 Compensation Plan for Robert G. Ashe (filed as Exhibit 10.46 to Form
10-Q filed for the quarter ended May 31, 2006)
—FY07 Compensation Plan for Peter Griffiths (filed as Exhibit 10.47 to Form
10-Q filed for the quarter ended May 31, 2006)
—FY07 Compensation Plan for Neal Hill (filed as Exhibit 10.48 to Form 10-Q
filed for the quarter ended May 31, 2006)
—FY07 Compensation Plan for John Jussup (filed as Exhibit 10.49 to Form 10-
Q filed for the quarter ended May 31, 2006)
—FY07 Compensation Plan for Dave Laverty (filed as Exhibit 10.50 to Form
10-Q filed for the quarter ended May 31, 2006)
—FY07 Compensation Plan for Tom Manley (filed as Exhibit 10.51 to Form 10-
Q filed for the quarter ended May 31, 2006)
—FY07 Compensation Plan for Anthony Sirianni (filed as Exhibit 10.52 to
Form 10-Q filed for the quarter ended May 31, 2006)
—Amended and Restated 2003-2016 Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.53
to Form 10-Q filed for the quarter ended November 30, 2006)
continued. . ...
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EXHIBIT

NUMBER
10.36
10.37
10.38
10.39

21.0

23.0

31.0
311
312

320

(b)

()

DESCRIPTION (continued)
—Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.54
to Form 10-Q filed for the quarter ended November 30, 2006)
—Employment Agreement for Philippe Duranton effective April 16, 2007
—Amended Employment Agreement - Leslie Rechan effective April 27, 2007
—Amended Employment Agreement — Peter Griffiths effective April 27, 2007

Subsidiaries of the Company
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Section 302 Centificates

—Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a — 14{a) and 15d
— 14(a) of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

—~Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a — 14(a) and 15d
— 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant 1o
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

The Corporation hereby files as part of this Form 10-K, the exhibits listed in Ttem 15(a)3,
as set forth above.

The Corporation hereby files as part of this Form 10-K, the schedules listed in ltem
15(a)3, as set forth above.
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SIGNATURES .

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized.

COGNOS INCORPORATED
(Registrant)

/s/ Tom Manley April 26, 2007

Tom Manl:y

Senior Vice President, Finance & Administration and
Chief Financial Officer |
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY AND SIGNATURES

We, the undersigned directors and officers of Cognos Incorporated, hereby severally constitl;:te
and appoint Robe:t G. Ashe and Tom Manley, and each of them singly, our true and lawful
attorneys, with full power to them, and each of them singly, to sign for us in our names in the
capacities below, all amendments to this report, and generally to do all things in our names and
on our behalf in such capacities to enable Cognos Incorporated to comply with the provisions of
the Securities Ex:hange Act of 1934, as amended, and all requirements of the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Pursuant to the recuirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date

indicated.

/s/ Robert G. Ashe April 26, 2007

Robert G. Ashe ~ President and Chief Executive Officer, and Director

/s/ Tom Manley

Tom Manlzy Senior Vice President, Finance & Administration April 26, 2007
and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer and Chief Accounting Officer)

/s/ Renato Zambonini April 26, 2007
Renato Zambonini Chairman of the Board
/s/ James M. Tory - April 26, 2007
James M. Tory, Q.C. Lead Director
/s/ John E. Caldwell April 26, 2007
John E. Caldwell Director
/s/ Paul D. Damp April 26, 2007
Paul D. Damp Director
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/s/ Pierre Y. Ducros

Pierre Y. Ducros

/s/ Robert W. Korthals

Robert W. Korthals

/s/ Janet Perna

Janet Perna

/s/ John Rando

John Rando

/s/ Bill Russell

Bilt Russell

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Schedule 11
COGNOS INCORPORATED

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(US$000s, U.S. GAAP)

Balance, Additions Balance,
beginning charged X end
of period to income Deductions of period
! Allowance for Doubtful Accounts™® :
Fiscal Year Ended - ' !
February 28, 2005..........covevieiiceiiicne : $9.545 $(1,068) $ 320 $8,797
February 28, 20006...........cccccvmnnins $8,797 $ 2412 $(3.644) $7,565
February 28, 2007........ccccoo i $7.565 $(343) $(1,636) $5,586
Allowance for Ir-wentory Obsolescence
Fiscal Year Ended
February 28, 2005.......c..ccconecieieens $211 $168 $(201) §178
February 28, 2006..........ccccocoevvviinns $178 $119 $(108) - $189
February 28, 2007.......cccocivieornnns $189 $177 $(144) $222
Deferred Tax Valuation Allowance ©
Fiscal Year Ended
February 28, 2005.........ccoo i $9,209 $1,637 $(4.625) $6,221
February 28, 2006...........cooeoiviinnes $6,221 $4,675 $(1.310) $9.586
February 28, 2007.........ccoooiiinie $9,586 $2,341 $(3,055) $8.872

(1) In fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2007, our bad debt expense was in a credit position as our
allowance for bad debt decreased due to our improved collection experience.

(2) Deduction:; for the allowance for doubtful accounts represent amounts written off against
the reserve, net of recoveries. In fiscal 2005, the allowance for bad debt increased due to
additional provisions as a result of the acquisition of Frango AB.

{3) Deduction: related to the deferred tax valuation allowance represent the tax benefit from
net operating loss carryforwards as their utilization became more likely than not. The tax
benefit related to net loss carryforwards related to acquisitions, for which the purchase
price has 1ot been allocated, is accounted for as a credit to goodwill rather than as a
reduction of the income tax provision.
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EXHIBIT
NUMBER
21.0
230
31.0
311
31.2
I
320

INDEX OF SELECTED EXHIBITS
DESCRIPTION
Subsidiaries of the Company
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Section 302 Certificates
—Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a — 14(a)
and 15d — 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
—Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a — 14(a)
and 15d — 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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COGNOS INCORPORATED

SUBSIDIARIES

Cognos AB

Cognos A/S

Cognos Austria GrabH
Cognos (Barbados) Limited
Cognos B.V.

Cognos Corporaticn

Cognos do Brasil Lida.
Cognos Espafia SA

Cognos Europe Linited
Cognos France S.2..S.

Cognos GmbH

Cognos Holdings Iac

Cognos Hong Kon:z Ltd.
Cognos Hungary Asset Management LLC (Kft.)
Cognos Ireland

Cognos K.K.

Cognos Korea Co. Lid.
Cognos Limited

Cognos Norway Al

Cognos N.VJ/S.A.

Cognos OY

Cognos Pte. Ltd.

Cognos Pty Limited

Cognos Sdn. Bhd.

Cognos Services BV

Cognos Software Private Ltd.
Cognos Software Trading (Beijing) Ltd.
Cognos South Africa (PTY) Ltd
Cognos S.p.A.

Cognos (Switzerland) Ltd
Cognos Taiwan Linited
Cognos Technical Services AB
Cognos (UK) Limited
Adaytum KPS Limited
Adaytum Limited

Digital Aspects Ho dings Ltd
Digital Aspects Ltd

Frango (Asia Pacific) Pte Lid
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JURISDICTION OF
INCORPORATION

Sweden
Denmark
Austria
Barbados

The Netherlands
Delaware, USA
Brazil

Spain

United Kingdom
France

Germany

British Columbia, Canada

Hong Kong
Hungary

Ireland

Japan

Korea

United Kingdom
Norway
Belgium
Finland
Singapore
Australia
Malaysia

The Netherlands
India

China

South Africa
Italy
Switzerland
Taiwan

Sweden

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Singapore

Continued. ..




JURISDICTION OF

SUBSIDIARIES (continued) INCORPORATION
Frango Nordic AB Sweden

Frango UK Limited United Kingdom
Gr8 Software Ltd United Kingdom
NoticeCast Software Limited United Kingdom
Pillar Software Europe BV The Netherlands
Right Information Systems Limited United Kingdom
Softa Group Limited United Kingdom
Softa (Consulting) Limited United Kingdom
Softa (Software) Limited United Kingdom
3098000 Nova Scotia' Company Nova Scotia, Canada

All subsidiaries are wholly-owned by Cognos Incorporated, except:
a) Cognos Technical Services AB which ts wholly-owned by Cognos AB;
b) Cognos B.V. which is wholly-owned by Cognos Ireland;
¢) Cognos Corporation which is whoily-owned by Cognos Holdings Inc.;
d) Cognos Limited which is wholly-owned by Cognos Europe Limited.;
e) Cognos Software Trading (Beijing) Ltd. which is wholly-owned by Cognos (Barbados)
Ltd.;
f) Cognos Software Private Ltd. which is wholly-owned by Cognos Pte. Ltd.;
g) Frango UK Ltd which is wholly-owned by Pillar Software Europe BV;

h) Cognos France S.A.S., Cognos N.V./S.A., Cognos Austria GmbH, Cognos S.p.A.,
Cognos (Switzerland) Ltd, Cognos Espaiia SA, Cognos Taiwan Ltd, Cognos Services
BV, Cognos Korea Co. Ltd, and Cognos OY which are wholly-owned by Cognos B.V.;

i) Adaytum Limited which is wholty-owned by Cognos Corporation;

i) Digital Aspects Holdings Ltd, (which wholly-owns Digital Aspects Ltd and Gr8
Software Ltd),‘and Softa Group Ltd, (which wholly-owns Softa (Software) Ltd and Softa
(Consulting) Ltd), as well as Cognos (UK) Ltd and Adaytum KPS Lid, are wholly-owned
by Cognos Limited; and

k) Pillar Software Europe BV, Cognos Norway AS, Cognos Sdn. Bhd., Cognos A/S, and
Frango Nordic AB are wholly-owned by Cognos Technical Services AB.
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Exhibit 23

We consent to the use in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Cognos Incorporated for the year
ended February 2§, 2007 of our reports dated March 28, 2007 with respect to the consolidated
financial statements and financial statement schedule of Cognos Incorporated, Cognos
Incorporated manzgement’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financjal
reporting and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Cognos
Incorporated.
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
(n Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-39562) pertaining to the 1988-1993 Stock
Option Plan;
(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-72402) pertaining to the 1993-1998
Cogno; Employee Stock Purchase Plan;
3 Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-72404) pertaining to the 1993-1998 Stock
Option Plan;
(4 Registiation Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-8552) periaining to the 1997-2002 Stock
Option Plan; ‘ - .
(5) Registiation Statement (Form §-8 No. 333-102793) pertaining to the 2002-20035
Restricted Share Unit Plan;
(6) Regisuation Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-102794) pertaining to the Adaytum, Inc.
1999 Stock Option Plan;
D Registiation Statements (Forms S-8 Nos. 333-107965, 333-117981 and 333-128886)
pertaining to the 2003-2008 Stock Option Plan;
(8) Registiation Statement (Form F-10 No. 333-90870);
)] Registiation Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-138385) pertaining to the 2003-2016
Stock Option Plan;
(10)  Registration Statement (Form $-8 No. 333-138383) pertaining to the 2002-2015
Restricted Share Unit Plan; and
(I1)  Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-137535) pertaining to the Stock Option

of our reports dated March 28, 2007, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and
financial statemen: schedule of Cognos Incorporated, Cognos Incorporated management's
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financiat reporting and the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting of Cognos Incorporated which are included in this
Annual Report (Foim 10-K) of Cognos Incorporated.

Ottawa, Canada /s/ Ernst & Young LLP
April 27, 2007 Chartered Accountants

Agreement with the Cognos Incorporated Chief Operating Officer.

Licensed Public Accountants
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Robert G. Ashe, President and Chief Executive Officer certify that:

1. 1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cognos Incorporated;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disciosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

April 27, 2007 /s/ Robert G. Ashe

Date Robert G. Ashe,
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Tom Manley, Senior Vice President, Finance & Administration and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financiz] Officer and Chief Accounting Officer) certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cognos Incorporated;

2. Based on.my kr owledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances

" under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my kiowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure contiols and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)){or the registrant and have:

a) Designed su:h disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures 1) be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b} Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control |over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurgance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
extemnal purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated tre effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures| and
presented in-this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
+ procedures, .5 of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting
that occurrec¢ during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to matenally affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reportmg, ani

5, The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
* of internal contiol over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant's toard of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

[}

a) All significat deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intérnal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant rcle in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

April 27, 2007 /s/ Tom Manley

Date Tom Manley,
Senior Vice President, Finance & Administration
and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Cognos Incorporated (the "Company”) on Form 10-K for the
period ended February 28, 2007 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the "Report"), we, Robert G. Ashe, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Tom
Manley, Senior Vice President, Finance & Administration and Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that to our knowledge:

(1) The Report fully compjies with the requfrcments of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

April 27, 2007 /s{ Robert G. Ashe

Date Robert G. Ashe,
President and Chief Executive Officer

April 27, 2007 ‘ /s/ Tom Manley

Date Tom Manley,
Senior Vice President, Finance &
Administration and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Chief Accounting
Officer)

This certification is being submitted solely for the purpose of complying with Section 1350 of Chapter 63
of Title 18 of the United States Code. This certification is not to be deemed “filed” for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor
will the certification be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of
1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent that the registrant specifically
incorporates it by reference.
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Directors and Corporate Officers

Board of Directors
Renato Zambonini
Board Chair,

Cognos Incorporated

Robert G. Ashe

President and Chief Executive
Officer,

Cognos Incorporated

John E. Caldwell 2

President and Chief Executive
Officer,

SMTC Corporation

Paul D. Damp ?
Managing Partner,
Kestrel Capital Parctners

Pierre Y. Ducros
President,
P. Ducros & Associates Inc.

Robert W. Korthals '+
Corporate Director

Janet R. Perna 2
(Corporate Director

John Rando #
Corporate Director

13ill Russell 2
orporate Director

“ames M. Tory, Q.C."°

..ead Director,

Zognos Incorporated,

1Zhair Emeritus and Corporarte
Zounsel,

‘Torys LLP

! Member of the Corporate Governance and Nomin wting Committee

Menber of the Audit Committee

" Member of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee

Executive Officers

Robert G. Ashe
President and

Chief Executive Officer

Philippe Duranton
Senior Vice President,
Human Resources

Peter Griffiths
Senior Vice President, Products

W. John Jussup

Senior Vice President,
Chief Legal Officer and
Corporate Secretary

David Laverty

Senior Vice President,
Global Marketing and Chief
Marketing Officer

Tom Manley

Senior Vice President,
Finance and Administration
and Chief Financial Officer

Les Rechan
Chief Operating Officer

Other Corporate Officers
Diana Cianciusi
Assistant Corporate Secretary
and Senior Counsel,
Corporare Operations

S. Grant Gardiner
Assistant Corporlate Secretary
and Senior Corporate Counsel

Frank Paveck
Vice President,
Corporate Controller




Cognos 1s the world leader in business
intelligence (BI) and performance management
solutions. We provide world-class enterprise Bl,
planning and consolidation software and
services to help companies plan, understand and
manage financial and operational performance.
Cognos brings together technology, analytical
applications, best practices, and a broad
network of partners to give our customers a
complete performance solution. We provide an
open and adaptive solution that leverages an
organization’s ERP, packaged applications, and

database investments.

Cognos serves more than 23,000 customers in
more than 135 countries. Our solutions and
services are also available from more than 3,000
worldwide partners and resellers.

Copies of Cognos’ Annual Report on Form 10-K
{(including its exhibits) and Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q, made with the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and
with Canadian Securities Administrators, may
be accessed as soon as reasonably practicable
after filing with the SEC from our Web site at
www.cognos.com. This information can also be
retrieved the
Corporation’s public filings on EDGAR in the
United States at www.sec.gov, and on SEDAR in

electronically by accessing

Canada at www.sedarcom. All documents
required to be filed in the United States or in
Canada are also available withour charge by
contacting Cognos Corporate Relations at 3755
Riverside Drive, P.O. Box 9707, STN. T,

Orttawa, Onrario, Canada K1G 4K9.

Shareholder contact information:
Computershare Investor Services Inc.
100 University Avenue, 2th Floor
Toronto, ON M35] 2Y1

Ph: 800-564-6253

e-mail: service@computershare.com

WWW.COgGNO0S.Com
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Lopnos, the Cognos logo, and ReportNet are trademarks< anddor registered rradenyirks
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